Influenza vaccinology and clinical assessment

In support of submission for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D.)

Dr Patrick John Lillie

June 2014

Table of Contents

Page

1.	Acknowledgements				
2.	Abstract4				
3.	List of abbreviations				
4.	List of papers, together with contributions to published works forming thesis7				
5.	. Commentary9				
5	.1	Overview of morbidity and mortality due to influenza infection	.9		
	5.1. pan	2 Mortality and morbidity prior to the emergence of the 2009 H1N1 demic	.9		
	5.1.3. Mortality and morbidity since the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic11				
5	.2	Immunity to influenza	13		
	5.2.	1 Humoral and mucosal immunity	L3		
	5.2.	2 Vaccine induced immunity and its clinical efficacy	14		
	5.2.	3 Cellular and heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A	16		
5	.3	Viral vectored vaccines to stimulate cellular immunity	۱9		
5	.4	Human challenge studies of influenza infection	23		
5	.5	Clinical assessment of influenza illness	24		
	5.5.	1. Severity assessment of influenza infection	24		
	5.5.	2 Distinguishing influenza and malaria clinically	28		
6.	Futu	ure areas of study	30		
7.	Bibl	iography	32		
8.	Pub	lished papers	50		
8.1 Paper 1 - Potent CD8 ⁺ T-Cell Immunogenicity in Humans of a Novel Heterosubtypic Influenza A Vaccine, MVA-NP+M150					
8.2 Paper 2 - A T Cell Inducing Influenza Vaccine for the Elderly: Safety and Immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in Adults Aged over 50 Years					
8 V	.3 ′accin	Paper 3 - Preliminary Assessment of the Efficacy of a T-Cell-Based Influenza e, MVA-NP+M1 in Humans	35		
8 Iı	8.4 Paper 4 - Examination of Influenza Specific T- Cell Responses after Influenza Virus Challenge in Individuals Vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1Vaccine 107				
8	.5	Paper 5 - Severity Assessment of Influenza Virus Infection in Secondary Care 122	!		

8.6 Paper 6 - Distinguishing Malaria and Influenza: Early Clinical Features in			
Controlled Human Experimental Infection Studies128			
Appendix 1 – Journal Permissions140			
Appendix 2 – Co-Author permissions156			

1. Acknowledgements

Professor David Dockrell, for his support and encouragement that a PhD by publication could be done while doing another job, and the occasional nudge when I needed it.

In Oxford, Professors Sarah Gilbert and Adrian Hill for supervising my work there, and allowing me to use that work to form the bulk of this thesis. Also in Oxford, the other clinical research fellows, Christopher Duncan, Susanne Sheehy, Joel Meyer and Ros Rowland, as well as the flu administration team of Katherine Gantlett and Laura Dinsmore, for making the job such an enjoyable and productive year. In the lab at the Jenner Institute, Tara Berthoud deserves particular thanks for attempting to show me how to do immunological experiments, and having patience when I kept getting them wrong.

In Sheffield, Anne Tunbridge for supervising and advising during the clinical influenza work, and my infectious diseases' registrar colleagues, in particular Rohit Bazaz for help with the clinical study, and the use of his parents' house for writing up.

Finally, and most importantly Eleanor and Thomas for the support they have given while I have been writing up and been away from home and busy in the evenings.

2. Abstract

Influenza virus infection is a global health problem, causing both seasonal epidemics and episodic pandemics of influenza A which are associated with significant mortality and morbidity. The development of influenza vaccines stimulating protection against both antigenically drifted seasonal virus as well as new pandemic antigenically shifted virus would be a major advance. A vaccine that stimulates cellular immunity to conserved viral antigens is a potential area of interest, and could generate heterosubtypic immunity. I have been the lead clinician for both phase I and II studies of thenovel viral vectored vaccine MVA-NP+M1 (modified vaccinia virus Ankarra, expressing nucleoprotein and matrix protein 1), designed to induce cellular immunity to influenza A virus. In this role I have been involved in the design, ethical and regulatory approval of phase I studies of safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1, as well as recruiting and vaccinating volunteers. The phase I studies showed that the vaccine was safe and immunogenic in both young and elderly volunteers. In addition to my clinical role in the phase I studies, I performed laboratory based immunological assays of immunogenicity (ELISPOT testing) in both phase I and II studies. For the phase II study, I lead the safety challenge study as well as collecting, analysing and writing up the data from the quarantine challenge study. This phase II study showed that MVA-NP+M1 is partially protective against influenza challenge in healthy volunteers, that the challenge model to assess protection is safe and that further challenge studies are warranted. I have also initiated two separate clinical studies on influenza, one comparing early clinical features of influenza with those of malaria, both from volunteer challenge studies, while the other study was of the clinical assessment of severity of influenza during a busy winter influenza season, with particular reference to those patients requiring critical care. For both studies I conceived the idea, organised the data collection and analysed the data. These data are of use in pandemic settings in allowing the assessment of patients with influenza and in determining the appropriate setting for their care.

3. List of abbreviations

AIDS	Acquired Immunodeficiency Syndrome
AMA 1	Apical membrane antigen 1
BCG	Bacille Calmette-Guerin
САР	Community acquired pneumonia
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CI	Confidence interval
COPD	Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
CRP	C-reactive protein
CSP	Circumsporozoite protein
CURB-65	Confusion, Urea, Respiratory rate, Blood pressure, age over 65
CXR	Chest X-Ray
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
ELISPOT	Enzyme linked immunospot
FP	Fowl Pox
HA	Haemagglutinin
н	Haemagglutinin inhibition
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
HLA	Human leucocyte antigen
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interlukin
ILI	Influenza like illness
ITU	Intensive therapy unit
LAIV	Live attenuated influenza vaccine
M1	Matrix protein 1
ME-TRAP	Multi epitope thrombospondin related adhesion protein
MEWS	Modified early warning score
MSP 1	Merozoite surface protein 1
MVA	Modified vaccinia virus Ankara
NA	Neuraminidase
NHS	National Health Service
NNT	Number needed to treat

NP	Nucleoprotein
NPV	Negative predictive value
PB 1 / 2	Polymerase basic protein 1 / 2
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PPV	Positive predictive value
PSI	Pneumonia severity index
SFU	Spot forming unit
ТВ	Tuberculosis
TIV	Trivalent inactivated vaccine
UK	United Kingdom
USA	United States of America

4. List of papers, together with contributions to published works forming thesis

Berthoud TK, Hamill M, Lillie PJ, Hwenda L, Collins KA, Ewer KJ, et al. Potent CD8+
 T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA NP+M1. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases
 Society of America. 2011;52(1):1-7.

For this paper, I performed clinical follow up of vaccinated volunteers, data collection of adverse events and collection of specimens for immunological analysis. I analysed the safety data and wrote the methods section on volunteer recruitment, follow up and adverse events.

2. Antrobus RD, Lillie PJ, Berthoud TK, Spencer AJ, McLaren JE, Ladell K, et al. A T-cellinducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e48322. Joint first authorship.

For this paper I designed the study (in conjunction with Professor Gilbert) and prepared and submitted the ethical and regulatory approvals. I recruited, screened and vaccinated volunteers, as well as following up volunteers for adverse events and collecting specimens for immunological analysis, to which I also contributed in the laboratory. I was involved in writing the sections of the paper regarding volunteer selection and adverse event analysis.

3. **Lillie PJ**, Berthoud TK, Powell TJ, Lambe T, Mullarkey C, Spencer AJ, et al. Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2012;55(1):19-25.

For this paper I performed recruitment and follow up of volunteers, and was responsible for the administration and running of the influenza challenge in the pilot study. I was involved in running the quarantine challenge and collection of all specimens for immunological and virological analysis, together with clinical assessment of volunteers and collection of clinical data. I assisted in ELISPOT testing in the laboratory, and analysed safety, immunological and clinical data. I was involved in writing the paper, in particular the sections on adverse events and clinical outcomes of the challenge study.

4. Powell TJ, Peng Y, Berthoud TK, Blais ME, Lillie PJ, Hill AV, et al. Examination of influenza specific T-cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. PloS one. 2013;8(5):e62778.

For this paper I collected specimens, assisted in ELISPOT testing, analysed clinical and immunological data and assisted in drafting the paper.

5. **Lillie PJ**, Bazaz R, Dexter L, Biju C, Peart L, Lewis L, et al. Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. The Journal of infection. 2012;64(2):239-41.

For this paper I had the idea for the study, collected the data, provided direct clinical care or clinical advice to the patients, analysed the data, devised the assessment protocol and wrote the paper.

6. **Lillie PJ**, Duncan CJ, Sheehy SH, Meyer J, O'Hara GA, Gilbert SC, et al. Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. Travel medicine and infectious disease. 2012;10(4):192-6. Joint first authorship.

For this paper I conceived the idea and collected the data from the influenza section of the paper as described in paper 3. I analysed the clinical data and jointly wrote the paper.

5. Commentary

5.1 Overview of morbidity and mortality due to influenza infection

5.1.2 Mortality and morbidity prior to the emergence of the 2009 H1N1 pandemic

Influenza A virus was discovered in the early 1930s in the aftermath of the first influenza pandemic of the twentieth century (1). Influenza disease had been known for many years prior to the discovery of the causative virus and the mortality and morbidity has been well established over time. Whilst attention is drawn to the effect of pandemic influenza, such as the 1919 Spanish flu in which an estimated 40 - 50 million deaths occurred (2), the year on year mortality and morbidity associated with seasonal and local epidemic influenza infection is a substantial burden on health care systems. A retrospective cohort study from the USA showed that in a non-epidemic influenza season (1970-1971) the rates of pneumonia and influenza related death and hospitalization were 6 / 100,000 and 58 / 100,000 respectively (3). In the epidemic years studied, the rates of hospitalizations, influenza and pneumonia mortality as well as all-cause mortality were significantly higher, with 11-13 excess deaths / 100,000 population, with a 140% increase in the hospitalisation rate, and an increase in the case fatality rate from 9.5% to 12-13%. This pattern of excess deaths occurring in influenza seasons has been shown in other studies. A retrospective mathematical modelling study of excess deaths attributable to influenza in England and Wales, between the 1999/2000 and the 2009/2010, showed up that in seasons of low activity there were just over 7000 influenza related deaths, whilst in the 1999/2000 influenza season (a period of high activity) there were just under 25,000 deaths related to influenza infection (4). A modelling study using data from the USA, on influenza seasons from 1972 – 1992, showed that on average there were an excess of 21,300 deaths per season (5).

In addition to the excess mortality, influenza leads to increased healthcare utilization and economic loss through time of work and reduced productivity. In a cohort study in Michigan, depending on age and the prevalent circulating influenza strain, between 110 –

1023 bed or restricted activity days / 1000 people / year occurred (6). In a UK study of a single company, there was a mean of 2.8 days away from work due to an influenza like illness (ILI) (7), with reduced productivity noted for those who continued to work despite being symptomatic from their ILI, despite high levels of use of medications for symptomatic relief. An estimate of the economic cost of influenza infections in the USA is that direct medical costs of seasonal influenza were \$10.4 billion, with total economic costs being \$87.1 billion (8). At the more severe end of the spectrum, hospitalization is also seen to increase due to influenza infection. A study from the Netherlands showed that during the influenza seasons of 1996 – 2000, hospitalizations for respiratory complications , cardiovascular disease and pneumonia and influenza were significantly increased, and that this was more marked in the elderly and those with co-morbidity (9). In the study by Molinari, over 330,000 patients were hospitalized, for 3.1 million days (8).

Whilst influenza infection can affect people of any age, the burden of severe disease is carried predominately by the elderly, the very young and those with co-morbid conditions. A three year survey of respiratory hospitalizations in Houston, showed that both during epidemic and non-epidemic influenza seasons, children under four years old and adults over 65 accounted for the majority of hospital admissions due to influenza related respiratory disease (10). In terms of mortality, older adults account for the greatest proportion of influenza related deaths, with a modelling study of mortality across the USA related to influenza between 1972 and 1985, estimating that influenza associated pneumonia mortality was up to 104 times higher in those over 64 years old, compared to the younger age group (11). Using national surveillance data in the United States, one study has shown that the mortality associated with influenza infection was mostly in those aged over 65, and was in large part due to death from cardio-respiratory disease as opposed to influenza and pneumonia (12). In a study of nursing home residents, both those with and without co-morbid conditions had high rates of antibiotic use for respiratory disease, hospitalization and death, with 3.4 – 3.8% of deaths attributable to influenza (13). A cohort study from Tennessee of patients with chronic lung conditions, showed that in both young children and adults over 65 years old, hospitalizations were significantly increased with influenza infection, with influenza accounting for up to 3% of all deaths in this group (14). The same group have also looked at the association between invasive pneumococcal disease (which affects the elderly and those with chronic lung conditions to a greater extent) and influenza infection (15). This study showed that the peak of pneumococcal disease was associated with both current influenza infection and

prior influenza infection, with the peak of influenza associated pneumococcal infection occurring up to four weeks post influenza infection. The effect on elderly patients is not limited to mortality or hospital admission. One study showed that frail elderly patients in residential care homes where there were outbreaks of influenza, had significant impairment of functional status up to four months post infection (16).

In addition to the elderly, those with certain co-morbid conditions are at higher risk of mortality and morbidity associated with influenza. Chronic respiratory conditions, such as chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and asthma have been shown to be associated with higher rates of hospital admission, especially in low income groups (17). In addition to those with chronic respiratory disease, other co-morbid conditions can be exacerbated by influenza infection (9). This finding was substantiated by a study that showed influenza vaccination reduced the rates of hospital admission for cardiac disease, stroke, pneumonia or influenza, as well as all-cause mortality in two consecutive influenza seasons, in elderly patients (18). Other at risk groups, who tend to have a younger age profile than those commonly thought to be at risk, that have been shown to have poorer outcomes following influenza infection include those with HIV infection and pneumonia (19), and pregnant women (20).

5.1.3. Mortality and morbidity since the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic

The first influenza pandemic of the 21st century began in North America in 2009 (21, 22). An increase in influenza cases, together with a marked change in the age distribution of severe cases, with a striking increase in young adults suffering from severe disease was noted. A swine origin influenza A virus was found to be the causative virus, and studies using sera of a variety of age groups found that those born before 1920 had higher levels of neutralising antibody, suggesting that the swine origin 2009 H1N1 virus was antigenically similar to the 1918 H1N1 virus (23). The spread of the virus, together with the shift in those affected signalled the arrival of the pandemic. During the first wave of cases in early 2009, the demographic characteristics of severe cases continued to show that children and young adults, including pregnant women, were prominently represented compared to severe cases of seasonal influenza infection(24). In the UK, the initial wave of cases again showed a predilection for younger age groups, but with no mortality noted in the first reported cases (25). Whilst the first wave in the UK may have had little impact with regard to mortality, the first major influenza season, in the southern hemisphere, after the pandemic was declared, had a major impact on health care services and a noticeable mortality (26). The critical care services in Australia and New Zealand noted several features that were to become common in the subsequent waves of the pandemic, notably the effect of obesity on outcome, the young age of severe cases and the effect of pregnancy on the course of infection (26, 27). During the first waves of influenza infection after the emergence of pandemic H1N1, the majority of illness and infection was related to the pandemic strain, with a cross sectional serological study in UK estimating that up to 42% of children under 15 years of age may have been infected during the initial period of the pandemic (28). In subsequent influenza seasons, whilst pandemic H1N1 continued to be a major circulating strain, influenza B virus co-circulated widely (29) and was responsible for severe illness (30). In addition to influenza B virus, one group showed three separate influenza A virus co-circulated, and that of the three circulating influenza A viruses (pandemic H1N1, H3N2 and seasonal H1N1), there is little difference in clinical presentation (31). Moreover a group from Hong Kong showed that pre-pandemic strains, including influenza B, all caused severe illness and mortality (32).

The first full influenza season in the UK after the pandemic in 2010/2011, was a period of high influenza activity, both of pandemic H1N1 and influenza B (29). Whilst the first wave of pandemic cases were restricted to certain geographical areas (London and the West Midlands in particular) during the 2010/2011 season the whole of the country experienced high levels of influenza activity, with critical care admissions for influenza related illness being fourfold higher than the preceding season (29). The majority of the severe cases continued to be in young adults, as was the majority of reported mortality directly from influenza. A study from the Netherlands, comparing the impact of seasonal and pandemic influenza, found that due to the lower rates of illness in the elderly with pandemic influenza, observed total mortality compared to seasonal infection (33). Even allowing for the likely lower mortality in older patients, a modelling study using attack and mortality rates from 12 different countries estimated that there had been 201,200 respiratory deaths in the first 12 months of pandemic H1N1 transmission, with another 83,300 cardiovascular deaths also attributable to the pandemic (34).

5.2 Immunity to influenza

5.2.1 Humoral and mucosal immunity

Given the extent of the morbidity and mortality associated with both seasonal and pandemic influenza infection, protection from influenza infection (and potentially a reduction in severity in those who are infected) is an area of great interest. Early studies of vaccination with inactivated virus showed that induction of antibodies could be protective, but that this protection was not cross specific between influenza A and B (35, 36). A later study found that the specificity of anti-influenza antibodies was critical to protection (37), and that this may be the reason for the lack of cross protection after infection or vaccination with one specific sub type. The two surface glycoproteins of influenza viruses, haemagglutinin and neuraminidase, both generate an antibody response. The response to the haemagglutinin, measured by haemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay, is considered to be the major protective response against influenza infection. In a human volunteer challenge study, the levels of HI antibody were correlated with protection from infection (38), with the protective dose for 50% (PD50) being a titre between 1:18-1:36. This study, together with others that showed similar results (39), have guided the use of HI titres to determine influenza vaccine efficacy (40), with a titre of 1:40 being labelled as seroprotective. A mismatch between vaccine strains and the circulating influenza viruses can lead to a poor serological response (41), particularly in the elderly and may be related to reduced clinical efficacy. Of note is an experimental study that showed CD4 T-cells could help antibody production against haemagglutinin, even when the T-cell was specific for a different internal influenza antigen (matrix protein) (42). A recent study using a microneutralisation assay to study cross reactive haemagglutinin antibodies to the 2009 pandemic H1N1 virus (43), showed that in children, recent vaccination with seasonal influenza vaccine (either live attenuated or inactivated) did not increase antibody to pandemic H1N1. In young adults in the year before the pandemic, only 6% before and 7% after seasonal influenza vaccination, had protective antibody titres against pandemic H1N1 (43). Interestingly, older adults had higher levels of cross protective antibody, as did those who were vaccinated with the monovalent swine flu vaccine in 1976 (43).

Whilst the levels of HI antibody are important in preventing infection, other serological responses may play a part in either preventing or ameliorating the clinical course of infection. Serum levels of anti-neuraminidase antibodies reduced both viral shedding from the upper respiratory tract, as well as decreasing the severity of clinical illness in experimentally infected volunteers (44). In addition to serum antibody, the role of nasal antibodies and cytokines, has been studied, both free(45) and epithelial cell bound(46). The study by Clements et al (45), showed that a variety of both serum and nasal antibodies had effects on viral replication and illness severity, with anti-neuraminidase antibody having the broadest range of effects. However, the challenge virus was homologus to the vaccine and therefore little can be said about cross protective effects of different antibodies. Nasal cytokine production, in response to virus challenge has also been shown to have an effect on symptoms and viral shedding (47, 48). Whilst these data show that cytokines have an effect on symptoms and viral shedding, they do not prevent viral infection and may contribute adversely to symptoms and clinical illness.

5.2.2 Vaccine induced immunity and its clinical efficacy

Currently influenza vaccination is recommended for those aged 65 and over, as well as patients with chronic health conditions that put them at increased risk of severe illness from influenza. However the efficacy of vaccination is a much debated area, with one meta-analysis and review estimating that vaccine efficacy for preventing laboratory confirmed influenza is 63%, but that this decreases markedly in the elderly and that protection against clinical influenza is lower at 22%(49). A more recent and strict metaanalysis, looking only at laboratory confirmed influenza gave a median vaccine efficacy for trivalent influenza vaccine (TIV) of 62%, whilst live attenuated influenza vaccine (LAIV) had a median vaccine efficacy of 78% (50). However none of the trials of TIV in the later metaanalysis included adults aged 65 or more, who are obviously one of the main target groups for influenza vaccination. One placebo controlled trial looking specifically at TIV effectiveness against both clinical and serologically confirmed influenza in patients over 60 years of age (51), found a 50% reduction in serological and a 47% reduction in clinical influenza respectively. The relative efficacy of LAIV and TIV has been addressed in two separate randomised trials (52, 53) which suggest that LAIV has greater efficacy at preventing culture confirmed influenza in children (52), whilst TIV appeared to have

greater efficacy at preventing PCR and culture confirmed influenza in young adults (53). As LAIV appears to have a priming effect on T-cell immunity against influenza in children but not in adults (54), this may be one of the contributing factors to this difference in efficacy.

Several cohort studies and clinical trials that did not report laboratory confirmed influenza as a primary outcome have shown effectiveness of influenza vaccine in reducing a variety of clinical outcomes. Two studies using the UK general practice research database (55, 56), have looked at the effect of influenza vaccination on all cause, as well as respiratory and cardiac mortality. In the prospective cohort study described by Armstrong et al (55), mortality was higher in non-vaccinated patients during periods of high influenza activity, whilst for vaccinated patients mortality rates did not significantly increase at these times. This was true for all cause and respiratory mortality (55). The retrospective cohort study that was conducted by the same group (56) found that seasonal influenza vaccination was 21% effective in reducing hospital admission for respiratory illness over the nine year period of the study, with a 12 % reduction in all-cause mortality. The effectiveness of the vaccine seemed to be related to the severity of the influenza season, with higher efficacy seen during the most severe influenza seasons (56). Other clinical outcomes that have been assessed in cohort studies have included the effect of influenza vaccine on pneumonia mortality and outcomes during four consecutive influenza seasons (57). Current (that season's vaccine) vaccination was associated with reduced in hospital mortality, which was consistent after correction those with unknown vaccination status. It also found that this effect was consistent in both younger and older patients, as well as those with severe community acquire pneumonia (CAP) (57). Interestingly, the effectiveness of vaccination was greatest in those seasons when vaccine strains were most closely matched to the circulating strains. In addition to this potential effect on outcomes in patients with CAP, another study focused on the potential effect on vascular outcomes in older patients who received influenza vaccination (18). The findings from this large cohort study (over 280,000 subjects across two influenza seasons) were that vaccination against influenza, in a population with a range of co-morbid conditions, reduced not only the rate of cardiac or cerebrovascular hospital admissions, but also reduced all-cause mortality, with a number needed to treat (NNT) to prevent death or hospitalisation of 61 in the 1998-1999 influenza season, and an NNT of 68 in the 1999-2000 season (18).

5.2.3 Cellular and heterosubtypic immunity to influenza A

Whilst antibody mediated immunity to surface glycoproteins may generate protective immunity, the nature of antigenic variation in these molecules, both in terms of seasonal antigenic drift and emergence of antigenically shifted pandemic virus, means that cross specific immunity (heterosubtypic) is unlikely to be successful. A study conducted early in the emergence of the 2009 pandemic showed that B cell / antibody epitopes were poorly cross reactive between pandemic H1N1 and the previously circulating H1N1 strains (58). This study did show that there were a much greater number of conserved epitopes recognised by T lymphocytes, and that this was split between both CD8 and CD4 T-cells (58). The nature of the T-cell response and the potential for it to be induced by vaccination are the main areas that will be covered in the majority of this thesis.

The effect of cellular immunity in curtailing influenza infection is most clearly shown in challenge studies conducted on volunteers with no detectable humoral immunity to influenza. A key study in this regard is the paper from McMichael's group in 1983 (59). Whilst this study confirms the importance of HI titres in preventing infection (no volunteer with a titre of >1:20 shed virus), the results showed that in the presence of influenza virus, T-cells could recognise and lyse infected cells (as measured by a chromium release assay) clearing viral infection, even in those without pre-existing antibody being present. This study also provided evidence that cross sub type immunity might be related to cellular immunity, as volunteers who were born after 1956 were exposed to virus that was not circulating during their lifetime, still cleared the infection in the absence of any humoral response (59). The potential for T-cells to recognise epitopes that are present in different sub types of influenza A has been further investigated, with the nature of the cross recognition being elucidated. Using enzyme linked immuno spot (ELISPOT) techniques, Tcells (both CD4 and CD8) from British volunteers were shown to recognise epitopes from both seasonal H3N2 influenza A and avian H5N1 which causes sporadic severe disease in South East Asia and is considered to have pandemic potential (60). The targets for cross recognition were explored using the whole proteome of both H3N2 and H5N1 viruses, with the matrix protein 1 (M1) and nucleoprotein (NP) being the major targets recognised in both viruses (60). A subsequent study showed that cytotoxic T-cells generated by exposure to seasonal influenza viruses (both H1N1 and H3N2), could recognise and lyse cells infected with pandemic H1N1 (61). Using HLA tetramer staining techniques, this group also showed that an epitope from M1 that was present in seasonal influenza was

also present in pandemic H1N1 and was recognised by cytotoxic cells that had not been previously exposed to pandemic H1N1 virus (61). Interestingly, a separate study looking at CD8 T-cell responses to epitopes that aren't conserved across all influenza A sub types (62), found that an epitope of the NP that was present in the 1918 H1N1, and recognised by CD8 T-cells, was also present in the 2009 pandemic H1N1.

The nature of a potentially protective T-cell response to influenza, especially with regard to antigen selection, is important in influencing vaccine strategies that could stimulate T-cell immunity. HLA restriction of the T-cell response was shown in several studies (63-66), both to CD8 (63, 64) and CD4 cells (65). These studies showed that T lymphocytes capable of lysing influenza infected cells recognised viral molecules on the surface of the infected cell. The nature of the epitopes presented in this manner was further elucidated in a series of studies by McMichael. In one of the earlier studies, T-cells were identified as the cytotoxic cell, and were shown to be able to recognise subtypes of influenza A but not influenza B (66). Further studies clarified the nature of the antigen presented to the T-cells, with evidence that both NP (67-69) and matrix protein (42, 63, 70, 71) and polymerase PB2 (71) contribute peptide molecules that are presented to HLA restricted cytotoxic T-cells. An earlier study had shown that a variety of viral proteins were presented at the cell surface and recognised by T-cells (72), and that some of these T-cells were able to recognise cells infected with any influenza A sub type.

The finding that these internal proteins are presented to cytotoxic cells and are conserved between subtypes of influenza A, together with the finding that NP and M1 are the dominant epitopes conserved between sub types (60, 61), suggests that these proteins may be suitable vaccine antigens to stimulate T-cell mediated immunity. T-cell immunity could be relevant in heterosubtypic immunity as was shown in the pivotal McMichael paper from 1983 (59). Further circumstantial evidence for the contribution of nonhumoral immunity to heterosubtypic immunity is from a historical review of cases occurring during the H2N2 pandemic of 1957 (73). This study found that adults who had previously been exposed and infected with H1N1 virus prior to the emergence of the H2N2 pandemic, had lower attack rates from the pandemic H2N2 virus than children who had had no previous exposure to either virus, or adults who had not been previously infected with H1N1. Given that both the haemagglutinin and neuraminidase proteins shifted from H1N1 to H2N2 in this time period, it is unlikely that cross reactive protective antibodies to HA or NP were responsible for the majority of the effect detected, perhaps suggesting that cell mediated immunity played a significant role. T-cell cytotoxic capability has been shown to be "boosted" by exposure to natural influenza infection (74) with a half-life of the cytotoxic cell of two to three years and noticeable waning of T-cell cytotoxic capability, indicating that there is the potential for vaccination to increase this element of influenza immunity.

Some earlier studies have shown that live attenuated influenza vaccine can prime T-cell responses in children without detectable pre-existing T-cell responses, but do not boost those responses in adults (54). Inactivated current TIV, in particular the split virion type, can stimulate modest T-cell responses (75), although the protective effect of this effect is likely to be moderate. One study has shown that there is a small amount of M1 and NP in trivalent vaccine and that in HLA-A2 positive individuals this can stimulate cellular responses and cytotoxicity in vitro (76). In older vaccine recipients, the effect appears to be lower than younger patients (77), but by assessing cellular responses, particularly granzyme B responses (78, 79) it may be possible to assess those elderly patients at increased risk despite vaccination. A study looking at the relationship between T-cell subsets and HI titres after vaccination with trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine, showed that higher levels of CD8⁺ CD28^{null} T-cells, were associated with poor vaccine responses, as defined by reduced antibody titres to vaccine strains (80). Children vaccinated with the 2009 pandemic H1N1 monovalent vaccine have been shown to have a small but measurable increase in T-cell responses to internal antigens when subsequently vaccinated with TIV (81).

One of the major problems in assessing the effectiveness of T-cell immune protection (not just in influenza) is the lack of good correlates of protective immunity. Two recent studies, one a human volunteer challenge study (82), the other a longitudinal cohort study (83), have shed new light on the nature of cellular immune protective correlates against influenza. The challenge study described the effect of pre-existing T-cell responses on viral shedding and the clinical course of volunteers nasally inoculated with either H3N2 or pre pandemic H1N1 virus. Pre-existing responses were predominately CD4 in nature, with NP and M1 being major targeted proteins. Cytotoxic CD4 T-cell responses against influenza peptides appeared to be correlated with reduced viral shedding and lower symptom scores, but there was little contribution of CD8 T-cells directed against influenza derived peptides, despite evidence of both CD4 and CD8 T-cells exhibiting cytotoxicity via the perforin-granzyme pathway (82). As CD8 cells were found in lower numbers pre-challenge in this study, it might be that at baseline levels they play less of a role in limiting influenza infection, but the cohort study described by Sridhar and colleagues (83) conducted during

the 2009 pandemic indicated that anti influenza CD8 cells of a specific phenotype $(CD8^+IFN-\gamma^+IL-2^-)$ were associated with reduced incidence of influenza like illness, reduction in viral shedding and lower symptoms scores. Further specific study of the protective nature of these CD8 cells showed they recognised conserved epitopes of PB1, M1 and NP, and had cytotoxic and lung homing capabilities (83). Thus it appears that cytotoxic CD4 and CD8 T-cell responses may both contribute to antiviral responses against influenza.

5.3 Viral vectored vaccines to stimulate cellular immunity

As cellular immunity appears to have a potential bearing on influenza infection, and could offer heterotypic protection, development of a vaccine that boosts this component of the immune response is an attractive option. Viral vectored vaccines have been developed and shown to be potent at stimulating immune responses to a variety of antigens and this section of thesis will consider the development of these vectors.

Whilst many infections can be targeted with antibody producing vaccines, intra-cellular organisms such as tuberculosis or those with complex infective life cycles such as malaria may not be as susceptible to humoral mediated immune clearance. By identifying epitopes that are recognised by T-cells, and inducing cellular responses to these targets, intra-cellular pathogens, and some cancers, may be susceptible to immune clearance mediated via T-cells.

One of the most studied viral vectors capable of inducing cellular immune responses is the modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) (84-86). This virus was originally used as a smallpox vaccine in Germany and Turkey and was safely given to over 120,000 people (84). It is unable to proliferate in human cells, and has its genome shortened by approximately 9% compared to reference strains of vaccinia virus (84). However, despite not being able to replicate in humans, viral DNA is processed and viral protein assembly occurs, being incomplete only at a late stage of assembly (85, 86). Crucially it is also able to express DNA that has been cloned and inserted into its genome (85). It is therefore able to express sequences of DNA that code for antigens of interest, which can then be processed and presented at the cell surface for immune recognition. MVA, when used as a smallpox vaccine, was administered by intradermal, subcutaneous and intramuscular routes, and was given to a wide age range (84, 86), without major adverse effects. It also appears to

induce interferon production, potentially assisting the immune response to the inserted antigen (86).

Clinical studies of MVA, expressing a variety of target antigens have taken place in many patient groups and geographical settings. MVA has predominately been used to boost T-cell responses that have been primed by another route, the "heterologous prime boost" approach (87). Table 1 lists some of the clinical studies in which MVA has been used in this method. Of importance is the study by Vuloa *et al* (88). This study looked at the immunogenicity of different combinations of vectors in a heterologous prime boost strategy for the malaria antigen, multi epitope thrombospondin related adhesion protein (ME-TRAP). The vectors used were plasmid DNA, MVA and attenuated fowlpox 9 (FP9) virus. The greatest immunogenicity (both in terms of the magnitude of the T-cell ELISPOT response and its longevity), were observed when MVA was the vector used to boost a prime from the other vectors (88). Importantly, however, this approach had not previously been employed as a vaccine strategy, in humans, against influenza A virus and the papers which form this thesis form the first published reports of this strategy.

Disease	MVA antigen	Priming method	References
Malaria	ME-TRAP, CS,	DNA, Adenovirus,	(88-93)
	AMA1, MSP1	fowlpox virus	
Tuberculosis	85A	BCG, latent TB	(94-97)
		infection	
HIV	nef, gag / multi	HIV infection	(98, 99)
	epitope		
Influenza	NP+M1	Past infection,	(100-103)
		Adenovirus	
Melanoma	Human tyrosinase,	Melanoma	(104, 105)
	multi epitope		
Renal cell cancer	5T4	Renal cancer	(106)

Table 1 – Clinical studies of MVA as a vaccine vector. Abbreviations: AMA1, Apical Membrane Antigen 1; BCG, Bacillus Calmette-Guerin; CS, Circumsporozoite protein; ME-TRAP, Multi Epitope Thrombospondin Related Adhesion Protein; MSP 1, Merozoite Surface Protein 1; NP+M1, Nucleoprotein and Matrix protein 1.

The safety profile of MVA as a vector (as opposed to its use as a smallpox vaccine), has been assessed in all of these studies, which have included children and infants (90, 97), elderly patients (101, 106), HIV-1 seropositive individuals (98, 99), as well as African volunteers (89, 97). In a detailed report on the safety of both MVA and fowlpox vectors (91), local reactions (to intradermal administration of vaccine), were the most common adverse event, with systemic adverse events generally being mild and short lived. By comparing different routes of administration (intradermal and intramuscular), and different doses, the first of the papers forming the basis of this thesis (100) gives further insight into the side effect profile of MVA vectors. As might be expected, administration as an intradermal injection led to greater erythema, itch and swelling, whilst systemic symptoms were related to the vaccine dose, with the high dose group suffering more severe adverse events, in particular fever and malaise (100). It is also of note that adverse events, when using the same dose and route of MVA-NP+M1, were similar in both young and older volunteers (101, 102). The potential for the use of MVA based vaccines to induce T-cell based heterosubtypic immunity is the basis for papers 1 - 4 in this thesis (100-102, 107). The aim of the research was to investigate if by boosting pre-existing T-cell responses, which are conserved across multiple influenza A sub types, clinical disease could be reduced. The phase I vaccine studies (100, 101) concentrated on demonstrating safety and immunogenicity of the candidate vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. The first trial was in younger adult volunteers and showed that the vaccine was safe via both intramuscular and intradermal routes, and was able to boost pre-existing T-cell responses, in both CD8 and CD4 cells (100). Given the findings of the studies looking at correlates of cellular immunity (82, 83) the ability to generate both a CD4 and CD8 response would seem to be of benefit. The second trial assessed the immunogenicity and safety in an older group of volunteers, who by virtue of their age would be at greater risk from influenza infection (101). In this group there continued to be a significant increase in both CD4 and CD8 T-cells recognising the vaccine antigens, and a similar level of functionality of these cells was seen as in the study of younger volunteers (100). The safety data in this elderly group of volunteers was the same as observed in the younger volunteers vaccinated with the same dose. A previous study had found that a high IFN-y:IL-10 ratio was associated with protection from influenza in the elderly (78), and the increase in IFN-y secretion seen after vaccination with MVA-NP+M1 was not associated with an increase in IL-10 levels, which may contribute to increased protection in the elderly (101).

The next clinical trial of MVA-NP+M1 involved a human challenge study (102), together with further immunological studies of vaccinated volunteers (107). The timeline for the challenge study is shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1 – Timeline of the influenza challenge study in reference 65.

In this clinical trial, the trend across all clinically observed measures was of MVA-NP+M1 being beneficial, in addition to showing that the challenge model after vaccination was a safe mode of assessing efficacy when using a novel T-cell stimulating vaccine. The immunological studies showed that vaccinated volunteers had higher levels of anti viral T-cell cytolytic activity and T-cell activation after influenza challenge (107), which might contribute to enhanced viral clearance and attenuation of symptom, however in this clinical study no immunological outcome was of use in predicting protection from influenza disease or viral shedding. These same immunological correlates had in an earlier study been shown to be a better correlate of protection from influenza than HI titres (78). The research in papers 1 - 3 also adds to the safety data around the use of MVA as a viral vector and extends the safe use of this vector to an older cohort. The challenge study performed as part of paper 3 (102) also showed that this method of testing a novel T-cell stimulating vaccine was safe, and potentially useful in exploring vaccine effectiveness.

5.4 Human challenge studies of influenza infection

The use of human volunteers as a model in infection research has many advantages. By studying the human response to infection, no extrapolation from animal studies is needed, and the effect of vaccines, drug treatments and the natural history of the infection can be ascertained. Safety concerns are of paramount importance, particularly when potentially fatal infections such as malaria are given to volunteers. A group of UK and American researchers have put forward the view that human microbial challenge is the "ultimate animal model" (108). Within influenza research, the use of challenge studies has allowed assessment of the natural time course and severity of infection (109), which, as the point in time of naturally acquiring influenza is not often known, is of great use. This review of influenza challenge studies has confirmed the relationship between the amount of virus shed and clinical symptoms, whilst also showing that asymptomatic viral shedding does occur. It has also highlighted that viral shedding peaks early after inoculation and that this may limit the ability to contain the spread of infection (109). Other influenza challenge studies have helped to elucidate the mechanisms of cellular immunity to influenza (59, 82), the efficacy of neuraminidase inhibitors in limiting symptom duration (48, 110), the

local and systemic cytokine and chemokine responses to infection and their association with symptoms (47, 48), the role of mucosal antibody in protection from infection (45), gene expression profiles that may differentiate viral from bacterial infection (111) and the efficacy of vaccines (102). Perhaps one of the major factors limiting the generalizability of influenza challenge studies is the route via which volunteers are inoculated. In the majority of studies nasal instillation of virus is used, as this allows rapid and reliable infection to occur (109). However this may not mimic the natural acquisition of influenza from aerosol transmission, and further challenge studies have been planned to look at the efficacy of protective equipment in preventing infection via the aerosol route (112).

5.5 Clinical assessment of influenza illness

5.5.1. Severity assessment of influenza infection

Influenza infection can present in a variety of ways, and the spectrum of severity, can run from a symptomatic infection (28, 109) through to fatal severe illness (32, 113). During periods of high influenza activity critical care services are under extreme pressure (26, 29) and effective early triage of those patients who require intensive care support would be advantageous. Conversely identifying those patients at low risk for severe disease may allow that group to be managed in the community freeing up capacity in secondary care for the more severely ill (114). Paper 5 of this thesis (30) relates to the assessment of severity of influenza infection , and to the development of a proposed triage tool, during an influenza season with a large number of cases managed in secondary care at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. Figure 2 shows the time frame of the cases over the winter of 2010 / 2011.



Figure 2 – Time course of influenza cases at Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Winter 2010 / 2011.

Whilst there is an extensive literature on severity assessment in community acquired pneumonia (CAP), with validated assessment tools such as the pneumonia severity index (PSI) (115), CURB-65 (116) and SMART-COP (117), these may not be as readily applicable to influenza infection. A study from Canada looked at the use of pneumonia assessment tools for predicting outcome in influenza infected patients (118). In this study, over three influenza seasons (all before the emergence of pandemic H1N1), patients admitted to hospital who had a positive sample for influenza had eight separate severity scores calculated (both pneumonia specific and sepsis scores), and rates of death and intensive care admissions were recorded. Whilst the PSI predicted mortality with reasonable accuracy, it was less effective in predicting intensive care admission and the study did not assess the utility of the scoring systems in guiding outpatient treatment (118). Another issue with this study is that since the emergence of pandemic H1N1, the average age of patients requiring intensive care with influenza infection is much younger than the average age in the Canadian study which was 76 years of age (118). A study from South Korea , in the early stages of the 2009 H1N1 pandemic found that in univariate analysis both PSI and

CURB-65 scores predicted mortality, with PSI remaining predictive in multivariate analysis (119). However one of the issues with the PSI is that it is a reasonably complex tool to use, requiring multiple steps before assigning a patient to a PSI level, and another study in CAP patients advocated using CURB-65 due to its ease of use and that the performance characteristics were not substantially different from PSI (120).

Generic severity assessment scores, such as the modified early warning score (MEWS) (121) may be of use in prognostic assessment of infection. A study comparing early warning scores, sepsis scoring and CURB-65 in CAP, found that the disease specific CURB-65 score outperformed the more generic scoring systems (122), in predicting mortality. In common with many of the studies in this area, mortality as opposed to critical care admission was the end point for this study and therefore it may be that it has less utility in predicting the need for critical care, which in influenza epidemic conditions may well be a more relevant measure.

Another caveat of studies of influenza severity assessment, as highlighted above, is that those conducted before the emergence of pandemic H1N1 may underestimate the severity in younger patients, and pregnant women. In one of the largest pre 2009 pandemic observational studies looking at risk factors for death and poor outcome from influenza infection, carried out over two years in Hong Kong, the average age of admitted patients was 70 (32), as compared with 23 years of age in the first wave of pandemic cases in the UK (123). In addition to older age as a predictor of mortality, major co-morbidity, need for ventilatory support, male sex and being a nursing home resident were associated with death (32), whilst treatment with oseltamivir appeared to be beneficial in reducing risk of death. Again, this study looked at death as its primary outcome and may not therefore be relevant when applied to decisions regarding critical care requirement. Another study from Taiwan of patients with confirmed influenza pneumonia (124), found that the strongest predictor of mortality was the degree of hypoxia, as measured by the ratio of the arterial partial pressure of oxygen to inspired oxygen concentration. As this study was in confirmed influenza pneumonia, with an overall mortality rate of 44.7%, the generalizability to non-pneumonic influenza infection in a triage setting may be limited. As both of these studies were carried out before the emergence of pandemic H1N1, and the description during the pandemic and early post pandemic period of novel risk factors such as obesity, it is unclear if those risks also pertained to other influenza virus infections.

Many studies were performed to look at the risk factors for poor outcome during the initial period of the 2009 pandemic. A UK based study investigated risk factors for death or need for critical care support during the first wave of the 2009 pandemic (123). In keeping with pre pandemic findings, the presence of respiratory co-morbidity was associated with poor outcome. One of the new factors that appeared to influence outcome in several of the studies of pandemic H1N1 was obesity (26, 123, 125), whilst pregnancy, which had been noted as a risk factors prior to the pandemic became a much more widely noted risk factor (20, 26, 27, 126). A study from early in the pandemic from Mexico reported factors that were associated with lower risk and the ability to be treated as an outpatient (127). Although mostly looking at factors associated with death, a lower respiratory rate, absence of cyanosis and not being confined to bed were associated with the ability to be treated as an outpatient (127), but these vague descriptive factors do not lend themselves to being implemented as algorithms or protocols to decide who could be treated as an outpatient. The other reports from the pandemic concentrated on risk factors for mortality or poor outcome and Table 2 shows the risk factors identified by these studies, associated with poor outcome.

Factors associated with poor	Reference	
outcome		
Pregnancy	(24, 26, 27, 126)	
Obesity	(26, 113, 123, 128)	
Older age	(24, 26, 129)	
Hypoxia / raised respiratory rate	(24, 26, 127, 130, 131)	
Co-morbidities	(24, 26, 123, 127-129)	
Hypotension / shock	(130, 131)	
Confusion /altered mental state	(129, 130)	
Delayed receipt of anti-viral treatment	(24, 126, 128, 132, 133)	
Radiologically confirmed pneumonia	(24, 123, 129)	

Table 2 – Factors associated with poor outcome during the initial phase of the 2009 H1N1 pandemic.

As these studies were carried out during the first waves of the 2009 pandemic, it is not surprising that they report outcomes only of patients infected with pandemic H1N1. How this can be extrapolated to influenza seasons where there is co-circulation of other influenza viruses is still unclear. One study looked at the clinical presentation and 30 day outcome of both pre and post pandemic strains of H1N1 as well as H3N2 virus (31). This study showed that pneumonia and acute otitis media were more common, in adults, with pandemic H1N1 than either H3N2 or pre pandemic seasonal H1N1 (31). However this study did not collect data on risk factors for complications or poor outcome, and did not look at outcomes with influenza B virus infection. What the study described in paper 5 (30) adds to the literature is detail on the factors associated with the need for critical care during both pandemic H1N1 and influenza B infection, in the early post pandemic period. It also addresses potential factors associated with admission for less than 24 hours, which may allow early discharge or community based treatment with anti-viral medication. In one retrospective Chinese study, outpatient use of oseltamivir reduced the risk of progression to severe disease and pneumonia (134), and it may therefore be appropriate that those in lower risk groups for complications are not admitted to hospital, but do still receive antiviral treatment to reduce the risk of complications. The classification into groups that are suitable for outpatient therapy and those that may require critical care, in a simple manner, is one of the major uses of severity assessment in CAP. Paper 5 proposes a two-step assessment process, firstly to assess whether the patient is suitable for outpatient treatment, and then if not appropriate for outpatient management, an assessment of the need for critical care is carried out. This contrasts with the other published studies which concentrate on risk assessment for poor outcomes only.

5.5.2 Distinguishing influenza and malaria clinically

At the beginning of the 2009 pandemic in the UK, a national telephone triage service was implemented to assist in the allocation of anti-viral medication (135), which used the HPA case definition for pandemic influenza (136). Soon after this there were reports of misdiagnosis of other severe illness as "swine flu" after use of the telephone triage system (137-139). Subsequently reports from the UK and Korea questioned the utility of case definitions in pandemic influenza (140, 141), particularly with regard to the sensitivity to

predict influenza, and a meta-analysis of decision rules for influenza infection found that none of the commonly used rules or tools had good clinical utility (142).

Three of the cases reported in the UK as misdiagnosed swine flu, actually had Plasmodium falciparum malaria (137, 138). This may have been related to the original case definition, which did not require information on possible malaria exposure or travel to a malaria endemic country to be collected (136), although later versions of the case definition did exclude those who had recently been to a malarial area from telephone triage. In reviews of febrile illness in travellers returning from malarial endemic areas, malaria was the most common diagnosis (143-145), but a significant minority of patients in these reviews had influenza infection. There are reports of patients with influenza mimicking malaria (146) and at least one case report of a patient presenting with an influenza like illness who had a final diagnosis of malaria (147). As was shown in some of the case reviews of pandemic H1N1 infection, atypical features, notably diarrhoea and vomiting can be present (21, 30, 123, 125, 127) and may add to the diagnostic uncertainty in these cases. In this context, the data from paper 6 in this thesis (148), is of use in guiding assessment of patients, during periods of influenza activity, who are at risk of malaria. As may be expected, upper respiratory symptoms were more common in the influenza group, whilst all other symptoms were not able to distinguish clinically between influenza and malaria infection. It would therefore seem sensible that in the absence of respiratory symptoms, patients should be evaluated for other causes of their presumed influenza illness, if they have a relevant travel or exposure history.

6. Future areas of study

Research into influenza vaccines and the potential to generate heterosubtypic immunity is an ongoing area of active research. Co-administration of the novel vaccine MVA-NP+M1 together with seasonal influenza vaccine has recently been studied (149), as a strategy to boost the humoral response to TIV and shows promise in potentially achieving both humoral and cellular immune responses against influenza A viruses. This approach, of using both poxvirus and protein based vaccine to achieve greater cellular and humoral immune responses, has been previously demonstrated in a murine model of hepatitis B vaccination (150). This combination vaccination strategy may abrogate the reduced efficacy seen when there is a mismatch between the circulating virus and that included in the seasonal trivalent vaccine (41). Another development with MVA-NP+M1 is its use in combination with a novel adenovirus expressing the same antigens (103). This may be of use in vaccinees who have little in the way of pre-existing T-cell responses to influenza, who would require a prime boost strategy, with adenovirus priming followed by boosting with MVA-NP+M1. The extension of studies of MVA-NP+M1 into other at risk groups for influenza, such as those with chronic respiratory conditions is another area that would be of interest. Other vaccines and vaccine antigens are in development and the hope is that a potent, heterosubtypic vaccine can be developed that can be of use in both seasonal and pandemic influenza prevention. As there are further cases of zoonotic transmission of avian influenza viruses, such as H9N2 (151) and H5N1 (152), the need for a pre pandemic vaccine that could at least reduce the impact of a potentially severe pandemic is particularly pressing.

One remaining area of data that is currently being analysed and prepared for submission for publication, from the influenza challenge study described in paper 3 of this thesis (102), consists of transcriptomic profiling of both vaccinated and non-vaccinated volunteers. Early analysis of this data suggests that it may provide clues as to the reasons why some patients have more severe symptoms than others who shed similar levels of virus after challenge, and therefore help in quantifying symptoms in influenza challenge studies in a more objective manner. Other potential uses of transcriptomic profiling include differentiating between viral and bacterial illness (111), thereby potentially allowing better targeting of antibiotics and antivirals, and potentially in prognostication as the immune inflammatory response to pandemic H1N1 has been shown to be a major determinant of outcome (153, 154).

Another aspect of the research described within this thesis is the search for correlates of cellular immunity to influenza infection. The most recent studies on this are conflicting on the relative roles of CD4 and CD8 T-cells (82, 83), as well as the overall role of T-cell responses after vaccination (54, 78) and future research should aim to clarify this area. The role of other aspects of the cellular immune response, such as natural killer cells is also under investigation (155). The reduced vaccine efficacy seen in the elderly is being studied, and the role of immunosenescence and in particular chronic infection with cytomegalovirus is a potentially fascinating area (156, 157).

With regard to the clinical assessment of influenza illness and severity assessment, data from the 2009 pandemic continues to be analysed together with the identification of factors associated with complicated disease and the generation of assessment algorithms (158). A recent paper from the USA found that outcomes were similar in patients who had confirmed influenza B virus infection, compared with influenza A infection (159), and this may help in simplifying assessment tools. How relevant this data is as we move further away from the pandemic and into the situation where the 2009 H1N1 virus becomes the main seasonal circulating influenza A strain is a point of conjecture. Further development of prognostic tools to allow the community based treatment of patients with influenza would be useful, such as that described in paper 5 (30) of this thesis.

7. Bibliography

Andrewes CH. Influenza: Four Years' Progress. British medical journal.
 1937;2(4001):513-5. Epub 1937/09/11.

2. Nicholson KG, Wood JM, Zambon M. Influenza. Lancet. 2003;362(9397):1733-45. Epub 2003/12/04.

3. Barker WH, Mullooly JP. Impact of epidemic type A influenza in a defined adult population. American journal of epidemiology. 1980;112(6):798-811. Epub 1980/12/01.

4. Hardelid P, Pebody R, Andrews N. Mortality caused by influenza and respiratory syncytial virus by age group in England and Wales 1999-2010. Influenza Other Respir Viruses. 2013;7(1):35-45. Epub 2012/03/13.

5. Simonsen L, Clarke MJ, Williamson GD, Stroup DF, Arden NH, Schonberger LB. The impact of influenza epidemics on mortality: introducing a severity index. American journal of public health. 1997;87(12):1944-50. Epub 1998/02/07.

6. Sullivan KM, Monto AS, Longini IM, Jr. Estimates of the US health impact of influenza. American journal of public health. 1993;83(12):1712-6. Epub 1993/12/01.

7. Keech M, Scott AJ, Ryan PJ. The impact of influenza and influenza-like illness on productivity and healthcare resource utilization in a working population. Occupational medicine. 1998;48(2):85-90. Epub 1998/06/06.

8. Molinari NA, Ortega-Sanchez IR, Messonnier ML, Thompson WW, Wortley PM, Weintraub E, et al. The annual impact of seasonal influenza in the US: measuring disease burden and costs. Vaccine. 2007;25(27):5086-96. Epub 2007/06/05.

9. Mullooly JP, Bridges CB, Thompson WW, Chen J, Weintraub E, Jackson LA, et al. Influenza- and RSV-associated hospitalizations among adults. Vaccine. 2007;25(5):846-55. Epub 2006/11/01.

 Perrotta DM, Decker M, Glezen WP. Acute respiratory disease hospitalizations as a measure of impact of epidemic influenza. American journal of epidemiology.
 1985;122(3):468-76. Epub 1985/09/01. 11. Lui KJ, Kendal AP. Impact of influenza epidemics on mortality in the United States from October 1972 to May 1985. American journal of public health. 1987;77(6):712-6. Epub 1987/06/01.

12. Thompson WW, Shay DK, Weintraub E, Brammer L, Cox N, Anderson LJ, et al. Mortality associated with influenza and respiratory syncytial virus in the United States. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2003;289(2):179-86. Epub 2003/01/09.

13. Ellis SE, Coffey CS, Mitchel EF, Jr., Dittus RS, Griffin MR. Influenza- and respiratory syncytial virus-associated morbidity and mortality in the nursing home population. Journal of the American Geriatrics Society. 2003;51(6):761-7. Epub 2003/05/22.

14. Griffin MR, Coffey CS, Neuzil KM, Mitchel EF, Jr., Wright PF, Edwards KM. Winter viruses: influenza- and respiratory syncytial virus-related morbidity in chronic lung disease. Archives of internal medicine. 2002;162(11):1229-36. Epub 2002/06/01.

15. Talbot TR, Poehling KA, Hartert TV, Arbogast PG, Halasa NB, Edwards KM, et al. Seasonality of invasive pneumococcal disease: temporal relation to documented influenza and respiratory syncytial viral circulation. The American journal of medicine. 2005;118(3):285-91. Epub 2005/03/05.

16. Barker WH, Borisute H, Cox C. A study of the impact of influenza on the functional status of frail older people. Archives of internal medicine. 1998;158(6):645-50. Epub 1998/04/01.

17. Glezen WP, Greenberg SB, Atmar RL, Piedra PA, Couch RB. Impact of respiratory virus infections on persons with chronic underlying conditions. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2000;283(4):499-505. Epub 2000/02/05.

18. Nichol KL, Nordin J, Mullooly J, Lask R, Fillbrandt K, Iwane M. Influenza vaccination and reduction in hospitalizations for cardiac disease and stroke among the elderly. The New England journal of medicine. 2003;348(14):1322-32. Epub 2003/04/04.

19. Lin JC, Nichol KL. Excess mortality due to pneumonia or influenza during influenza seasons among persons with acquired immunodeficiency syndrome. Archives of internal medicine. 2001;161(3):441-6. Epub 2001/02/15.

20. Neuzil KM, Reed GW, Mitchel EF, Simonsen L, Griffin MR. Impact of influenza on acute cardiopulmonary hospitalizations in pregnant women. American journal of epidemiology. 1998;148(11):1094-102. Epub 1998/12/16.

21. Chowell G, Bertozzi SM, Colchero MA, Lopez-Gatell H, Alpuche-Aranda C, Hernandez M, et al. Severe respiratory disease concurrent with the circulation of H1N1 influenza. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(7):674-9. Epub 2009/07/01.

22. Cohen J, Enserink M. Swine flu. After delays, WHO agrees: the 2009 pandemic has begun. Science. 2009;324(5934):1496-7. Epub 2009/06/23.

Itoh Y, Shinya K, Kiso M, Watanabe T, Sakoda Y, Hatta M, et al. In vitro and in vivo characterization of new swine-origin H1N1 influenza viruses. Nature.
 2009;460(7258):1021-5. Epub 2009/08/13.

24. Jain S, Kamimoto L, Bramley AM, Schmitz AM, Benoit SR, Louie J, et al. Hospitalized patients with 2009 H1N1 influenza in the United States, April-June 2009. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(20):1935-44. Epub 2009/10/10.

25. McLean E, Pebody RG, Campbell C, Chamberland M, Hawkins C, Nguyen-Van-Tam JS, et al. Pandemic (H1N1) 2009 influenza in the UK: clinical and epidemiological findings from the first few hundred (FF100) cases. Epidemiology and infection. 2010;138(11):1531-41. Epub 2010/07/03.

26. Investigators AI, Webb SA, Pettila V, Seppelt I, Bellomo R, Bailey M, et al. Critical care services and 2009 H1N1 influenza in Australia and New Zealand. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(20):1925-34. Epub 2009/10/10.

27. Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, Rasmussen SA, Williams JL, Swerdlow DL, Biggerstaff MS, et al. H1N1 2009 influenza virus infection during pregnancy in the USA. Lancet.
2009;374(9688):451-8. Epub 2009/08/01.

28. Miller E, Hoschler K, Hardelid P, Stanford E, Andrews N, Zambon M. Incidence of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 infection in England: a cross-sectional serological study. Lancet. 2010;375(9720):1100-8. Epub 2010/01/26.

Agency HP. Surveillance of influenza and other respiratory viruses in the UK
 2010/11. In: Agency HP, editor. 2011.

30. Lillie PJ, Bazaz R, Dexter L, Biju C, Peart L, Lewis L, et al. Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. The Journal of infection. 2012;64(2):239-41. Epub 2011/12/01.

31. Belongia EA, Irving SA, Waring SC, Coleman LA, Meece JK, Vandermause M, et al. Clinical characteristics and 30-day outcomes for influenza A 2009 (H1N1), 2008-2009 (H1N1), and 2007-2008 (H3N2) infections. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 2010;304(10):1091-8. Epub 2010/09/09.

32. Lee N, Choi KW, Chan PK, Hui DS, Lui GC, Wong BC, et al. Outcomes of adults hospitalised with severe influenza. Thorax. 2010;65(6):510-5. Epub 2010/06/05.

33. Wijngaard CC, Asten L, Koopmans MP, Pelt W, Nagelkerke NJ, Wielders CC, et al. Comparing pandemic to seasonal influenza mortality: moderate impact overall but high mortality in young children. PloS one. 2012;7(2):e31197. Epub 2012/02/10.

34. Dawood FS, Iuliano AD, Reed C, Meltzer MI, Shay DK, Cheng PY, et al. Estimated global mortality associated with the first 12 months of 2009 pandemic influenza A H1N1 virus circulation: a modelling study. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2012;12(9):687-95. Epub 2012/06/29.

35. Francis T, Salk JE, Pearson HE, Brown PN. Protective Effect of Vaccination against Induced Influenza A. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1945;24(4):536-46. Epub 1945/07/01.

36. Salk JE, Pearson HE, Brown PN, Francis T. Protective Effect of Vaccination against Induced Influenza B. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1945;24(4):547-53. Epub 1945/07/01.

37. Virelizier JL. Host defenses against influenza virus: the role of anti-haemagglutinin antibody. Journal of immunology. 1975;115(2):434-9. Epub 1975/08/01.

38. Hobson D, Curry RL, Beare AS, Ward-Gardner A. The role of serum haemagglutination-inhibiting antibody in protection against challenge infection with influenza A2 and B viruses. The Journal of hygiene. 1972;70(4):767-77. Epub 1972/12/01.

39. Potter CW, Oxford JS. Determinants of immunity to influenza infection in man.British medical bulletin. 1979;35(1):69-75. Epub 1979/01/01.
40. Hannoun C, Megas F, Piercy J. Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of influenza vaccination. Virus research. 2004;103(1-2):133-8. Epub 2004/05/28.

41. de Jong JC, Beyer WE, Palache AM, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD. Mismatch between the 1997/1998 influenza vaccine and the major epidemic A(H3N2) virus strain as the cause of an inadequate vaccine-induced antibody response to this strain in the elderly. Journal of medical virology. 2000;61(1):94-9. Epub 2000/04/04.

42. Lamb JR, Woody JN, Hartzman RJ, Eckels DD. In vitro influenza virus-specific antibody production in man: antigen-specific and HLA-restricted induction of helper activity mediated by cloned human T lymphocytes. Journal of immunology. 1982;129(4):1465-70. Epub 1982/10/01.

43. Hancock K, Veguilla V, Lu X, Zhong W, Butler EN, Sun H, et al. Cross-reactive antibody responses to the 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(20):1945-52. Epub 2009/09/12.

44. Murphy BR, Kasel JA, Chanock RM. Association of serum anti-neuraminidase antibody with resistance to influenza in man. The New England journal of medicine. 1972;286(25):1329-32. Epub 1972/06/22.

45. Clements ML, Betts RF, Tierney EL, Murphy BR. Serum and nasal wash antibodies associated with resistance to experimental challenge with influenza A wild-type virus. Journal of clinical microbiology. 1986;24(1):157-60. Epub 1986/07/01.

46. Angelova LA, Angelov ZR. Upper respiratory tract epithelial cells as a component of local immunity against influenza. Antiviral research. 1982;2(3):115-21. Epub 1982/08/01.

47. Hayden FG, Fritz R, Lobo MC, Alvord W, Strober W, Straus SE. Local and systemic cytokine responses during experimental human influenza A virus infection. Relation to symptom formation and host defense. The Journal of clinical investigation. 1998;101(3):643-9. Epub 1998/03/21.

48. Fritz RS, Hayden FG, Calfee DP, Cass LM, Peng AW, Alvord WG, et al. Nasal cytokine and chemokine responses in experimental influenza A virus infection: results of a placebo-controlled trial of intravenous zanamivir treatment. The Journal of infectious diseases. 1999;180(3):586-93. Epub 1999/08/07.

49. Villari P, Manzoli L, Boccia A. Methodological quality of studies and patient age as major sources of variation in efficacy estimates of influenza vaccination in healthy adults: a meta-analysis. Vaccine. 2004;22(25-26):3475-86. Epub 2004/08/17.

50. Osterholm MT, Kelley NS, Sommer A, Belongia EA. Efficacy and effectiveness of influenza vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2012;12(1):36-44. Epub 2011/10/29.

51. Govaert TM, Thijs CT, Masurel N, Sprenger MJ, Dinant GJ, Knottnerus JA. The efficacy of influenza vaccination in elderly individuals. A randomized double-blind placebo-controlled trial. JAMA : the journal of the American Medical Association. 1994;272(21):1661-5. Epub 1994/12/07.

52. Belshe RB, Edwards KM, Vesikari T, Black SV, Walker RE, Hultquist M, et al. Live attenuated versus inactivated influenza vaccine in infants and young children. The New England journal of medicine. 2007;356(7):685-96. Epub 2007/02/16.

53. Monto AS, Ohmit SE, Petrie JG, Johnson E, Truscon R, Teich E, et al. Comparative efficacy of inactivated and live attenuated influenza vaccines. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(13):1260-7. Epub 2009/09/25.

54. He XS, Holmes TH, Zhang C, Mahmood K, Kemble GW, Lewis DB, et al. Cellular immune responses in children and adults receiving inactivated or live attenuated influenza vaccines. Journal of virology. 2006;80(23):11756-66. Epub 2006/09/15.

55. Armstrong BG, Mangtani P, Fletcher A, Kovats S, McMichael A, Pattenden S, et al. Effect of influenza vaccination on excess deaths occurring during periods of high circulation of influenza: cohort study in elderly people. Bmj. 2004;329(7467):660. Epub 2004/08/18.

56. Mangtani P, Cumberland P, Hodgson CR, Roberts JA, Cutts FT, Hall AJ. A cohort study of the effectiveness of influenza vaccine in older people, performed using the United Kingdom general practice research database. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2004;190(1):1-10. Epub 2004/06/15.

57. Spaude KA, Abrutyn E, Kirchner C, Kim A, Daley J, Fisman DN. Influenza vaccination and risk of mortality among adults hospitalized with community-acquired pneumonia. Archives of internal medicine. 2007;167(1):53-9. Epub 2007/01/11.

58. Greenbaum JA, Kotturi MF, Kim Y, Oseroff C, Vaughan K, Salimi N, et al. Preexisting immunity against swine-origin H1N1 influenza viruses in the general human population. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2009;106(48):20365-70. Epub 2009/11/18.

59. McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Noble GR, Beare PA. Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to influenza. The New England journal of medicine. 1983;309(1):13-7. Epub 1983/07/07.

60. Lee LY, Ha do LA, Simmons C, de Jong MD, Chau NV, Schumacher R, et al. Memory
T-cells established by seasonal human influenza A infection cross-react with avian
influenza A (H5N1) in healthy individuals. The Journal of clinical investigation.
2008;118(10):3478-90. Epub 2008/09/20.

61. Tu W, Mao H, Zheng J, Liu Y, Chiu SS, Qin G, et al. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes established by seasonal human influenza cross-react against 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus. Journal of virology. 2010;84(13):6527-35. Epub 2010/04/23.

62. Gras S, Kedzierski L, Valkenburg SA, Laurie K, Liu YC, Denholm JT, et al. Crossreactive CD8+ T-cell immunity between the pandemic H1N1-2009 and H1N1-1918 influenza A viruses. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2010;107(28):12599-604. Epub 2010/07/10.

63. Braciale TJ. Immunologic recognition of influenza virus-infected cells. II. Expression of influenza A matrix protein on the infected cell surface and its role in recognition by cross-reactive cytotoxic T-cells. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1977;146(3):673-89. Epub 1977/09/01.

64. Lukacher AE, Braciale VL, Braciale TJ. In vivo effector function of influenza virusspecific cytotoxic T lymphocyte clones is highly specific. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1984;160(3):814-26. Epub 1984/09/01.

65. Kaplan DR, Griffith R, Braciale VL, Braciale TJ. Influenza virus-specific human cytotoxic T-cell clones: heterogeneity in antigenic specificity and restriction by class II MHC products. Cellular immunology. 1984;88(1):193-206. Epub 1984/10/01.

McMichael AJ, Askonas BA. Influenza virus-specific cytotoxic T-cells in man;
induction and properties of the cytotoxic cell. European journal of immunology.
1978;8(10):705-11. Epub 1978/10/01.

67. McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Rothbard J. HLA B37 determines an influenza A virus nucleoprotein epitope recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1986;164(5):1397-406. Epub 1986/11/01.

McMichael AJ, Michie CA, Gotch FM, Smith GL, Moss B. Recognition of influenza A virus nucleoprotein by human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. The Journal of general virology.
1986;67 (Pt 4):719-26. Epub 1986/04/01.

69. Townsend AR, Rothbard J, Gotch FM, Bahadur G, Wraith D, McMichael AJ. The epitopes of influenza nucleoprotein recognized by cytotoxic T lymphocytes can be defined with short synthetic peptides. Cell. 1986;44(6):959-68. Epub 1986/03/28.

70. Gotch F, Rothbard J, Howland K, Townsend A, McMichael A. Cytotoxic T lymphocytes recognize a fragment of influenza virus matrix protein in association with HLA-A2. Nature. 1987;326(6116):881-2. Epub 1987/04/06.

71. Gotch F, McMichael A, Smith G, Moss B. Identification of viral molecules recognized by influenza-specific human cytotoxic T lymphocytes. The Journal of experimental medicine. 1987;165(2):408-16. Epub 1987/02/01.

72. Fleischer B, Becht H, Rott R. Recognition of viral antigens by human influenza A virus-specific T lymphocyte clones. Journal of immunology. 1985;135(4):2800-4. Epub 1985/10/01.

73. Epstein SL. Prior H1N1 influenza infection and susceptibility of Cleveland Family Study participants during the H2N2 pandemic of 1957: an experiment of nature. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2006;193(1):49-53. Epub 2005/12/03.

74. McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Dongworth DW, Clark A, Potter CW. Declining T-cell immunity to influenza, 1977-82. Lancet. 1983;2(8353):762-4. Epub 1983/10/01.

75. McMichael AJ, Gotch F, Cullen P, Askonas B, Webster RG. The human cytotoxic Tcell response to influenza A vaccination. Clinical and experimental immunology. 1981;43(2):276-84. Epub 1981/02/01.

76. Terajima M, Cruz J, Leporati AM, Orphin L, Babon JA, Co MD, et al. Influenza A virus matrix protein 1-specific human CD8+ T-cell response induced in trivalent inactivated vaccine recipients. Journal of virology. 2008;82(18):9283-7. Epub 2008/07/11.

77. McElhaney JE, Upshaw CM, Hooton JW, Lechelt KE, Meneilly GS. Responses to influenza vaccination in different T-cell subsets: a comparison of healthy young and older adults. Vaccine. 1998;16(18):1742-7. Epub 1998/10/21.

78. McElhaney JE, Xie D, Hager WD, Barry MB, Wang Y, Kleppinger A, et al. T-cell responses are better correlates of vaccine protection in the elderly. Journal of immunology. 2006;176(10):6333-9. Epub 2006/05/04.

79. McElhaney JE, Ewen C, Zhou X, Kane KP, Xie D, Hager WD, et al. Granzyme B: Correlates with protection and enhanced CTL response to influenza vaccination in older adults. Vaccine. 2009;27(18):2418-25. Epub 2009/04/17.

80. Goronzy JJ, Fulbright JW, Crowson CS, Poland GA, O'Fallon WM, Weyand CM. Value of immunological markers in predicting responsiveness to influenza vaccination in elderly individuals. Journal of virology. 2001;75(24):12182-7. Epub 2001/11/17.

81. Lambe T, Spencer AJ, Mullarkey CE, Antrobus RD, Yu LM, de Whalley P, et al. T-cell responses in children to internal influenza antigens, 1 year after immunization with pandemic H1N1 influenza vaccine, and response to revaccination with seasonal trivalent-inactivated influenza vaccine. The Pediatric infectious disease journal. 2012;31(6):e86-91. Epub 2012/04/03.

82. Wilkinson TM, Li CK, Chui CS, Huang AK, Perkins M, Liebner JC, et al. Preexisting influenza-specific CD4+ T-cells correlate with disease protection against influenza challenge in humans. Nature medicine. 2012;18(2):274-80. Epub 2012/01/31.

83. Sridhar S, Begom S, Bermingham A, Hoschler K, Adamson W, Carman W, et al. Cellular immune correlates of protection against symptomatic pandemic influenza. Nature medicine. 2013. Epub 2013/09/24.

84. Mayr A, Stickl H, Muller HK, Danner K, Singer H. [The smallpox vaccination strain MVA: marker, genetic structure, experience gained with the parenteral vaccination and behavior in organisms with a debilitated defence mechanism (author's transl)]. Zentralblatt fur Bakteriologie, Parasitenkunde, Infektionskrankheiten und Hygiene Erste Abteilung Originale Reihe B: Hygiene, Betriebshygiene, praventive Medizin. 1978;167(5-6):375-90. Epub 1978/12/01. Der Pockenimpfstamm MVA: Marker, genetische Struktur, Erfahrungen mit der parenteralen Schutzimpfung und Verhalten im abwehrgeschwachten Organismus. Sutter G, Moss B. Nonreplicating vaccinia vector efficiently expresses recombinant genes. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 1992;89(22):10847-51. Epub 1992/11/15.

86. Blanchard TJ, Alcami A, Andrea P, Smith GL. Modified vaccinia virus Ankara undergoes limited replication in human cells and lacks several immunomodulatory proteins: implications for use as a human vaccine. The Journal of general virology. 1998;79 (Pt 5):1159-67. Epub 1998/05/29.

87. Gilbert SC, Schneider J, Hannan CM, Hu JT, Plebanski M, Sinden R, et al. Enhanced CD8 T-cell immunogenicity and protective efficacy in a mouse malaria model using a recombinant adenoviral vaccine in heterologous prime-boost immunisation regimes. Vaccine. 2002;20(7-8):1039-45. Epub 2002/01/23.

Vuola JM, Keating S, Webster DP, Berthoud T, Dunachie S, Gilbert SC, et al.
Differential immunogenicity of various heterologous prime-boost vaccine regimens using
DNA and viral vectors in healthy volunteers. Journal of immunology. 2005;174(1):449-55.
Epub 2004/12/22.

89. Moorthy VS, Pinder M, Reece WH, Watkins K, Atabani S, Hannan C, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of DNA/modified vaccinia virus ankara malaria vaccination in African adults. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2003;188(8):1239-44. Epub 2003/10/11.

90. Bejon P, Peshu N, Gilbert SC, Lowe BS, Molyneux CS, Forsdyke J, et al. Safety profile of the viral vectors of attenuated fowlpox strain FP9 and modified vaccinia virus Ankara recombinant for either of 2 preerythrocytic malaria antigens, ME-TRAP or the circumsporozoite protein, in children and adults in Kenya. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2006;42(8):1102-10. Epub 2006/04/01.

91. Webster DP, Dunachie S, McConkey S, Poulton I, Moore AC, Walther M, et al. Safety of recombinant fowlpox strain FP9 and modified vaccinia virus Ankara vaccines against liver-stage P. falciparum malaria in non-immune volunteers. Vaccine. 2006;24(15):3026-34. Epub 2006/02/21.

92. Dunachie SJ, Walther M, Epstein JE, Keating S, Berthoud T, Andrews L, et al. A DNA prime-modified vaccinia virus ankara boost vaccine encoding thrombospondin-related adhesion protein but not circumsporozoite protein partially protects healthy malaria-naive

adults against Plasmodium falciparum sporozoite challenge. Infection and immunity. 2006;74(10):5933-42. Epub 2006/09/22.

93. Sheehy SH, Duncan CJ, Elias SC, Choudhary P, Biswas S, Halstead FD, et al. ChAd63-MVA-vectored blood-stage malaria vaccines targeting MSP1 and AMA1: assessment of efficacy against mosquito bite challenge in humans. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2012;20(12):2355-68. Epub 2012/10/24.

94. McShane H, Pathan AA, Sander CR, Keating SM, Gilbert SC, Huygen K, et al. Recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing antigen 85A boosts BCG-primed and naturally acquired antimycobacterial immunity in humans. Nature medicine. 2004;10(11):1240-4. Epub 2004/10/27.

95. Beveridge NE, Price DA, Casazza JP, Pathan AA, Sander CR, Asher TE, et al. Immunisation with BCG and recombinant MVA85A induces long-lasting, polyfunctional Mycobacterium tuberculosis-specific CD4+ memory T lymphocyte populations. European journal of immunology. 2007;37(11):3089-100. Epub 2007/10/20.

96. Sander CR, Pathan AA, Beveridge NE, Poulton I, Minassian A, Alder N, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in Mycobacterium tuberculosis-infected individuals. American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine. 2009;179(8):724-33. Epub 2009/01/20.

97. Tameris MD, Hatherill M, Landry BS, Scriba TJ, Snowden MA, Lockhart S, et al.
Safety and efficacy of MVA85A, a new tuberculosis vaccine, in infants previously
vaccinated with BCG: a randomised, placebo-controlled phase 2b trial. Lancet.
2013;381(9871):1021-8. Epub 2013/02/09.

98. Cosma A, Nagaraj R, Buhler S, Hinkula J, Busch DH, Sutter G, et al. Therapeutic vaccination with MVA-HIV-1 nef elicits Nef-specific T-helper cell responses in chronically HIV-1 infected individuals. Vaccine. 2003;22(1):21-9. Epub 2003/11/08.

99. Dorrell L, Williams P, Suttill A, Brown D, Roberts J, Conlon C, et al. Safety and tolerability of recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara expressing an HIV-1 gag/multiepitope immunogen (MVA.HIVA) in HIV-1-infected persons receiving combination antiretroviral therapy. Vaccine. 2007;25(17):3277-83. Epub 2007/01/30.

100. Berthoud TK, Hamill M, Lillie PJ, Hwenda L, Collins KA, Ewer KJ, et al. Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA- NP+M1. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2011;52(1):1-7. Epub 2010/12/15.

101. Antrobus RD, Lillie PJ, Berthoud TK, Spencer AJ, McLaren JE, Ladell K, et al. A T-cellinducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. PloS one. 2012;7(10):e48322. Epub 2012/11/03.

102. Lillie PJ, Berthoud TK, Powell TJ, Lambe T, Mullarkey C, Spencer AJ, et al. Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2012;55(1):19-25. Epub 2012/03/24.

103. Antrobus RD, Coughlan L, Berthoud TK, Dicks MD, Hill AV, Lambe T, et al. Clinical Assessment of a Novel Recombinant Simian Adenovirus ChAdOx1 as a Vectored Vaccine Expressing Conserved Influenza A Antigens. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2013. Epub 2014/01/01.

104. Meyer RG, Britten CM, Siepmann U, Petzold B, Sagban TA, Lehr HA, et al. A phase I vaccination study with tyrosinase in patients with stage II melanoma using recombinant modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA-hTyr). Cancer immunology, immunotherapy : CII. 2005;54(5):453-67. Epub 2005/01/01.

105. Smith CL, Dunbar PR, Mirza F, Palmowski MJ, Shepherd D, Gilbert SC, et al. Recombinant modified vaccinia Ankara primes functionally activated CTL specific for a melanoma tumor antigen epitope in melanoma patients with a high risk of disease recurrence. International journal of cancer. Journal international du cancer. 2005;113(2):259-66. Epub 2004/09/24.

106. Amato RJ, Hawkins RE, Kaufman HL, Thompson JA, Tomczak P, Szczylik C, et al. Vaccination of metastatic renal cancer patients with MVA-5T4: a randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled phase III study. Clinical cancer research : an official journal of the American Association for Cancer Research. 2010;16(22):5539-47. Epub 2010/10/01.

107. Powell TJ, Peng Y, Berthoud TK, Blais ME, Lillie PJ, Hill AV, et al. Examination of influenza specific T-cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. PloS one. 2013;8(5):e62778. Epub 2013/05/10.

108. Pollard AJ, Savulescu J, Oxford J, Hill AV, Levine MM, Lewis DJ, et al. Human microbial challenge: the ultimate animal model. The Lancet infectious diseases.
2012;12(12):903-5. Epub 2012/11/24.

109. Carrat F, Vergu E, Ferguson NM, Lemaitre M, Cauchemez S, Leach S, et al. Time lines of infection and disease in human influenza: a review of volunteer challenge studies. American journal of epidemiology. 2008;167(7):775-85. Epub 2008/01/31.

110. Hayden FG, Treanor JJ, Fritz RS, Lobo M, Betts RF, Miller M, et al. Use of the oral neuraminidase inhibitor oseltamivir in experimental human influenza: randomized controlled trials for prevention and treatment. JAMA : the Journal of the American Medical Association. 1999;282(13):1240-6. Epub 1999/10/12.

111. Zaas AK, Chen M, Varkey J, Veldman T, Hero AO, 3rd, Lucas J, et al. Gene expression signatures diagnose influenza and other symptomatic respiratory viral infections in humans. Cell host & microbe. 2009;6(3):207-17. Epub 2009/08/12.

112. Killingley B, Enstone J, Booy R, Hayward A, Oxford J, Ferguson N, et al. Potential role of human challenge studies for investigation of influenza transmission. The Lancet infectious diseases. 2011;11(11):879-86. Epub 2011/07/30.

113. Fajardo-Dolci G, Gutierrez-Vega R, Arboleya-Casanova H, Villalobos A, Wilson KS,
 Garcia SG, et al. Clinical characteristics of fatalities due to influenza A (H1N1) virus in
 Mexico. Thorax. 2010;65(6):505-9. Epub 2010/06/05.

114. Singanayagam A, Singanayagam A, Wood V, Chalmers JD. Factors associated with severe illness in pandemic 2009 influenza a (H1N1) infection: implications for triage in primary and secondary care. The Journal of infection. 2011;63(4):243-51. Epub 2011/08/16.

115. Fine MJ, Auble TE, Yealy DM, Hanusa BH, Weissfeld LA, Singer DE, et al. A prediction rule to identify low-risk patients with community-acquired pneumonia. The New England journal of medicine. 1997;336(4):243-50. Epub 1997/01/23.

116. Lim WS, van der Eerden MM, Laing R, Boersma WG, Karalus N, Town GI, et al. Defining community acquired pneumonia severity on presentation to hospital: an international derivation and validation study. Thorax. 2003;58(5):377-82. Epub 2003/05/03. 117. Charles PG, Wolfe R, Whitby M, Fine MJ, Fuller AJ, Stirling R, et al. SMART-COP: a tool for predicting the need for intensive respiratory or vasopressor support in community-acquired pneumonia. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2008;47(3):375-84. Epub 2008/06/19.

118. Muller MP, McGeer AJ, Hassan K, Marshall J, Christian M, Toronto Invasive Bacterial Disease N. Evaluation of pneumonia severity and acute physiology scores to predict ICU admission and mortality in patients hospitalized for influenza. PloS one. 2010;5(3):e9563. Epub 2010/03/12.

119. Choi WI, Yim JJ, Park J, Kim SC, Na MJ, Lee WY, et al. Clinical characteristics and outcomes of H1N1-associated pneumonia among adults in South Korea. The international journal of tuberculosis and lung disease : the official journal of the International Union against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease. 2011;15(2):270-5, i. Epub 2011/01/12.

120. Man SY, Lee N, Ip M, Antonio GE, Chau SS, Mak P, et al. Prospective comparison of three predictive rules for assessing severity of community-acquired pneumonia in Hong Kong. Thorax. 2007;62(4):348-53. Epub 2006/11/24.

121. Subbe CP, Kruger M, Rutherford P, Gemmel L. Validation of a modified Early Warning Score in medical admissions. QJM : monthly journal of the Association of Physicians. 2001;94(10):521-6. Epub 2001/10/06.

122. Barlow G, Nathwani D, Davey P. The CURB65 pneumonia severity score outperforms generic sepsis and early warning scores in predicting mortality in community-acquired pneumonia. Thorax. 2007;62(3):253-9. Epub 2006/08/25.

123. Nguyen-Van-Tam JS, Openshaw PJ, Hashim A, Gadd EM, Lim WS, Semple MG, et al. Risk factors for hospitalisation and poor outcome with pandemic A/H1N1 influenza: United Kingdom first wave (May-September 2009). Thorax. 2010;65(7):645-51. Epub 2010/07/16.

124. Ho YC, Wang JL, Wang JT, Wu UI, Chang CW, Wu HS, et al. Prognostic factors for fatal adult influenza pneumonia. The Journal of infection. 2009;58(6):439-45. Epub 2009/04/24.

125. Writing Committee of the WHOCoCAoPI, Bautista E, Chotpitayasunondh T, Gao Z, Harper SA, Shaw M, et al. Clinical aspects of pandemic 2009 influenza A (H1N1) virus infection. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;362(18):1708-19. Epub 2010/05/07. 126. Louie JK, Acosta M, Jamieson DJ, Honein MA, California Pandemic Working G. Severe 2009 H1N1 influenza in pregnant and postpartum women in California. The New England journal of medicine. 2010;362(1):27-35. Epub 2009/12/25.

127. Echevarria-Zuno S, Mejia-Arangure JM, Mar-Obeso AJ, Grajales-Muniz C, Robles-Perez E, Gonzalez-Leon M, et al. Infection and death from influenza A H1N1 virus in Mexico: a retrospective analysis. Lancet. 2009;374(9707):2072-9. Epub 2009/11/17.

128. Viasus D, Pano-Pardo JR, Pachon J, Campins A, Lopez-Medrano F, Villoslada A, et al. Factors associated with severe disease in hospitalized adults with pandemic (H1N1)
2009 in Spain. Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2011;17(5):738-46. Epub
2010/09/10.

129. Bassetti M, Parisini A, Calzi A, Pallavicini FM, Cassola G, Artioli S, et al. Risk factors for severe complications of the novel influenza A (H1N1): analysis of patients hospitalized in Italy. Clinical microbiology and infection : the official publication of the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases. 2011;17(2):247-50. Epub 2010/06/04.

130. Xi X, Xu Y, Jiang L, Li A, Duan J, Du B, et al. Hospitalized adult patients with 2009 influenza A(H1N1) in Beijing, China: risk factors for hospital mortality. BMC infectious diseases. 2010;10:256. Epub 2010/08/31.

131. Perez-Padilla R, de la Rosa-Zamboni D, Ponce de Leon S, Hernandez M, Quinones-Falconi F, Bautista E, et al. Pneumonia and respiratory failure from swine-origin influenza A (H1N1) in Mexico. The New England journal of medicine. 2009;361(7):680-9. Epub 2009/07/01.

Hiba V, Chowers M, Levi-Vinograd I, Rubinovitch B, Leibovici L, Paul M. Benefit of early treatment with oseltamivir in hospitalized patients with documented 2009 influenza A (H1N1): retrospective cohort study. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy.
2011;66(5):1150-5. Epub 2011/03/12.

133. Rodriguez A, Diaz E, Martin-Loeches I, Sandiumenge A, Canadell L, Diaz JJ, et al. Impact of early oseltamivir treatment on outcome in critically ill patients with 2009 pandemic influenza A. The Journal of antimicrobial chemotherapy. 2011;66(5):1140-9. Epub 2011/03/10. 134. Yu H, Liao Q, Yuan Y, Zhou L, Xiang N, Huai Y, et al. Effectiveness of oseltamivir on disease progression and viral RNA shedding in patients with mild pandemic 2009 influenza A H1N1: opportunistic retrospective study of medical charts in China. Bmj.
2010;341:c4779. Epub 2010/09/30.

135. Pandemic flu. In: Governemnt U, editor.: Directgov; 2009.

136. Agency HP. Health Protection Agency (HPA) clinical case definition for pandemic
H1N1/09 influenza. 2009 [cited 2009 09/11/2009]; Available from:
http://www.hpa.org.uk/HPA/Topics/InfectiousDiseases/InfectionsAZ/1242949541960/#di
agnostic_crit.

137. Payne R, Darton TC, Greig JM. Systematic telephone triage of possible 'swine' influenza leads to potentially serious misdiagnosis of infectious diseases. The Journal of infection. 2009;59(5):371-2. Epub 2009/09/15.

138. Houlihan CF, Patel S, Price DA, Valappil M, Schwab U. A/H1N1 flu pandemic. Life threatening infections labelled swine flu. Bmj. 2010;340:c137. Epub 2010/01/15.

Ho A, Fox R, Seaton RA, MacConnachie A, Peters E, Mackintosh CL, et al.
Hospitalised adult patients with Suspected 2009 H1N1 Infection at Regional Infectious
Diseases Units in Scotland--most had alternative final diagnoses. The Journal of infection.
2010;60(1):83-5. Epub 2009/11/10.

140. Bicanic T, Solomon AW, Karunaharan N, Chua F, Pope C, Pond M, et al. Positive predictive value of the UK clinical case definition for H1N1/09 ('swine') influenza. The Journal of infection. 2010;60(5):405-7. Epub 2010/02/11.

141. Choi SH, Cho SY, Chung JW. Poor performance of a national clinical case definition of influenza infection during an outbreak of 2009 pandemic H1N1. The Journal of infection.
2011;62(4):325-7. Epub 2011/03/09.

142. Ebell MH, Afonso A. A systematic review of clinical decision rules for the diagnosis of influenza. Annals of family medicine. 2011;9(1):69-77. Epub 2011/01/19.

143. O'Brien D, Tobin S, Brown GV, Torresi J. Fever in returned travelers: review of hospital admissions for a 3-year period. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2001;33(5):603-9. Epub 2001/08/07.

144. O'Brien DP, Leder K, Matchett E, Brown GV, Torresi J. Illness in returned travelers and immigrants/refugees: the 6-year experience of two Australian infectious diseases units. Journal of travel medicine. 2006;13(3):145-52. Epub 2006/05/19.

145. Siikamaki HM, Kivela PS, Sipila PN, Kettunen A, Kainulainen MK, Ollgren JP, et al. Fever in travelers returning from malaria-endemic areas: don't look for malaria only. Journal of travel medicine. 2011;18(4):239-44. Epub 2011/07/05.

146. Waitumbi JN, Kuypers J, Anyona SB, Koros JN, Polhemus ME, Gerlach J, et al.
Outpatient upper respiratory tract viral infections in children with malaria symptoms in
Western Kenya. The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene. 2010;83(5):10103. Epub 2010/11/03.

147. Sandhu G, Ranade A, Ramsinghani P, Noel C. Influenza-like illness as an atypical presentation of falciparum malaria in a traveler from Africa. The Journal of emergency medicine. 2011;41(1):35-8. Epub 2010/05/12.

148. Lillie PJ, Duncan CJ, Sheehy SH, Meyer J, O'Hara GA, Gilbert SC, et al. Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. Travel medicine and infectious disease. 2012;10(4):192-6. Epub 2012/04/26.

149. Antrobus RD, Berthoud TK, Mullarkey CE, Hoschler K, Coughlan L, Zambon M, et al. Coadministration of Seasonal Influenza Vaccine and MVA-NP+M1 Simultaneously Achieves Potent Humoral and Cell-Mediated Responses. Molecular therapy : the journal of the American Society of Gene Therapy. 2014;22(1):233-8. Epub 2013/07/09.

150. Hutchings CL, Gilbert SC, Hill AV, Moore AC. Novel protein and poxvirus-based vaccine combinations for simultaneous induction of humoral and cell-mediated immunity. Journal of immunology. 2005;175(1):599-606. Epub 2005/06/24.

151. Peiris M, Yuen KY, Leung CW, Chan KH, Ip PL, Lai RW, et al. Human infection with influenza H9N2. Lancet. 1999;354(9182):916-7. Epub 1999/09/18.

152. Yuen KY, Chan PK, Peiris M, Tsang DN, Que TL, Shortridge KF, et al. Clinical features and rapid viral diagnosis of human disease associated with avian influenza A H5N1 virus. Lancet. 1998;351(9101):467-71. Epub 1998/03/03.

153. Bermejo-Martin JF, Ortiz de Lejarazu R, Pumarola T, Rello J, Almansa R, Ramirez P, et al. Th1 and Th17 hypercytokinemia as early host response signature in severe pandemic influenza. Critical care. 2009;13(6):R201. Epub 2009/12/17.

154. Woo PC, Tung ET, Chan KH, Lau CC, Lau SK, Yuen KY. Cytokine profiles induced by the novel swine-origin influenza A/H1N1 virus: implications for treatment strategies. The Journal of infectious diseases. 2010;201(3):346-53. Epub 2009/12/25.

155. Stambas J, Guillonneau C, Kedzierska K, Mintern JD, Doherty PC, La Gruta NL. Killer T-cells in influenza. Pharmacology & therapeutics. 2008;120(2):186-96. Epub 2008/09/20.

156. Vescovini R, Biasini C, Fagnoni FF, Telera AR, Zanlari L, Pedrazzoni M, et al. Massive load of functional effector CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells against cytomegalovirus in very old subjects. Journal of immunology. 2007;179(6):4283-91. Epub 2007/09/06.

157. McElhaney JE, Zhou X, Talbot HK, Soethout E, Bleackley RC, Granville DJ, et al. The unmet need in the elderly: how immunosenescence, CMV infection, co-morbidities and frailty are a challenge for the development of more effective influenza vaccines. Vaccine. 2012;30(12):2060-7. Epub 2012/02/01.

158. Semple MG, Myles PR, Nicholson KG, Lim WS, Read RC, Taylor BL, et al. An evaluation of community assessment tools (CATs) in predicting use of clinical interventions and severe outcomes during the A(H1N1)pdm09 pandemic. PloS one. 2013;8(9):e75384. Epub 2013/09/27.

159. Su S, Chaves SS, Perez A, D'Mello T, Kirley PD, Yousey-Hindes K, et al. Comparing clinical characteristics between hospitalized adults with laboratory-confirmed influenza A and B virus infection. Clinical infectious diseases : an official publication of the Infectious Diseases Society of America. 2014. Epub 2014/04/22.

160. Jones S, Evans K, McElwaine-Johnn H, Sharpe M, Oxford J, Lambkin-Williams R, et al. DNA vaccination protects against an influenza challenge in a double-blind randomised placebo-controlled phase 1b clinical trial. Vaccine. 2009;27(18):2506-12. Epub 2009/04/17.

8. Published papers

8.1 Paper 1 - Potent CD8+ T-Cell Immunogenicity in Humans of a Novel Heterosubtypic Influenza A Vaccine, MVA-NP+M1

Tamara K. Berthoud, Matthew Hamill, Patrick J. Lillie, Lenias Hwenda, Katharine A. Collins, Katie J. Ewer, Anita Milicic, Hazel C. Poyntz, Teresa Lambe, Helen A. Fletcher, Adrian V. S. Hill and Sarah C. Gilbert.

Background. Influenza A viruses cause occasional pandemics and frequent epidemics. Licensed influenza vaccines that induce high antibody titres to the highly polymorphic viral surface antigen haemagluttinin must be reformulated and re-administered annually. A vaccine providing protective immunity to the highly conserved internal antigens could provide longer lasting protection against multiple influenza subtypes.

Methods. We prepared a Modified Vaccinia virus Ankarra (MVA) vector encoding nucleoprotein and matrix protein 1 (MVA-NP+M1) and conducted a phase I clinical trial in healthy adults.

Results. The vaccine was generally safe and well tolerated, with significantly fewer local side effects after intramuscular rather than intradermal administration. Systemic side effects increased at the higher dose in both frequency and severity, with 5 out of 8 volunteers experiencing severe nausea / vomiting, malaise or rigors. Ex-vivo T-cell responses to NP and M1 measured by IFN-γ ELISPOT were significantly increased after vaccination (pre vaccination median of spot forming units/million peripheral blood mononuclear cells, post vaccination peak response median 339, 443 and 1443 in low dose intradermal, low dose intramuscular and high dose intramuscular groups, respectively) and the majority of the antigen specific T-cells were CD8+.

Conclusions. We conclude that the vaccine was both safe and remarkably immunogenic, leading to frequencies of responding T-cells that appear to be much higher than those induced by any other influenza vaccination approach. Further studies will be required to find the optimum dose and to assess whether the increased T cell response to conserved influenza proteins results in protection from influenza disease.

Licensed influenza vaccines, whether inactivated or live attenuated, are designed to induce humoral immunity to haemagglutinin (HA). Seasonal influenza vaccines are a mixture of A/H1N1, A/H3N2, and B antigens. Vaccine effectiveness is 70%-90% when the circulating virus is well matched to the vaccine, but may fall below 50% when the circulating strain has drifted significantly from the vaccine strain (1), particularly in people over 60 years of age (2). Annual revaccination is required to maintain immunity against seasonal influenza viruses.

Fears of an H5N1 pandemic resulted in the generation and testing of H5-specific vaccines, which may require the use of an adjuvant or multiple doses to achieve a protective level of immunity following vaccination (3). H5N1 viruses have continued to mutate in avian populations, and in clinical trials of unadjuvanted H5 vaccine, serological cross-reactivity to variant H5 viruses even within the same clade was only 20%-30% (4), although use of an adjuvant may improve this. Since swine origin H1N1 began to circulate in humans in April 2009, vaccine manufacturers have produced pandemic-specific vaccines, and the first doses became available in October 2009, 6 months after the virus was first identified.

Clearly, a vaccine that could provide heterosubtypic protection against all influenza A viruses would be of great benefit, and if effective and widely used, could prevent another pandemic from occurring. The efficacy of influenza vaccines designed to induce subtype cross-reactive T cells to internal influenza antigens such as nucleoprotein (NP), which is highly conserved between all influenza A subtypes, has been demonstrated in many species of animal model (5-8) and this approach has the potential to replace or supplement seasonal and pandemic-specific vaccination in humans. Influenza challenge studies in humans with low neutralising antibody titres to the challenge virus (measured by HA inhibition assay) have demonstrated a negative correlation between T cell response to viral antigens and influenza disease and viral shedding (9). Protection is thought to be mediated chiefly by CD8+ T cells, but protective immunity is short lived (10), although re-exposure to influenza virus within a few years of the first infection may result in a subclinical infection and boosting of the T cell response. Lee et al (11) reported that memory T cells recognising influenza antigens were detected in over 90% of those tested,

and showed cross-recognition of at least one H5N1 internal protein. The magnitude of the responses varied considerably, and is presumably related to the time elapsed since the most recent exposure to influenza virus. However, low-level memory T cell responses to influenza antigens have the potential to be boosted to protective levels, by further exposure to the virus or by vaccination. Live attenuated influenza vaccines have been shown to induce modest T cell responses in children, but did not significantly boost T cell responses to influenza in adults with T cell responses induced by natural exposure (12).

Modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) is a highly attenuated virus that has been shown to boost T cell responses to recombinant antigens encoded by the virus in many clinical studies aimed at developing new vaccines for malaria, human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and tuberculosis (TB). MVA has an excellent safety profile, and has been tested in children (13), as well as HIV-positive (14) and latently TB-infected individuals (15). MVA has been used to boost both CD4+ and CD8+ responses primed by prior DNA, fowlpox (16), adenovirus (17), or Bacille Calmette-Guerin immunisation (18) or HIV infection (14). Since adults have been primed by prior exposure to influenza, MVA expressing conserved internal antigens of influenza such as NP and matrix protein 1 (M1) could be used to boost cross-reactive T cell responses, providing broad immunity to all subtypes of influenza A. An illustration of the conservation of the vaccine antigens is given in Table 1, showing the identity and divergence of the amino acid sequences of NP and M1 in the vaccine MVA-NP+M1 and human isolates of H3N2, H1N1, H5N1 and swine origin H1N1. The identity and divergence of HA are given for comparison. The high degree of identity with H3N2 is not surprising since the vaccine antigens are derived from the H3N2 virus A/Panama/2007/99, but both antigens are more than 90% identical with homologues from seasonal H1N1, swine origin H1N1 and H5N1 viruses, whereas identity drops as low as 43% between the HA proteins of the same 4 viruses. We now report on the safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1, a vaccine designed to boost pre-existing T cell responses to conserved influenza antigens, in a phase I clinical study in healthy adult volunteers.

Table 1. Sequence Identity (Top) and Divergence (Bottom) Between Antigens in MVA-NP1M1 and Other Influenza A Viruses

A : Nucleoprotein

	Vaccine	H3N2	H1N1	H5N1	SO H1N1
Vaccine	Х	98.0	91.8	91.4	90.2
H3N2	2.0	Х	91.4	90.8	89.8
H1N1	8.7	9.2	Х	92.0	90.0
H5N1	9.2	9.9	8.5	Х	93.6
SO H1N1	10.5	11.0	10.8	6.7	Х

B : Matrix Protein 1

	Vaccine	H3N2	H1N1	H5N1	SO H1N1
Vaccine	Х	99.2	94.9	92.9	92.1
H3N2	0.8	Х	95.7	92.9	92.1
H1N1	5.3	4.5	Х	93.3	93.7
H5N1	7.5	7.5	7.1	Х	96.0
SO H1N1	8.4	8.4	6.6	4.1	Х

C : Haemagglutinin

	Vaccine	H3N2	H1N1	H5N1	SO H1N1
Vaccine	Х	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
H3N2	N/A	Х	42.6	44.0	42.8
H1N1	N/A	100.0	Х	79.3	63.1
H5N1	N/A	97.3	24.2	Х	63.8
SO H1N1	N/A	100.0	50.4	49.1	Х

NOTE. Calculated using DNAStar MegAlign 8.0 after Jotun Hein alignment. Percent identity 5 (Matches x 100)/Length of aligned region (with gaps); divergence is calculated by comparing sequence pairs in relation to the reconstructed phylogeny. Viruses are H3N2: A/Pennsylvania/PIT08/2008 (NP: CY035057, M1: CY035055, HA: CY035054), H1N1: A/Washington/AF06/2007 (NP: CY037330, M1: CY037328, HA: CY037327), H5N1: A/Beijing/01/2003 (NP: EF587278, M1: EF587280, HA: EF587277), SO H1N1: A/Canada-NS/ RV1535/2009 (NP: FJ998216, M1: FJ998210, HA: FJ998207).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sequence Alignments. Sequences were obtained from the National Centre for Biotechnology Information GenBank and aligned using Lasergene DNAStar 8.0 MegAlign, Jotun Hein method.

Vaccine Design and Manufacture. The vaccine antigen expressed from MVA consists of the complete NP and M1 from A/Panama/2007/99 joined by a 7 amino acid linker sequence, and is expressed from the Vaccinia P7.5 promoter inserted at the thymidine kinase locus of MVA. Generation of the recombinant virus and subsequent Good Manufacturing Practice (GMP) manufacture used primary chick embryo fibroblast (CEF) cells. GMP manufacture and release testing of the vaccine were carried out by Impfstoffwerk (Dessau-Tornau, Germany).

Study Population. Twenty-eight subjects were recruited for immunisation studies under a protocol approved by the United Kingdom's Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency and Gene Therapy Advisory Committee and were enrolled only after obtaining written informed consent (www.clinicaltrials.gov, identifier: NCT00942071). Inclusion criteria required volunteers to be aged 18-50 years, resident in the Oxford area, and seronegative for HIV antibodies, hepatitis B surface antigen and hepatitis C antibodies. Women who were pregnant or lactating, and volunteers who had previously received an MVA (but not vaccinia) vaccine, or who had a history of egg allergy or anaphylaxis following vaccination, were excluded. No information about prior seasonal influenza vaccination was recorded, but volunteers did not fall into the target population for vaccination within the UK and were unlikely to have received vaccination.

Vaccination and Follow-up Regime. Following receipt of information about the study, volunteers attended a screening visit to assess their suitability for the study. Each group was completed and vaccine safety assessed before enrolling the next group. All eligible volunteers were enrolled into the next available group. A single vaccination was administered at a subsequent visit, with the dose and route of vaccination varying

between the study groups. Group 1 received 5 x 10^7 pfu intradermally (dose volume 385 microlitres), group 2 received the same dose intramuscularly, and group 3 received 2.5 x 10⁸ pfu intramuscularly (dose volume 1920 microlitres). Blood was drawn to assess the T cell response to NP and M1 on the day of vaccination and 1,3,8,12,24 and 52 weeks after vaccination. Volunteers also attended a follow-up visit 2 days after vaccination; adverse events were elicited by open questions at that visit and all visits up to week 12 and were also recorded on a diary card by the volunteer for the first week after vaccination. Mild events were defined as awareness of a symptom that was easily tolerated, moderate as discomfort enough to cause interference with usual activity, and severe as incapacitating, inability to perform usual activities, requiring absenteeism or bed rest. Information about influenza-like illness was also recorded, with no volunteer reporting symptoms within the first 3 weeks following vaccination, and very few reports of coryzal illness at later time points. Vaccinations were carried out from August to November 2008 (group 1), February to March 2009 (group 2) and March to May 2009 (group 3). Circulating seasonal influenza A strains during this period were H3N2 – A/Brisbane/10/2007 and H1N1 – A/Brisbane/59/2007.

Ex Vivo IFN-y ELISPOT. Ex vivo interferon-gamma enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot (IFN-y ELISPOT) assays were performed using cryopreserved peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs). PBMCs were cryopreserved in fetal calf serum (FCS) (Biosera Ltd) with 10% dimethyl sulfoxide (Sigma) at -80°C in a Mr Frosty container, then transferred and stored in liquid nitrogen. PBMCs were thawed quickly in warm R10 (R10: RPMI 1640 with 10% FCS, 100IU/ml penicillin, 0.1mg/ml streptomycin (all Sigma) and 2mM L-glutamine (GIBCO / Invitrogen), washed and re-suspended in R10 with 2µl/ml of 25U/ml Benzonase nuclease (Novagen) and left to rest overnight at 37°C. The following day the cells were washed and counted for use in the assays. The ex vivo IFN-y ELISPOT was carried out as previously described (19). Fifteen- to 20-mer peptides overlapping by 10 amino acid residues, spanning the whole of the NP+M1 insert, were used to stimulate PBMCs at a concentration of 10µg/ml. The peptides were split into 8 pools of 10 peptides; pools 1-6 contained peptides from the NP sequence, and pools 6-8 contained peptides from the M1 sequence. Fifty microliters of PBMC's (2 x 105 cells) and 50 μ l of the peptides were added in triplicate. R10 was used as a negative control, and phytohaemagluttinin (PHA) at a final concentration of 10μ g/ml was used as a positive control. Following an 18 to 20 hour incubation at 37°C, the ELISPOT plates were dried and read with an AID ELISPOT reader

(AID Diagnostika). The results are expressed as spot-forming units (SFUs) per million PBMCs, calculated by subtracting the mean R10 negative control response from the mean peptide pool response. To determine the ELISPOT response to the vaccine insert, the response to each peptide pool was summed following background subtraction. Plates were excluded if a response of over 100 SFU/ million PBMCs was seen in the R10 wells or under 1000 SFU in the PHA wells.

Intracellular Cytokine Staining. One to 2 million cryopreserved PBMCs were stimulated with a single pool of all NP+M1 peptides at a final concentration of 4 µg/ml and 1 µg/ml of co-stimulatory antibodies αCD28 and αCD49d (BD Pharmingen). Cells were incubated for 18 hours at 37°C. After the first 2 hours of incubation, 10 µg/ml brefeldin A and monensin (eBiosciences) was added. PBMCs were stained with: CD3 Alexa Fluor 700 (eBioscience-UCHT1), CD8-APC-AF780 (eBioscience-RPAT8), CD4-QD655 (Invitrogen-S3.5), IFN-γ FITC (eBioscience-4S.B.3), CD14 Pacific Blue (Invitrogen-TuK4), CD19 Pacific Blue (Invitrogen-SJ25-C1), and VIVIV Pacific Blue (Invitrogen). Over 300,000 gated lymphocyte events were acquired on a Becton Dickinson LSRII flow cytometer using FACSDiva software (BD Biosciences) and analysed using Flow Jo, Version 8.3 (Tree Star Inc). Unstained cells and single stained anti-human compensation beads (BD Biosciences) were used as controls to automatically calculate compensation. All antibodies were titrated for optimal staining.

Statistical Analysis. Fishers exact test was used to detect significant differences in adverse events between the 3 vaccine groups. If such a difference existed, groups 1_and 2 were compared and the difference in proportions presented, and similarly for groups 2and 3. Non-parametric tests were used to determine differences in the ELISPOT data; Wilcoxon signed rank test was performed to test for differences in the ELISPOT responses between time points within a vaccine group, and Mann-Whitney U test was performed to detect differences in ELISPOT responses between different vaccine groups.

MVA-NP+M1 is Safe in Healthy Volunteers. Volunteers were given a single dose 5×10^7 pfu intradermally (group 1, 12 subjects), 5×10^7 pfu intramuscularly (group 2, 8 subjects) or 2.5 $\times 10^8$ pfu intramuscularly (group 3, 8 subjects). Adverse events are presented in Figure 1. Volunteers receiving the vaccine via the intramuscular route, at either dose, experienced significantly less erythema, itch, swelling and warmth at the injection site than those vaccinated intradermally, regardless of the vaccine dose. All local adverse events were grade 1 severity apart from 1 volunteer in group 1 and 2 volunteers in group 2, who each experienced one grade 2 adverse event. No significant differences in systemic adverse events were reported by the volunteers receiving the low-dose vaccine by either route (no grade 3 adverse events in either group), but there was a significant increase in malaise, nausea/vomiting and rigors in the group receiving the high-dose vaccination with 5 volunteers experiencing 1 or more severe adverse events (Figure 1B).



Figure 1. Local and systemic adverse events recorded after vaccination. Black: group 1 (n = 12). White: group 2 (n = 8). Striped: group 3 (n = 8). (A) Local adverse events. Significantly less (P < 05, Fisher's exact test) erythema, itch, swelling, and warmth at the injection site were detected in those receiving intramuscular vaccine than those vaccinated intradermally, regardless of the vaccine dose. Significantly less scaling was recorded in the low-dose compared with the high-dose intramuscular group. (B) Systemic adverse events. No significant differences in systemic adverse events were reported by the volunteers receiving the low-dose vaccine by either route, but there was a significant increase in malaise, nausea/vomiting, and rigors in the group receiving the high dose (P < 05, Fisher's exact test). Severe adverse events only occurred in the high-dose group, with 2 volunteers reporting severe pain at the injection site, 1 reporting malaise, 1 vomiting, 2 rigors, and 1 sweating. All severe adverse events resolved within 48 hours of vaccination, apart from 1 volunteer reporting severe pain at the injection site on the 3 days following vaccination. The majority of mild and moderate adverse events also took place within 48 hours of vaccination, although mild erythema at the injection site lasted for up to 49 days for those receiving intradermal vaccination.

Ex vivo IFN- γ ELISPOT responses to the whole NP and M1 vaccine insert were measured in cryopreserved PBMCs at baseline (week 0) and at 1, 3, 8, 12, 26, and 52 weeks after immunization (Figure 2A-C). All volunteers had measurable responses to NP and M1 prior to vaccination (median 123 SFU / million PBMC). A significant increase in the number of SFUs detected following vaccination was seen in all 3 groups as measured by Wilcoxon signed rank test at weeks 1 and 3. Responses were also significantly above pre-vaccination level at weeks 8 and 12 for group 1, and weeks 8, 12 and 24 for group 3. The route of immunization did not appear to affect the magnitude of the immune response at low dose (no significant difference between groups 1 and 2) whereas the increase in dose from 5 x 10^7 pfu (group 2) to 2.5 x 10^8 pfu (group 3) resulted in significant increase in immune response at weeks 1, 3, 8, 12 and 24.



Figure 2. Ex vivo IFN-*g* ELISPOT responses to the vaccine insert. Median with individual ex vivo IFN- γ ELISPOT responses from vaccinated volunteers at baseline (week 0), and weeks 1, 3, 8, 12, 24, and 52 weeks after immunization. (A) group 1; (B) group 2; (C) group 3. Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to determine significant differences in the post- and prevaccination time points. (A) week 1, *P* = .0059; week 3, *P* = .0098; week 8, *P* = .0078; week 12, *P* = .0049. (B) week 1, *P* = .0313; week 3, *P* = .0313. (C) week 1, *P* = .0078; week 3, *P* = .0078; week 8, *P* = .0078; week 12, *P* = .0078; week 24, *P* = .023. Significant differences were detected between groups 2 (B) and 3 (C) at all postvaccination time points apart from week 52 (Mann- Whitney *U* test: week 1, *P* = .006; week 3, *P* = .04; week 8, *P* = .01; week 12, *P* = .02; week 24, *P* = .012).

Vaccination Boosts Both CD4+ and CD8+ Antigen-Specific T cells. Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) analysis was carried out to determine whether the IFN-γ detected in the ex vivo ELISPOT was produced by CD3+ CD4+ or CD3+ CD8+ T cells. ICS was carried out at week 0, week 1 and week 8 on cryopreserved PBMCs from all volunteers in group 3. The CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses following background subtraction are shown in figure 3. A significant increase in IFN-γ production from CD8+ T cells was detected following vaccination at week 1 and week 8. The percentage of antigen-specific CD8+ cells producing IFN-γ was higher than the corresponding of CD4+ T cells both before and after vaccination. Interlukin-2 and tumor necrosis factor alpha (IL-2 and TNF-α) production and CD107a expression were also analyzed in the CD4+ and CD8+ populations, revealing quadruple, triple, double and single functional cells in both populations (Figure 4). CD107a, a marker of degranulation and cytotoxicity, was present both with and without IFN-γ.



Figure 3. $CD3^+CD4^+$ and $CD3^+CD8^+$ IFN- γ responses to vaccine insert as measured by intracellular cytokine staining. Intracellular IFN- γ responses after background subtraction in (A) $CD3^+CD8^+$ and (B) $CD3^+CD4^+$ cell populations stimulated with 1 pool of peptides spanning the complete NP+M1 vaccine insert. Volunteers in group 3 were tested at weeks 0, 1, and 8. Median % IFN- γ within $CD3^+CD8^+$ cells at week 1 = .4% and week 8 = .33%; median % IFN- γ cells within $CD3^+CD4^+$ population at week 1 = .098% and week 8 = .039%



Figure 4. IFN- γ , IL-2, TNF- α , and CD107a multifunctional cells detected by ICS in CD3⁺CD8⁺ and CD3⁺CD4⁺ populations. Mean percentage of quadruple (black), triple (dark gray), double (light gray), and single (white) functional cells detected within the CD8⁺ (A) and CD4⁺(B) populations. Within the CD8⁺ population, the most frequently detected triple positive cells were CD107a⁺IFN- γ^{+} TNF- α^{+} ; the most frequently detected double positive cells were CD107a⁺ cells were the most frequently detected single positive cells. Within the CD4⁺ cells, the most frequently detected triple positive cells were IFN- γ^{+} IL-2⁺; and TNF- α^{+} cells were the most frequently detected single positive cells ingle positive cells. At all time points the frequency of antigen-specific cytokine positive cells was greater in the CD8⁺ population (week 0, CD8⁺ = 1.92% and CD4⁺ = .12%; week 1, CD8⁺ = 2.43% and CD4⁺ = .58%; week 8, CD8⁺ = 3.96% and CD4⁺ = 1.19%).

DISCUSSION

We report here the first clinical study of a novel influenza vaccine designed to boost crossreactive immune responses to all influenza A subtypes. Many studies have reported intradermal vaccination with MVA, and the side effect profile seen with MVA-NP+M1 is comparable (20). The same dose administered by the intramuscular route resulted in significantly fewer local, but not systemic, adverse events. At the higher dose of 2.5 x 10^8 pfu administered as an intramuscular injection, there was an increase in both the frequency and severity of systemic adverse events compared with the lower dose of 5 x 10^7 pfu. For further studies with this vaccine the dose will be reduced to 1.5×10^8 pfu. The magnitude of the immune response to vaccination determined by ex vivo IFN- γ ELISPOT did not differ with the route of administration, but increased at the higher dose. ICS analysis for IFN- γ production by CD3⁺ CD4⁺ and CD3⁺ CD8⁺ cells was also carried out in the high-dose intramuscular group and showed that more antigen-specific CD3⁺ CD8⁺ T cells than CD3⁺ CD4⁺ T cells were present after vaccination. IL-2, TNF- α and CD107a were also produced by antigen-specific cells. Further studies are required to determine which T cell phenotypes, whether lytic or cytokine producing, are capable of prevention of disease following exposure to influenza virus.

A vaccine that boosts cross-reactive T cell responses to conserved internal antigens of influenza has the potential to modify or prevent disease and virus shedding in vaccinees, thus reducing morbidity and transmission whether the virus is one that continually circulates in humans or is a different subtype with the potential to cause a pandemic. Vaccines based on HA protein must be produced not only for each virus subtype, but for the continually evolving sequences within each subtype. MVA-vectored vaccines can be produced at a large scale for human vaccination and are safe for use. MVA-NP+M1 could be used alone, or in combination with an anti-HA antibody producing component, to provide broad protection against all influenza A viruses, thereby improving vaccine efficacy over that currently achieved, particularly in seasons when the circulating virus has drifted from the vaccine strain, and to provide protection when a global pandemic occurs, regardless of the virus subtype.

Currently the magnitude of the T cell response to NP and M1 required to prevent influenza disease in humans is not known. However, the magnitude of the induced T cell responses measured here are noteworthy. A median response of 1443 SFU / million PBMCs at the peak time point substantially exceeds the T cell responses induced in any of the large numbers of phase I and II trials of potent vectored vaccines in HIV, malaria and cancer (21,22). In the STEP trial of an adenovirus vectored vaccine against HIV-1, the geometric mean T cell response at peak was around 300 SFU / million PBMCs to the vaccine antigens. The much higher immunogenicity identified here likely results from the level of T cell response prior to vaccination attributable to natural influenza virus exposure, combined with the remarkable boosting ability of MVA-vectored vaccines. A similar potent boosting of pre-existing T cell responses and induction of poly-functional T cell responses is observed with an MVA vector encoding a TB antigen (23). In contrast, a trial of the cold-adapted influenza virus vaccine, FluMist, found that although it could induce modest T cell responses in children, it did not significantly boost T cell responses in adults with T cell responses induced by natural exposure (12).

A further notable finding is the greater CD8⁺ than CD4⁺ T cell response after vaccination. In the only other previous example of vaccine-induced T cell response exceeding 1000 SFU / million PBMCs to an antigenic insert, the response was predominately of CD4⁺ T cells (24). This reflects the proportions of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells detected prior to vaccination in each case and adds growing evidence that MVA vectors can boost both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells effectively in humans.

Further planned studies will address the ability of this MVA vaccine to boost pre-existing T cell responses to the conserved influenza antigens NP and M1 in an extended age range, as well as the efficacy of the vaccine in preventing influenza disease and virus shedding via influenza virus challenge studies.

REFERENCES

- Centres for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Interim within season estimate of the effectiveness of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine-Marshfield, Wisconsin, 2007-2008 influenza season. MMWR, Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008; 57: 393-398
- de Jong JC, Beyer WE, Palache AM, Rimmelzwaan GF, Osterhaus AD. Mismatch between the 1997/1998 influenza vaccine and the major epidemic (H3N2) virus strain as the cause of an inadequate vaccine-induced antibody response to this strain in the elderly. J Med Virol 2000; 61: 94-99
- Galli G, Medini D, Borgogni E, et al. Adjuvanted H5N1 vaccine induces early CD4+ T cell response that predicts long-term persistence of protective antibody levels. Proc Natl Aca Sci USA 2009: 106; 3877-3882
- Nolan TM, Richmond PC, Skeljo MV, et al. Phase I and II randomised trials of the safety and immunogenicity of a prototype adjuvanted inactivated split virus influenza A (H5N1) vaccine in healthy adults. Vaccine 2008: 26; 4160-4167
- Breathnach CC, Clark HJ, Clark RC, Olsen CW, Townsend HG, Lunn DP. Immunization with recombinant modified Vaccinia Ankara (rMVA) constructs encoding the HA or NP gene protects ponies from equine influenza virus challenge. Vaccine 2006: 24; 1180-1190
- Donnelly JJ, Friedman A, Ulmer JB, Liu MA. Further protection against antigenic drift of influenza virus in a ferret model by DNA vaccination. Vaccine 1997: 15; 865-868
- Epstein SL, Kong WP, Misplon JA, et al. Protection against multiple influenza A subtypes by vaccination with highly conserved nucleoprotein. Vaccine 2005: 23; 5404-5410
- Laddy DJ, Yan J, Khan AS, et al. Electroporation of synthetic DNA antigens offers protection in nonhuman primates challenged with highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. J Virol 2009: 83; 4624-4630
- McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Noble GR, Beare PA. Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to influenza. N Engl J Med 1983: 309; 13-17
- 10. McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Dongworth DW, Clark A, Potter CW. Declining T-cell immunity to influenza, 1977-1982. Lancet 1983: 2; 762-764
- 11. Lee LY, Ha DLA, Simmons C, et al. Memory T-cells established by seasonal influenza A infection cross-react with avian influenza A (H5N1) in healthy

individuals. J Clin Invest 2008: 118; 3478-3490

- He XS, Holmes TH, Zhang C, et al. Cellular immune responses in children and adults receiving inactivated or live attenuated influenza vaccines. J Virol 2006: 80; 11756-11766
- Bejon P, Peshu N, Gilbert SC, et al. Safety profile of the viral vectors of attenuated fowlpox strain FP9 and modified Vaccinia virus Ankara recombinant for either of 2 pre-erythrocytic antigens, ME-TRAP or the circumsporozoite protein, in children and adults in Kenya. Clin Infect Dis 2006: 42; 1102-1110
- 14. Dorrell L, Yang H, Iversen AK, et al. Therapeutic immunization of highly active antiretroviral therapy treated HIV-1 infected patients: safety and immunogenicity of an HIV-1 gag/poly-epitope DNA vaccine. AIDS 2005: 19; 1321-1323
- 15. Sander CR, Pathan AA, Beveridge NE, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a new tuberculosis vaccine, MVA85A, in Mycobacterium tuberculosis infected individuals. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2009: 179; 724-733
- 16. Vuola JM, Keating S, Webster DP, et al. Differential immunogenicity of various heterologous prime-boost vaccine regimens using DNA and viral vectors in healthy volunteers. J Immunol 2005: 174; 449-455
- 17. Gilbert SC, Schneider J, Hannan CM, et al. Enhanced CD8 T cell immunogenicity and protective efficacy in a mouse malaria model using a recombinant adenoviral vaccine in heterologous prime-boost immunization regimes. Vaccine 2002: 20; 1039-1045
- McShane H, Pathan AA, Sander CR, et al. Recombinant modified Vaccinia virus Ankara expressing antigen 85A boosts BCG-primed and naturally acquired antimycobacterial immunity in humans. Nat Med 2004: 10; 1240-1244
- 19. Berthoud TK, Fletcher H, Porter D, Thompson F, Hill AV, Todryk SM. Comparing human T cell and NK cell responses in viral based malaria vaccine trials. Vaccine 2009: 28; 21-27
- Webster DP, Dunachie S, McConkey S, et al. Safety of recombinant fowlpox strain 9 FP9 and modified Vaccinia virus Ankara vaccines against liver stage
 P.falciparum malaria in non-immune volunteers. Vaccine 2006: 24; 3026-3034
- 21. Dunachie SJ, Walther M, Epstein JE, et al. A DNA prime-modified Vaccinia virus Ankara boost vaccine encoding thrombospondin-related adhesion protein but not circumsporozoite protein partially protects healthy malaria-naïve adults against Plasmodium falciparum sporozoite challenge. Infect Immun 2006: 74; 5933-5942

- Priddy FH, Brown D, Kublin J, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of a replicationincompetent adenovirus type 5 HIV-1 clade B gag/pol/nef vaccine in healthy adults. Clin Infect Dis 2008: 46; 1769-1781
- Beveridge N, Price D, Casazza J, et al. Immunization with BCG and recombinant MVA85A induces long-lasting, polyfunctional Mycobacterium tuberculosisspecific CD4+ memory T lymphocyte populations. Eur J Immunol 2007: 37; 3089-3100
- 24. Whelan KT, Pathan AA, Sander CR, et al. Safety and immunogenicity of boosting BCG vaccinated subjects with BCG; comparison with a new B vaccine MVA85A. PLoS ONE 2009: 4; e5934

8.2 Paper 2 - A T Cell Inducing Influenza Vaccine for the Elderly: Safety and Immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in Adults Aged over 50 Years

Richard D. Antrobus^{1.}, Patrick J. Lillie^{1.}, Tamara K. Berthoud^{1.}, Alexandra J. Spencer, James E. McLaren, Kristin Ladell, Teresa Lambe, Anita Milicic, David A. Price, Adrian V. S. Hill, Sarah C. Gilbert.

1 - These authors contributed equally to this work

ABSTRACT

Background. Current influenza vaccines have reduced immunogenicity and are of uncertain efficacy in older adults. We assessed the safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1, a viral vectored influenza vaccine designed to boost memory T-cell responses, in a group of older adults.

Methods. Thirty volunteers (aged 50–85) received a single intramuscular injection of MVA-NP+M1 at a dose of 1.5×10^8 plaque forming units (pfu). Safety and immunogenicity were assessed over a period of one year. The frequency of T cells specific for nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix protein 1 (M1) was determined by interferon-gamma (IFN- γ) ELISPOT, and their phenotypic and functional properties were characterized by polychromatic flow cytometry. In a subset of M1-specific CD8+ T cells, T cell receptor (TCR) gene expression was evaluated using an unbiased molecular approach.

Results. Vaccination with MVA-NP+M1 was well tolerated. ELISPOT responses were boosted significantly above baseline following vaccination. Increases were detected in both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell subsets. Clonality studies indicated that MVA- NP+M1 expanded pre-existing memory CD8+ T cells, which displayed a predominant CD27+CD45RO+CD57-CCR7- phenotype both before and after vaccination. *Conclusions*. MVA-NP+M1 is safe and immunogenic in older adults. Unlike seasonal influenza vaccination, the immune responses generated by MVA-NP+M1 are similar between younger and older individuals. A T cell inducing vaccine such as MVA-NP+M1 may therefore provide a way to circumvent the immunosenescence that impairs routine influenza vaccination.

INTRODUCTION

Winter epidemics of influenza in the UK have caused 7,000– 25,000 deaths in the past decade (1999–2010) (1). In addition, influenza infection exerts pressure on healthcare systems and results in substantial economic losses. The burden of disease in developed countries disproportionately affects the elderly, with approximately 90% of influenza-associated excess deaths occurring among people aged 65 years and older (2). Indeed, in those over the age of 75 years, 25–81% of all deaths in the UK in the last decade have been attributed to influenza virus infection (1). Government-funded vaccination programmes for influenza exist in many countries and include elderly individuals in their target populations (3]) Unfortunately, the rates of seroprotection and seroconversion following vaccination are significantly lower in the elderly (4). A recent systematic review found vaccine efficacy was 59% in adults aged under 65 years, but no trials assessing protection from laboratory-confirmed influenza have been conducted in subjects aged over 65 years (5).

In the elderly, immunosenescence can negatively impact the ability of the immune system to mount an effective immune response to new pathogens and vaccines. Characteristics of immunosenescence include: (i) a decrease in B cell function, which is thought to result from defective T cell help; (ii) thymic involution and an associated reduction in naive T cell output; (iii) expansion of selected memory T cell clones driven by persistent viral infections such as CMV (reported to affect up to 90% of elderly individuals) (6) and; (iv) increases in anergic CD28 T cells and regulatory T cells (7). Accordingly, there is an urgent need for an effective influenza vaccine targeted to the requirements of the ageing immune system.

In addition to seasonal epidemics, influenza can cause pandemics, typically following a viral antigenic shift. Therefore, new vaccine candidates should ideally induce an element

of cross-strain (heterosubtypic) immunity (8). One approach is to generate high frequencies of CD8+ T cells directed against conserved influenza antigens (9). Viralvectored vaccines elicit potent T cell responses and therefore represent a promising strategy in this regard. Modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) is a highly attenuated strain of vaccinia virus in which viral replication is blocked at a late stage of virion assembly (10). Recombinant MVAs are therefore efficient single-round expression vectors, and have been used to prime or boost T cell responses to a diverse range of pathogen-specific and tumour-derived antigens. Previously, we have shown that a recombinant MVA expressing the nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix protein 1 (M1) sequences from a H3N2 strain of influenza A (termed MVA-NP+M1), was safe and immunogenic in young adults, significantly boosted T cell responses to NP and M1 [11] and has a protective effect against influenza challenge (12). Such an approach may help to circumvent the limitations of immunosenescence, by boosting pre-existing memory T cell responses rather than by attempting *de novo* priming from the naïve lymphocyte pool. We have now extended the Phase I trial into older adults, and demonstrate here that MVA-NP+M1 is safe and highly immunogenic in this population.

METHODS

Study Design. This was a Phase I open-label, non-randomized vaccine trial. The study was conducted at the Centre for Clinical Vaccinology and Tropical Medicine, University of Oxford, Oxford, UK. The clinical trial protocol and supporting CONSORT checklist are available as Supplementary Information; see Protocol S1 and Checklist S1. The trial protocol was approved within the UK by the Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency and the Gene Therapy Advisory Committee. The stated objectives of the trial were to assess the safety and the cellular immune response of a new influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, when administered to healthy volunteers. The trial was registered at www.clinicaltrials.gov (identifier: NCT00942071).

Participants. Thirty subjects were enrolled in three stratified age groups: 50– 59 years, 60–69 years and 70+ years (10 volunteers per group). Younger volunteers from our previous two clinical trials were used for comparative purposes (11,12). All volunteers were healthy adults, resident in the Oxford area, with negative pre-vaccination tests for

HIV antibodies, hepatitis B surface antigen and hepatitis C antibodies (see Supplementary Information: Protocol S1 for the full list of inclusion and exclusion criteria). Written informed consent was obtained in all cases. The planned sample size was 10 in each age group. This sample size should allow determination of the magnitude of the outcome measures, especially of serious and severe adverse events, rather than aiming to obtain statistical significance.

MVA-NP+M1 Vaccine. The vaccine was described previously and consists of MVA expressing the NP and M1 antigens from influenza A as a single fusion protein (11).

Procedures. Volunteers were vaccinated on the day of enrolment with a single intramuscular injection of MVA-NP+M1 at a dose of 1.5×10^{8} pfu into the deltoid region of the arm. Blood was taken prior to the vaccination (week 0), and volunteers were observed for a period of 1 hour following the vaccination. Volunteers were given a digital thermometer, tape measure and symptom diary card to record their daily temperature, injection site reactions and solicited adverse events for 7 days. Two days after vaccination, volunteers were reviewed in clinic and assessed for potential adverse events. Volunteers were reassessed and blood samples were taken at subsequent visits, which occurred at 1, 3, 8, 12, 24, and 52 weeks post-vaccination.

Interferon-gamma ELISPOT. Ex vivo interferon-gamma enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot (IFN- γ ELISPOT) assays were performed using fresh peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) as described previously (13). Cells were washed and resuspended in RPMI 1640 containing 10% fetal calf serum, 100 IU/ml penicillin, 100 mg/ml streptomycin (all Sigma), and 2 mM L-glutamine (Life Technologies) (R10 medium). Peptides of 15–20 amino acids in length, overlapping by 10 amino acids and spanning the whole of the NP+M1 insert, were used to stimulate PBMC at a final concentration of 10 mg/ml in 8 pools of 10 peptides. R10 medium alone was used as a negative control, and a mixture of phytohaemagglutinin (PHA; 10 mg/ml) and staphylococcal enterotoxin B (SEB; 1 mg/ml) was used as a positive control. Each condition was assayed in triplicate using 2 x 10^5 PBMC in a final volume of 100µl per well. ELISPOT plates were incubated for 18-20 hours at 37°C. Developed and dried ELISPOT plates were analysed with an AID ELISPOT reader (AID Diagnostika). Results are expressed as spot-forming units (SFU) per million PBMC, calculated by subtracting the mean R10 negative control response from the mean peptide pool response and summing the net response for the 8 peptide pools. Plates were excluded if responses were greater than 100 SFU / million PBMC in the R10 wells, or less than 1,000 SFU / million PBMC in the PHA/SEB wells.

Intracellular Cytokine Staining. Intracellular cytokine staining (ICS) was performed using two different T cell staining panels at week 0, week 1 and week 3. The first panel detected Th1-type cytokine (IFN- γ , IL-2 and TNF- α) production and CD107a mobilization. The second panel detected CD107a mobilization, granzyme B expression, and the production of IL-10 and IL-17. Reagent details are provided in Table S1.

Fresh PBMC $(1-2 \times 10^{6})$ were stimulated for 18 hours at 37°C with either a single pool comprising of all the NP+M1 peptides at a final concentration of 4 mg/ml, SEB (1 mg/ml) or medium alone. The costimulatory monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) α CD28 and α CD49d (1 mg/ml each; BD Pharmingen) were added to panel 1, and α CD107a-PE-Cy5 (10 ml; eBioscience) was added to both panels. After 2 hours, brefeldin A and monensin (both eBioscience) were added. The cells were then washed, stained with the reagents listed in Table S1 according to standard procedures and acquired using an LSR II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences). Data were analysed using FlowJo version 9.4 (Tree Star, Inc.). Unstained cells and compensation beads (BD Biosciences) stained singly with the individual mAbs in each panel were used as controls to calculate compensation. All mAbs were titrated for optimal staining. Between 13,000 and 700,000 live, CD14⁻CD19⁻ lymphocyte events were collected and analysed per condition.

TCR Clonotyping. Cryopreserved PBMC were thawed and labelled with PE- conjugated GILGFVFTL/HLA A*0201 tetramer as described previously (14), then washed and surface stained with the directly conjugated mAbs listed in Table S1. Dead cells were excluded using LIVE/DEAD[©] Fixable Violet (Life Technologies), together with CD14+ and CD19+ events, in a single "dump" channel. Viable CD3+CD8+tetramer+ cells (918–5,000 per population) were sorted at 98% purity using a customized FACSAria II flow cytometer (BD Biosciences) and clonotypic analysis was conducted using a template-switch anchored RT-

PCR as described previously (14,15). The IMGT nomenclature was used to assign *TRB* gene usage (16).

Statistical Analysis. Statistical analysis was carried out using GraphPad Prism software version 5.04. The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test was employed to test for significant differences between groups of volunteers, and the non-parametric Wilcoxon signed rank test was used to test for significant differences between time points within the same group of volunteers.

RESULTS

Thirty volunteers were enrolled between April 06, 2010 and November 30, 2011 (Figure 1 and Table 1).



Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram of the trial.
Table 1. Demographic Chacteristics of Voluntee	ers Vaccinated in Each Cohort
--	-------------------------------

Group	Age Range	Mean Age	Females
	(years)	(years)	
50-59	50-59	55.2	50%
60-69	60-66	63.3	70%
70+	72-85	79.0	50%

Vaccination was well tolerated and no serious vaccine-related clinical or laboratory adverse events were observed. The frequency of local and systemic adverse reactions is shown in Figure 2. All vaccine-related adverse events were either mild or moderate in severity.



Figure 2. Frequency of local and systemic adverse events that were possibly, probably or definitely related to vaccination. (A) Volunteers aged 50+ (n=30). (B) Volunteers aged 18–45 (n=15). For both age groups pain was the most frequently recorded local adverse event followed by erythema. A similar pattern of systemic adverse events was observed in both age groups with the majority of solicited adverse events occurring in 20–60% of individuals. For volunteers aged 18–45, 85% of adverse events were mild; for volunteers aged 50+, 87% of adverse events were mild.

Figure 3a shows the T cell responses to the NP+M1 vaccine insert as measured by IFN- γ ELISPOT. All assays were conducted on fresh PBMCs as soon as they became available. As expected, T cell responses to NP and M1 were detected prior to vaccination with a median response of 188 SFU/million PBMC. These responses increased to a median of 1,603 SFU/million PBMC one week after vaccination, representing an 8.5-fold increase. When the data were stratified for age (group 1=50–59 years, group 2=60–69 years, group 3=70+ years), differences between the groups became apparent. In particular, T cell responses to NP and M1 remained significantly above baseline until week 52 for group 1, week 12 for group 2 and week 3 for group 3 (Figure 3b).



Figure 3. Ex vivo IFN-y ELISpot responses to the vaccine insert. (A) Median and individual ex vivo IFN-y ELISpot responses from vaccinated volunteers at baseline (week 0), and weeks 1, 3, 8, 12, 24, and 52. Significant differences between the pre- and post-vaccination time points were detected using the Wilcoxon signed rank test: week 1 (p = 0.0001), week 3 (p = 0.0001), week 8 (p = 0.0001), and week 12 (p = 0.001). (B) Median *ex vivo* IFN-y ELISpot responses to the NP+M1 insert stratified according to age: black bars = group 1 (50–59 years), white bars = group 2 (60–69 years), and grey bars = group 3 (70+ years). Error bars indicate interquartile ranges. Significant differences between the pre- and post-vaccination time points were detected using the Wilcoxon signed rank test as follows. Group 1: week 1 (p=0.002), week 3 (p=0.002), week 8 (p=0.002), week 24 (p=0.002), and week 52 (p=0.0039). Group 2: week 1 (p=0.002), week 3 (p=0.002), week 8 (p=0.002), week 8 (p=0.002), and week 12 (p=0.0371). Group 3: week 1 (p=0.0039) and week 3 (p=0.0195). Significant differences were also detected between groups using the Mann- Whitney U-test, with responses in group 1 being higher than those in group 3 at week 3 (p=0.043) and week 8 (p=0.023). (C) Median and individual *ex vivo* IFN-y ELISpot responses at week 1 and week 3 stratified according to age, and including a vaccinated cohort of younger (18–45 years) volunteers.

We previously vaccinated 15 healthy volunteers aged 18–45 years with MVA-NP+M1 using the same dose $(1.5 \times 10^8 \text{ pfu})$ and route of administration (12). No significant differences in the ELISpot responses were detected between the younger volunteers (18–45 years) and the older volunteers (50+ years) either before or after vaccination (Figure 3c), although there was a trend towards higher responses in groups 1 and 2, and lower responses in group 3.

Flow cytometry was used to determine antigen-specific cytokine production (IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-2, IL-10 and IL-17), T cell degranulation (CD107a mobilization) and granzyme B expression. MVA-NP+M1 was shown to boost both CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses, and significant increases in IFN- γ , IL-2 and TNF- α production were observed in both populations at week 1 and week 3 post-vaccination (Figure 4). A significant increase in CD107a mobilization was only detected for CD8+ T cells at week 3 (p=0.004).



Figure 4. IFN- γ , IL-2, TNF and CD107a responses to the vaccine insert measured by flow cytometry. Production of IFN- γ (A), IL-2 (B) and TNF (C), and mobilization of CD107a (D), after background subtraction in CD3⁺CD4⁺ (black circles) and CD3⁺CD4⁺ (white circles) cell populations stimulated with a single pool of peptides spanning the complete NP+M1 vaccine insert. Volunteers in group 3 were tested at weeks 0, 1, and 3. Significant differences between pre- and post-vaccination time points were detected using the Wilcoxon signed rank test as follows: IFN- γ CD4⁺, week 1 (p = 0.0001) and week 3 (p = 0.0001); IFN- γ CD8⁺, week 1 (p = 0.001) and week 3 (p = 0.0001); IL-2 CD8⁺, week 1 (p = 0.002) and week 3 (p = 0.0001); IL-2 CD8⁺, week 1 (p = 0.002) and week 3 (p = 0.003); TNF CD4⁺, week 1 (p = 0.002) and week 3 (p = 0.003); TNF CD8⁺, week 1 (p = 0.002) and week 3 (p = 0.003); TNF CD8⁺, week 3 (p = 0.004)

No increase in the antigen-specific production of IL-10, IL-17 or granzyme B were detected in either the CD4⁺ or CD8⁺T cell populations following vaccination (data not shown). However, as reported previously (17) the production of granzyme B from unstimulated CD8⁺T cells was significantly elevated at week 1 in the oldest age group (median = 57.8% of CD8⁺T cells) compared to group 1 (median = 27.1%, p=0.002) and group 2 (median = 29.3%, p=0.0115). Non-specific granzyme B production by CD8⁺T cells was also significantly elevated in group 3 compared to group 1 at week 3 (group 3=45,9%, group 1=25.2%, p=0.0113).

Figure 5 shows the frequency of polyfunctional CD4⁺ and CD8⁺T cells detected by flow cytometry using panel 1. The percentage of T cells with quadruple, triple and double functional outputs detected in the CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ populations increased significantly at week 1 and week 3 post-vaccination in group 1 (50–59 years). However, in groups 2 and 3, only the triple and double functional cells in the CD4⁺ T cell population increased at the same time points. In group 3, a significant increase in quadruple and triple functional cells in the CD8⁺ T cell population was detected at week 3 post-vaccination. The respective P values for these comparisons (Wilcoxon signed rank test) are shown in Table S2.





In further analyses, we examined the clonotypic composition of CD8⁺ T cells specific for the HLA A*0201-restricted GILGFVFTL epitope (M1, residues 58–66) using a templateswitch anchored RT-PCR to amplify all expressed TRB gene products. A profound type IV bias was observed in these antigen- specific CD8⁺ T cell populations, comprising strict TRBV19 usage combined with a central XRSX motif in the CDR3 loop (Figure 6) (18), consistent with previous reports (19,20). To determine the origins of these MVA-NP+M1 vaccine-expanded clonotypes, we conducted similar studies in a separate cohort of volunteers. These volunteers were aged 20–50 and had been vaccinated with either 5x 10^{7} pfu intradermally or 2.5x10⁸ pfu intramuscularly (11). Paired samples from day 0 (pre-vaccination) and day 7 (post-vaccination) were available for three volunteers. In all cases, the dominant clonotypes were identical at both time points, indicating the expansion of pre-existing M1-specific memory CD8⁺ T cells (Figure 7). However, the postvaccination repertoires were more polyclonal due to the presence of less frequent clonotypes in greater numbers. This could reflect either *de novo* recruitment from the naïve pool or the expansion of clonotypes from the memory pool with pre-vaccination frequencies below the limit of detection. Notably, all sorted M1-specific CD8⁺ T cell populations displayed a predominant CD27⁺CD45RO⁺CD57⁻CCR7⁻ memory phenotype (Figure 6 and data not shown). This phenotypic homogeneity is consistent with the functional homogeneity observed within the CD8⁺ compartment before and after vaccination.



Γ	TRBV	CDR3	TRBJ	Freq (%)	Count
Г	19	CASSDIALGEQY	2-7	15.28	11
	19	CASSMRSSSEAF	1-1	11.11	8
	19	CASSIRSSYEQY	2-7	9.72	7
	19	CASSGRAGTEAF	1-1	9.72	7
	19	CASSSLSNQPQH	1-5	8.33	6
	7-4	CASSSLRGWPYEQY	2-7	6.94	5
	19	CASSMRSSYEQY	2-7	6.94	5
	19	CASSIRSTGELF	2-2	6.94	5
	19	CASSIRSQETQY	2-5	4.17	3
Г	19	CASSIRSTDTQY	2-3	4.17	3
	19	CASSIHSNQPQH	1-5	4.17	3
	19	CASSDRSNTEAF	1-1	4.17	3
	19	CASSIRASYEQY	2-7	2.78	2
	19	CASSTRSTGELF	2-2	2.78	2
	19	CASSQRSTDTQY	2-3	1.39	1
	19	CASCIHSNQPQH	1-5	1.39	1

TRBV	CDR3	TRBJ	Freq (%)	Count
19	CASSPRSTDTQY	2-3	44.58	37
19	CASSIRSAYEQY	2-7	21.69	18
19	CASSIRSSYEQY	2-7	14.46	12
19	CASSTRASYEQY	2-7	12.05	10
2	CASSEGGRSYNEQF	2-1	1.20	1
2	CASGEGGRSYNEQF	2-1	1.20	1
27	CASSRTLSTDTOY	2-3	1.20	1
19	CASMGLAGLNEOF	2-1	1.20	1
19	CTSSTRASYEQY	2-7	1.20	1
19	CASSPRSTDKOY	2-3	1.20	1

Figure 6. Phenotypic and clonotypic properties of M1-specific CD8⁺ T cells elicited by MVA-NP+M1. (A) Phenotype of vaccine-elicited CD8⁺ T cells specific for the HLA A*0201-restricted M1-derived epitope GILGFVFTL (residues 58–66). Antigen-specific CD3⁺CD8⁺tetramer⁺ cells are shown as coloured dots superimposed on bivariate plots showing the phenotypic distribution of the total CD8⁺ T cell population (grey density plots). Response sizes were 1.48% (left panels) and 0.75% (right panels) with respect to the total CD8⁺ T cell population. (B) TRBV and TRBJ usage, CDR3 amino acid sequence and relative frequency of the GILGFVFTL-specific CD8⁺ T cell clonotypes contained within the antigen-specific populations depicted in (A). Public clonotypes within the present dataset are colour-coded. Representative analyses are shown for volunteers in group 3 (70+ years).

Pre-vaccination

783V	C083	1901	Freq (1)	Count
19	CASELESSEDE	2+7	27.38	1.23
21	CASIDLADTOT	2-3	17.96	15
19	CASSHEROGTOF	2-5	16.67	14
19	CASSIBOATEOF	2=7	8.95	5
19	CREEYGANVLT	2-6	5.95	5
19	CASSIGLIGTY	1-2	4.76	4
15	CASSPONDELF	2-2	3.57	- 3
19	CASSTGOPOR	1-5	3.57	3
19	CASESSEGUEOF	2-1	2.38	2
27	CVSIDLADDOV	2-3	2.38	2
.9	CASSINGEGLESTINGOF	2-1	1.19	1
18	CASSITULETEAF	1-1	1.19	1
19	CASSTRESTERT	2-7	1.19	1
15	CASSLASSGEDT	2-7	1,19	1
10	CARRIERING	2-1	1.39	100
1.5	CAUSINGTING	2-7	1.19	1
15	CASSIGSTOYT	1-3	1.19	1
15	CASEQUEYOYT	1-2	1.19	1

Post-va	ceina	ation
1.001.40	0.01110	anon.

1907	COR3	TREAT	Freq (%)	Count
19	CARSSESSOR	- 2-2-	27.14	19.
27	CASIBLADTQT	2-3	12.96	
	CAMPTLORGEVEADPOR	1-3	7.14	5.
19	CRESSNBOUTOT	2-5	5.71	- 40
19	CASSILAGGENBOF	2-1	4.29	3
- 19	CASSTRACYBOY	2-7	4.25	1
18	CASSINGSYNOT	2-2	4.28	
19	CASSIGLEGT	1-2	4.28	3.
19	CASSINGAYEOT	2-7	2.86	2
19	CASSERTITIOT	2-3	2.96	2
19	CASSERSTDTOT	2-3	2.88.	- 20
19	CASSLETNEPOR	1-5	2.86	1
19	CASSFOGGELF	2-2	2.06	2
21-1	CASSEVICEARTER	1-1	1.43	1
7-3	CASSLEGGTATOTOY	2-3	3.43	
27	CASSFOQGADEQT	2-7	1.43	1
19	CASSYNSAYEGY	2-7	3,43	1
19	CASSTRTOYSOT	2-7	1.43	1
19	CASSIYSNDPON	2-5	3.43	1
19	CASSIPSRDIOY	2-4	3.43	1
19	CARSTREEDOOT	2-3	1.43	1
19	CRESILFINEOF	2-1	1.43	1
19	CM881079077	1-2	1.43	1
12-3/12-4	CARELOVYDOX	2-7	3.43	1
	83 91			
1000	19951	716.1	Front (81)	Count
27	CARPENCEVERY	2.3	27.51	54
19	CARGIRGEVEOV	1-1	22.26	20
19	CASSILGASTNOC	2-1	5.01	1
19	CARSTRANSCY	2.2	6.65	-
19	CASSINGSPICT	2-5	4.65	
19	CASSYRSSYRCY	2-7	3.43	1
19	CARBORRENTON	2-5	3.49	1
27	CASGIDOSADTOT	2-3	2.31	2
Note Comm	CONTRACTOR	1000	COLUMN TWO IS NOT	
19	CASETRARYETT	2-2	2.33	
19	CHARTETOTOO	1-1	2.31	2
19	CBASSISSING	1.2	2.31	
10	CHECKING INFI	1.4	1.12	-

19 CADSTREATON 2-7 3.15 1 19 CADSTREEYEQY 2-7 3.15 1

THEY	C083	TRAJ	Freq (*)	COUNT
21	CASPOGEDTEQT	2-7	50.88	25
15	CASSITSGREGP	2-1	10.53	6
27	CASETSDEADTOX	2+3	5.16	3
15	CASSINGGSGBQY	2-7	5.26	3
19	CASSISSATEOT	2+7	3.51	2.
15	CASSIRSSRTOT	2-5	3.51	2
19	CASEMPOYEOY	2-7	3.51	2
19	CASTVPSASHOPOR	1-5	1.75	1
27	CASEYODGADTOC	2-3	1.75	1
27	CTREGOGUTEOT	2=7	1.75	1
27	CAMPOQUOTEQT	2-7	1.75	1
27	CASPGOGDTAGT	2-7	1.75	1
49	CASEINESTERT	2+7	1.75	1
19	CASSIBRATEOT	2-7	1.75	1
18.00	CASSINGENDE	2-5	3,75	1.
19	CARETLENGPOR	1-5	1.39	- A.
12-5	CARGRESPROP	2-1	1.75	1

CDB3 CASEIFREATS21 CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFSCELP CASEIFEAD707 CASEIFEAD707 CASEIFEAD707 CASEIFEAD707 CASEIFEAD707

CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATING CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION CASSTRATION

TILBY

19

19

19

19 19	CASSIRSSAROY CASSIRSRYDOY	2-7	1.16	1
19	CADSINGORIOT	2-3	2124	10
19	CWRAAASWALDA	3-3	1.16	- A.
19	CASSLUALDDGY	2-3	1.16	1
19	CASSINSCREEP	2-1	3.34	1.1
To B	CRESSLOSDON	2-3	1.14	4
19	CRESTGATOTT	1-2	1.16	1
1887	1 2083	THE	Fied (1)	Cooli
13	CASSIRGUTION	2-3	15.11	12
19	CRESTGENET	1-2	10.28	
19	CRARINGWEDT	2-3	3,13	4
14	CASSIDSTOFF	2-2	5.13	- 1
28	CREATING ALPORENTS	1-4	1.88	- 1
19	CRESERSTORLY	2-2	1.95	ž
19	CHAPPINGET	1-2	1.45	5
19	CREENTLEDTT	1-2	3.95	5
19	CRASTOLOGIT	1-1	3.45	5
14	CREATERCORE	1.4	7.56	5
10	CRATTORNEOPOLE	1-5	3.56	- 2
14	CHOSTOCHOURS	2.1	7.56	- 6
1.	C PARAMANA PARAMANA	1.4	1.00	
14	CROSOVONUTUR	128	3 56	- 5
1.0	CB.05707V0VP	1.7	3.56	- 2
	Charlenson	124	3.95	- 21
2.3	CADSCORACEDIASSOOD	2.5	1.36	
1.0	Character and the finally	1.1	1.74	
1.4	CADSITUDDINEUF	0.3	1.20	- 21
140	CREELVGGREFUTUT	1.1	3145	- 21
10	CASISPIGNAGIOIT	1-2	1.40	
17	CADSINGGPUBUE	5-5	1.20	
17	CHRISTHONERROF	2.4	3.36	
11	CRESSLTGREETEAF	1-1	1.28	
14	CRESELTONBAEAP	1-1	1.28	-
11	CASSINGSTRUT	2+1	3.28	- 1
19	CARSTRANTER	2-7	1.28	1
	CHARTHARTELE	141	3126	
19	CARETHWEATER	2-1	1.20	1
19	CASSINSOVIUT	5-2	3,28	1
19	CASSERSTOTOT	2-3	1.20	1
19.00	CASSONSTOTOT	2-3	1,28	1
19	CASSISCTORY	5-3	1.28	1
19	CRASSRSTDTQT	2-3	3.28	1
19	CASSCRSQ0101	2-3	3.28	1
18	CARBORSPOTOT	2-3	3.28	1
1.9	CINCERDENTION	1.5	1.78	1

Figure	7.	Patterns	of	clonotype	usage	in	M1-speci	ific	CD8 ⁺	Т	cell	population	s before	and	after
vaccina	tion	with M	/A-N	I P+M1 . T _. RB	V and	TRB.	I usage, C	DR3	amino	aci	d seq	uence and	relative fr	equen	cy are
shown	for	GILGFVFTL	spe	cific CD8 ⁺ T	cell clo	onot	ypes on d	lay () (pre-	va	ccina	tion) and da	ay 7 (post-	vaccina	ation).
Public c	lono	types with	in the	e present dat	aset are	colo	our-coded.	Non	-public	clon	otype	es present a	both time	points	within
an indiv	vidua	al are high	lighte	ed in bold ty	vpe.										

Freq (%) Count 16.67 14 11.30 10 10.71 9 8.33 7 7.14 6 5.65 5 4.76 4 3.57 3 3.57 3 2.38 2

2

1

2.38

2,38

1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19

1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19 1.19

7885J 2-7 2-2 2-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 1-2 2-3 1-2 2-7

2-5 1-5 2-1 1-5 2-7

DISCUSSION

Here, we report the ability of MVA-NP+M1 to boost influenza- specific T_cell responses in older adults. Recombinant MVA vaccines are establishing a good reputation for safety, although the majority of these data relate to younger individuals aged between 18–45 years. Our results with MVA-NP+M1 add to the experience from cancer trials with MVA-5T4 that recombinant MVA is safe in older adults (21). Indeed, no severe or serious adverse reactions were detected in our volunteers.

We also report that MVA-NP+M1 is highly immunogenic in volunteers over the age of 50 years. In one quantitative review (4) of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccines, rates of seroprotection and seroconversion among those over 60 years old were four times lower for H1 and B antigens, and twice as low for H3 antigens. In addition, although not powered to detect declining efficacy with age, an age stratification suggested a far lower efficacy rate for those over 70 years (4). Indeed, other studies have suggested that vaccine efficacy appears to be as low as 30–40% in this age group (22). On an individual level, declines in immunological function are unlikely to occur in a linear fashion (chronological age being only a surrogate indicator of biological age) (23). However, on a population level, declines in vaccine responsiveness are likely to be observed as average age increases. Indeed, in the oldest age group (70+ years), we observed a reduction in immunogenicity as detected by ex vivo IFN-γ ELISpot compared to the youngest age group (50–59 years), with significantly lower responses at 3 and 8 weeks post-vaccination. However, when the 3 age groups were compared to a younger cohort of volunteers (18–45 years) who received the same dose of the MVA-NP+M1 vaccine, no significant differences were detected.

The functional characteristics of the cellular responses produced by vaccination are potentially as important as magnitude (24). Subsets of CD4+ and CD8+ T-cells following vaccination with MVA-NP+M1 are capable of secreting both TNF and IL-2, in addition to IFN- γ . Increases in the number of such polyfunctional T-cells have been associated with protective immunity in some models of infection (25). We show here that MVA-NP+M1 vaccination can also induce polyfunctional CD4+ and CD8+ responses in older adults, as determined by flow cytometric assessment of CD107a mobilization and the production of IFN- γ TNF- α and IL-2.

MVA-NP+M1 is designed to expand T cells that are already present in the memory pool rather than prime naïve T cells *de novo*. Direct evidence for this mode of action comes from our comparison herein of M1-specific TCR sequences before and after vaccination.

This provides a biological rationale for the use of MVA-NP+M1 in elderly individuals due to the impairment of thymic output with age. The absolute number of NP- and M1-specific T cells required for host defence against influenza is not known. However, the median *ex vivo* IFN- γ ELISPOT response observed in the older volunteers peaked one week after vaccination at 1,603 SFU/million PBMC, which represents an 8.5-fold increase compared to the pre-vaccination response.

No vaccine-induced expression of granzyme B, IL-10 or IL-17 was detected in our cohort of older volunteers. However, we did detect significantly higher non-specific levels of granzyme B expression in group 3 (70+ years) compared to group 1 (50–59 years) at weeks 1 and 3 post-vaccination. It has been shown previously that baseline granzyme B expression in CD8⁺ T cells is higher in ageing volunteers and that these cells are associated with a decreased ability to respond to stimulation with whole influenza virus (17). Degranulation and extracellular release of granzyme B can also cause inflammation and extracellular granzyme B has been implicated in increasing the risk of serious illness in the elderly, including the risk of influenza induced cardiovascular complications [26,27].

A high IFN-γ : IL-10 ratio may be associated with protection from influenza (28). The median frequency of NP- and M1- specific T cells that secreted IL-10 was low (below 0.006%) and did not increase after vaccination, whereas there was a significant increase in the number IFN-γ-secreting T cells following vaccination.

The memory phenotype of vaccine-induced CD8⁺ T cell populations, at least for a subset of M1-specific cells, was remarkably similar to that observed pre-vaccination. Indeed, a marginal decrease in CD27 expression consistent with progressive differentiation post-vaccination was the only detectable change between the time points studied within individual volunteers (data not shown). Thus, minimal differentiation-associated functional variations would be expected. Interestingly, despite vaccine- mediated expansion of pre-existing memory clonotypes, the observed CD27⁺CD45RO⁺CD57⁻CCR7⁻ phenotype indicates a lack of terminal differentiation and senescence (29). This is encouraging from the perspective that durable T cell immunity may be feasible using this approach of boosting existing T cell memory with an MVA-vectored vaccine.

MVA-vectored vaccines have the advantage that they can be produced on the large scale required for widespread human vaccination. The low level of polymorphism in NP

and M1 across influenza A strains means that a vaccine such as MVA-NP+M1 could provide T cell mediated protection against all influenza A subtypes.

In summary, we have shown that the novel influenza vaccine candidate MVA-NP+M1 is safe and highly immunogenic in adults over 50 years old. Both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ memory T cell responses are boosted, and have the capacity to secrete multiple cytokines. Indeed, despite the apparent reduction in immune responsiveness observed in the oldest volunteers in this study, there was still a significant induction of IFN-γ secreting cells and a significant increase in the proportion of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells capable of triple cytokine production after vaccination. These enhanced T cell responses could provide heterosubtypic T cell based immunity against influenza in the elderly.

- Hardelid P, Pebody R, Andrews N (2012) Mortality caused by influenza and respiratory syncytial virus by age group in England and Wales 1999–2010. Influenza Other Respi Viruses.
- Simonsen L, Taylor RJ, Viboud C, Miller MA, Jackson LA (2007) Mortality benefits of influenza vaccination in elderly people: an ongoing controversy. Lancet Infect Dis 7: 658–666.
- 3. Nicholson KG, Wood JM, Zambon M (2003) Influenza. Lancet 362: 1733–1745.
- 4. Goodwin K, Viboud C, Simonsen L (2006) Antibody response to influenza vaccination in the elderly: a quantitative review. Vaccine 24: 1159–1169.
- 5. Osterholm MT, Kelley NS, Sommer A, Belongia EA (2012) Efficacy and effectiveness of influenza vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet infect Dis 12:36-44.
- Olsson J, Wikby A, Johansson B, Lö fgren S, Nilsson BO, et al. (2000) Age- related change in peripheral blood T-lymphocyte subpopulations and cytomeg- alovirus infection in the very old: the Swedish longitudinal OCTO immune study. Mech Ageing Dev 121: 187–201.
- Sambhara S, McElhaney JE (2009) Immunosenescence and influenza vaccine efficacy. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 333: 413–429.
- Lambert LC, Fauci AS (2010) Influenza vaccines for the future. N Engl J Med 363: 2036–2044.
- Gilbert SC (2012) T-cell-inducing vaccines what's the future. Immunology 135: 19– 26.
- 10. Sutter G, Moss B (1992) Nonreplicating vaccinia vector efficiently expresses recombinant genes. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 89: 10847–10851.
- 11. Berthoud TK, Hamill M, Lillie PJ, Hwenda L, Collins KA, et al. (2011) Potent CD8+ Tcell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 52: 1–7.
- 12. Lillie PJ, Berthoud TK, Powell TJ, Lambe T, Mullarkey C, et al. (2012) A preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis.
- 13. Berthoud TK, Fletcher H, Porter D, Thompson F, Hill AV, et al. (2009)Comparing human T cell and NK cell responses in viral-based malaria

vaccine trials. Vaccine 28: 21–27.

- 14. Price DA, Brenchley JM, Ruff LE, Betts MR, Hill BJ, et al. (2005) Avidity for antigen shapes clonal dominance in CD8+ T cell populations specific for persistent DNA viruses. J Exp Med 202: 1349–1361.
- 15. Quigley MF, Almeida JR, Price DA, Douek DC (2011) Unbiased molecular analysis of T cell receptor expression using template-switch anchored RT-PCR. Curr Protoc Immunol Chapter 10: Unit10.33.
- Lefranc MP, Pommié C, Ruiz M, Giudicelli V, Foulquier E, et al. (2003) IMGT unique numbering for immunoglobulin and T cell receptor variable domains and Ig superfamily V-like domains. Dev Comp Immunol 27: 55–77.
- 17. McElhaney JE, Ewen C, Zhou X, Kane KP, Xie D, et al. (2009) Granzyme B: Correlates with protection and enhanced CTL response to influenza vaccination in older adults. Vaccine 27: 2418–2425.
- 18. Miles JJ, Douek DC, Price DA (2011) Bias in the ab T-cell repertoire: implications for disease pathogenesis and vaccination. Immunol Cell Biol 89: 375–387.
- Moss PA, Moots RJ, Rosenberg WM, Rowland-Jones SJ, Bodmer HC, et al. (1991) Extensive conservation of alpha and beta chains of the human T-cell antigen receptor recognizing HLA-A2 and influenza A matrix peptide. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 88: 8987–8990.
- 20. Lehner PJ, Wang EC, Moss PA, Williams S, Platt K, et al. (1995) Human HLA-A0201-restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of influenza A is dominated by T cells bearing the V beta 17 gene segment. J Exp Med 181: 79– 91.
- 21. Amato RJ, Hawkins RE, Kaufman HL, Thompson JA, Tomczak P, et al. (2010) Vaccination of metastatic renal cancer patients with MVA-5T4: a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase III study. Clin Cancer Res 16: 5539– 5547.
- 22. Hannoun C, Megas F, Piercy J (2004) Immunogenicity and protective efficacy of influenza vaccination. Virus Res 103: 133–138.
- 23. Targonski PV, Jacobson RM, Poland GA (2007) Immunosenescence: role and measurement in influenza vaccine response among the elderly. Vaccine 25: 3066–3069.
- 24. Kannanganat S, Ibegbu C, Chennareddi L, Robinson HL, Amara RR (2007) Multiple-cytokine-producing antiviral CD4 T cells are functionally superior to single-cytokine-producing cells. J Virol 81: 8468–8476.

- 25. Darrah PA, Patel DT, De Luca PM, Lindsay RW, Davey DF, et al. (2007) Multifunctional TH1 cells define a correlate of vaccine-mediated protection against Leishmania major. Nature medicine 13: 843–850.
- 26. McElhaney JE, Zhou X, Talbot HK, Soethout E, Bleackley RC, et al. (2012) The unmet need in the elderly: How immunosenescence, CMV infection, co-morbidities and frailty are a challenge for the development of more effective influenza vaccines. Vaccine 30: 2060–2067.
- 27. Hendel A, Hiebert PR, Boivin WA, Williams SJ, Granville DJ (2010) Granzymes in age-related cardiovascular and pulmonary diseases. Cell Death Differ 17: 596–606.
- 28. McElhaney JE, Xie D, Hager WD, Barry MB, Wang Y, et al. (2006) T cell responses are better correlates of vaccine protection in the elderly. J Immunol 176: 6333–6339.
- 29. Brenchley JM, Karandikar NJ, Betts MR, Ambrozak DR, Hill BJ, et al. (2003) Expression of CD57 defines replicative senescence and antigen-induced apoptotic death of CD8+ T cells. Blood 101: 2711–2720.

8.3 Paper 3 - Preliminary Assessment of the Efficacy of a T-Cell-Based Influenza Vaccine, MVA-NP+M1 in Humans

Patrick J. Lillie, Tamara K. Berthoud, Timothy J. Powell, Teresa Lambe, Caitlin Mullarkey, Alexandra J. Spencer, Matthew Hamill, Yanchun Peng, Marie-Eve Blais, Christopher J. A. Duncan, Susanne H. Sheehy, Tom Havelock, Saul N. Faust, Rob Lambkin Williams, Anthony Gilbert, John Oxford, Tao Dong, Adrian V. S. Hill, Sarah C. Gilbert

Background. The novel influenza vaccine MVA-NP+M1 is designed to boost crossreactive T-cell responses to internal antigens of the influenza A virus that are conserved across all subtypes, providing protection against both influenza disease and virus shedding against all influenza A viruses. Following a phase 1 clinical study that demonstrated vaccine safety and immunogenicity, a phase 2a vaccination and influenza challenge study has been conducted in healthy adult volunteers.

Methods. Volunteers with no measurable serum antibodies to influenza A/Wisconsin/67/2005 received either a single vaccination with MVA-NP+M1 or no vaccination. T-cell responses to the vaccine antigens were measured at enrollment and again prior to virus challenge. All volunteers underwent intranasal administration of influenza A/Wisconsin/67/2005 while in a quarantine unit and were monitored for symptoms of influenza disease and virus shedding.

Results. Volunteers had a significantly increased T-cell response to the vaccine antigens following a single dose of the vaccine, with an increase in cytolytic effector molecules. Intranasal influenza challenge was undertaken without safety issues. Two of 11 vaccinees and 5 of 11 control subjects developed laboratory-confirmed influenza (symptoms plus virus shedding). Symptoms of influenza were less pronounced in the vaccinees and there was a significant reduction in the number of days of virus shedding in those vaccinees who developed influenza (mean, 1.09 days in controls, 0.45 days in vaccinees, P = .036).

Conclusions. This study provides the first demonstration of clinical efficacy of a T-cell– based influenza vaccine and indicates that further clinical development should be undertaken. A recent meta-analysis of influenza vaccine efficacy and effectiveness (1) concluded that protection against virologically confirmed influenza is at best moderate, and in some seasons is greatly reduced or completely absent. Even in the most favorable situation when the vaccine is exceptionally well matched to the circulating virus, as was the case for pandemic H1N1 vaccines, median effectiveness in adults <65 years was 69%. The size of the influenza vaccine market was US\$2.8 billion in 2008–2009 in 7 major markets (United States, Japan, France, Germany, Italy, Spain, and United Kingdom) (2). An increasingly greater proportion of the population is vaccinated, with vaccination for all individuals aged >6 months recommended in some countries, but vaccines with considerably improved and more consistent effectiveness are required in order to bring about a greater reduction in influenza-related morbidity and mortality.

Trivalent inactivated vaccines are used as influenza vaccines in most circumstances, with live attenuated influenza vaccines sometimes used in children. Although cytotoxic T-cell–mediated immunity against influenza is an important component of naturally acquired immunity(3,4), the trivalent inactivated vaccine does not stimulate this response, and live attenuated influenza vaccine has been found to prime a T-cell–mediated response in young children but not to boost it in adults who have already acquired T-cell responses to influenza antigens following natural exposure to the virus(5). Because the main targets of T-cell recognition are internal antigens of the influenza virus that are well conserved between influenza A virus subtypes, (6)T-cell–mediated immunity should provide much broader protection than antibodies specific for the highly polymorphic external glycoproteins of the virus.

We have previously reported on the use of a novel influenza vaccine, to boost these cross-reactive T-cell responses in adult volunteers, in a phase I study that demonstrated the safety and immunogenicity of the vaccine (7).MVA-NP+M1 is a modified vaccinia virus Ankara (MVA) vector (replication-deficient) expressing the conserved internal influenza antigens nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix protein 1 (M1). T-cell responses to these antigens are known to be induced by influenza infection (6). We now describe a phase 2a vaccination and influenza challenge study, the first study to test the efficacy of an influenza vaccine designed to boost T-cell responses without inducing antihemagglutinin antibodies. The study confirmed vaccine safety and immunogenicity and provides preliminary evidence of vaccine

efficacy, with a 60% reduction of laboratory-confirmed influenza in vaccinated subjects.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Vaccine Design and Manufacture. MVA-NP+M1 design and manufacture are described in (7).

Study Population. Volunteers were recruited and enrolled following written informed consent under a protocol approved by the UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency and the Oxfordshire NHS Research Ethics Committee. Recruitment took place at the Centre for Clinical Vaccinology and Tropical Medicine, Oxford and the Welcome Trust Clinical Research Facility, Southampton. Volunteers were aged 18–45 years and were initially screened by haemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay against the virus to be used in the challenge phase of the study to ensure susceptibility to challenge. Those with a titre ≤1:10 were eligible for further screening. Enrolled volunteers were seronegative for human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus and had not received seasonal influenza vaccination for at least 1 year prior to enrollment. Results of routine hematological and biochemical tests on enrolled volunteers were all within normal limits.

Vaccination and Follow-up Regimen. Following receipt of study information, volunteers attended a screening visit to assess their suitability for the study. Two volunteers were screened, vaccinated, and underwent influenza challenge ahead of the main cohort. Subsequent eligible volunteers were enrolled first into the vaccination group and subsequently into the control challenge group. The volunteers taking part in the main efficacy cohort were screened for enrollment between 3 August 2009 and 9 September 2009. Influenza transmission rates during this period were low in the areas in which volunteers were recruited, and no volunteers received a single intramuscular injection of 1.5×10^8 plaque-forming units (PFUs) of MVA-NP+M1 (dose volume, 1154μ L) 28 days prior to entry to the quarantine unit. Volunteers were

reviewed on day 2 after vaccination to assess adverse events and on day 21 for exploratory immunology blood sampling.

Ex Vivo Interferon y Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Spot Assay. The ex vivo interferon γ (IFN- γ) enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay (ELISpot) was performed as previously described [7]. Fifteen- to 20-mer peptides overlapping by 10 amino acid residues, spanning the whole of the NP + M1 insert in pools of 10 peptides, were used to stimulate peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) at a concentration of 10 µg/mL. Fifty microliters of PBMCs (2 × 10⁵ cells) and 50 µL of the peptides was tested in triplicate. R10 was used as a negative control, and phytohemagglutinin at a final concentration of 10 µg/mL was used as a positive control. Following an 18–20-hour incubation at 37°C, the ELISpot plates were developed, dried, and read with an AID ELISpot reader (AID Diagnostika). The results are expressed as spot-forming units (SFUs) per million PBMCs after background subtraction.

Flow cytometry, quarantine, and challenge procedures are described in the Supplementary Data.

RESULTS

Vaccine Safety and Immunogenicity. A total of 15 volunteers (11 for the main study, 2 for a pilot challenge study, and 2 volunteers who were vaccinated but then excluded from the influenza challenge for either increase in HI titre to the challenge virus or evidence of recent mild respiratory tract infection) were administered 1.5×10^8 PFU MVA-NP+M1 intramuscularly. The study timeline is shown in Supplementary Figure 1*A*. Supplementary Figure 1*B* shows the numbers of volunteers recruited for the vaccine and control groups, with demographic information given in Supplementary Table 1. The safety profile was comparable to other MVA- vectored vaccines, with the majority of adverse events being mild in severity. No severe systemic adverse events were reported.

T-cell responses to the influenza antigens NP and M1 were measured in all volunteers at screening and again on day of vaccination and 21 days later in the vaccinees and in all volunteers on the day prior to challenge, as well as 8 occasions after influenza challenge (Figure 1). As previously observed (7), there was a clearly detectable response in all volunteers at the time of screening, with a median

response of 258 SFUs per million PBMCs in the group who went on to receive the vaccine and 300 SFUs per million PBMCs in the controls. The level of response was stable prior to vaccination, significantly boosted to 980 SFUs per million PBMCs 21 days after vaccination (P < .001 vs day 0) and then declined to 627 SFUs per million PBMCs 8 days later (the day prior to influenza challenge, P < .05 vs day 0). The response in the control group remained stable prior to influenza challenge, with a median of 215 SFUs per million PBMCs measured on the day prior to influenza challenge (day 29). Although there was no significant difference in the responses between the 2 groups at screening, responses to NP and M1 at day 29 were significantly higher in the vaccinees compared to controls (P < .05) (Figure 1).

The response to all influenza antigens in addition to those included in the vaccine was also measured on day 29 using overlapping peptides for each antigen (Supplementary Figure 2). The only statistically significant difference between responses in vaccinees and controls was the magnitude of the response to the vaccine antigens, with the response to NP predominating in most vaccinees.



Figure 1. Ex vivo interferon y enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay responses to nucleoprotein (NP) and matrix protein 1 (M1). The graph represents the summed response to NP and M1 antigens in vaccinees (circles) and controls (squares) at the relevant time points; lines represent the median per group and open symbols represent subjects who developed laboratory-confirmed influenza. Control subjects were not assayed at day 0 or day 21. Vaccination took place on day 0 and influenza challenge on day 30. Data were analyzed with a Kruskal-Wallis 1-way analysis of variance with selected pairs of data analyzed with a Dunn positive test. No significant difference between the median response in the vaccinated and control group was observed at time of screening (day 0 for vaccinees, day 29 for controls). A significant increase in the response was observed in vaccinees between days 0 and 21 and days 0 and 29 (P < .001, P < .05, respectively). A significant difference between vaccinees and controls was observed at day 29 (P < .05). Abbreviations: PBMC, peripheral blood mononuclear cell; SFU, spot-forming units

T-Cell Phenotype of the Immunodominant Response to M158–66 in Vaccinated and Control Volunteers. Six of the vaccinees and 7 of the controls were positive for human leukocyte antigen A*0201 and therefore likely to have pre-existing T-cell responses to the known A2-restricted immunodominant epitope M1_{58–66}. A tetramer for this epitope was used to measure phenotypic markers in PBMCs from these volunteers. A significant difference between vaccinated and control donors on the day prior to influenza challenge was observed in the expression of the cytotoxic markers perforin (D48 epitope (8) and granzyme A (Figure 2), indicating that the antigen-specific CD8⁺ T cells in the vaccinees were more highly activated than T cells from the control donors.



Figure 2. Responses to M1₅₈₋₆₆ in human leukocyte antigen A2-positive volunteers. Whole blood drawn 1 day prior to virus challenge was labeled for tetramer (A*0201/GILGFVFTL) followed by perforin or granzyme A staining. Values shown are the percentage of CD8⁺ T cells or Tet⁺ cells; individuals are shown as a single point with lines representing the median per group. Open symbols represent samples volunteers who subsequently from developed laboratory-confirmed influenza. For each marker the data were analyzed with an unpaired t test; P values are shown for statistically significant differences between vaccinees and controls.

Influenza Challenge Outcome. The safety of the influenza challenge protocol in healthy volunteers is well established, but as this was the first study to our knowledge in which T-cell responses to influenza antigens were boosted by vaccination prior to influenza challenge of human volunteers by intranasal administration, we conducted a pilot safety study of 2 vaccinated volunteers to make an initial assessment of the safety of the protocol prior to the main study. These 2 volunteers underwent the same screening, vaccination, quarantine, and challenge protocol as for the main study, including twice-daily symptom questionnaires and once-daily physician-directed examination to assess their response to influenza challenge following MVA-NP+M1 vaccination. The majority of symptoms recorded were mild, with some

evidence of upper respiratory tract infection. Rhinorrhea was the commonest symptom, but no cough or other symptoms of lower respiratory tract infection or severe illness were observed. Following safety review, permission was granted to proceed with influenza challenge for the main study of 11 vaccinees and 11 control subjects.

The primary outcome of the challenge study was the number of subjects in each group diagnosed with laboratory-confirmed influenza, defined as mild or moderate/severe symptoms of influenza infection plus laboratory detection of influenza virus in any of the daily nasal washes conducted following influenza challenge (Table 1). In total, 2 vaccinees and 5 controls developed laboratory-confirmed influenza. Of these, 1 vaccinee and 4 controls experienced moderate to severe symptoms in addition to virus shedding. Comparing the vaccinated and control groups as a whole, symptoms were fewer in vaccinees at all time points following influenza challenge (Figure 3*A*), with symptoms peaking on the second and third days. Vaccinees as a group experienced a significant reduction in the number of days of virus shedding in the presence of laboratory-confirmed influenza (5 of 55 days in vaccinees and 12 of 55 days in controls; *P* = .036).

Table 1. Clinical Outcome of Challenge

			Virus (Log ₁₀ TCID ₅₀) Shed on Day After Challenge							
Vol No.	Total Symptom Score	Symptom Severity	1	2	3	4	5	Lab-Confirmed Influenza	HI Postchallenge	
A: Vaccinee	S									
58	26	Mild						N	<10	
76	3	None						N	20	
79	0	None						N	40	
80	0	None				1.75	3.00	Ν	<10	
19	0	None						N	80	
32	12	Mild						Ν	<10	
37	27	Mild						N	160	
39	29	Mod/sev	3.25	4.25				Y	>640	
41	3	None						Ν	320	
64	12	Mild			2.5	2.96	3.75	Y	226	
70	0	None						N	>640	
B: Controls										
72	29	Mod/sev						Ν	160	
81	20	Mild		3.25	2.00			Y	<10	
84	29	Mod/sev	2.75	3.25				Y	40	
95	4	Mild		3.5				Y	<10	
100	35	Mod/sev			3.5	5.5	1.75	Y	160	
87	38	Mod/sev	3.00	3.25	2.5	1.75		Y	80	
86	0	None						N	320	
93	1	None						Ν	320	
96	4	Mild						Ν	20	
108	0	None						N	20	
109	8	Mild						N	80	

Laboratory-confirmed influenza is defined as mild or moderate to severe symptoms of influenza infection plus shedding of influenza virus on at least 1 day after challenge. Standardized nasal washes and virus assays were performed each day for 5 days on each subject, with no missing data points, but only positive results are shown in the table. The severity of the symptoms is defined by the symptom + examination score, with mild flu having a score of 4–28, moderate to severe is \geq 29. HI titers were all <10 at screening and on entry to the quarantine unit. The figures given above are HI titers at study day 66 (26 days after influenza challenge) with the exception of volunteer 093 (study day 120, 90 days after influenza challenge).

Abbreviations: HI, hemagglutination titer; TCID50, median tissue culture infective dose



Figure 3. Total of symptom scores at each time point following challenge (*A*) or total grade 2 and 3 symptom and examination scores (*B*) for vaccinees (circles) and controls (squares), with the group mean indicated by a line. Open symbols denote subjects who developed laboratory- confirmed influenza after challenge.

Investigation of Immune Responses Associated With Protective Outcome. T cell responses to all influenza antigens in PBMCs on the day prior to influenza challenge by IFN-γ ELISpot assay were measured (Supplementary Figure 2). Following influenza challenge, there was no correlation between the total symptom score for each subject and the T-cell response to the vaccine antigens NP and M1, to all internal antigens (NP, M1, M2, NS1, NS2, PB1, PB2, PA) or to all influenza antigens (internal plus HA, NA) on the day prior to challenge. ELISpot assays were repeated on days 1, 2, 3, 4, and 7 after challenge (study days 31–37), measuring responses to NP and M1 only. There were

minor fluctuations in the number of PBMCs secreting IFN- γ in response to NP and M1 between days 29 and 34, with a pronounced increase on day 37 in those volunteers who developed laboratory-confirmed influenza (Figure 1). There was a significant positive correlation (*P* = .0008) between the total symptom score for each volunteer and the fold increase in ELISpot response from day 29 to day 37 (Supplementary Figure 3) when both control subjects and vaccinees are assessed.

Blood samples were also taken for ELISpot assay at follow-up visits on days 66, 120, and 210. The median response to NP and M1 declined between day 37 and day 66, marginally increased at day 120 (not significant) and decreased at day 210 in both vaccinated and control groups (Figure 1).

HI Titres After Challenge. HI titres to the challenge virus were repeated 36 days following influenza challenge (Table 1). There was no correlation between symptoms and virus shedding and rise in HI titre.

DISCUSSION

In this phase 2a study, we have demonstrated the safety of MVA-NP+M1 at a dose of 1.5×10^8 PFU given as a single intramuscular injection. The majority of adverse events were mild in severity, with no serious systemic adverse events and no rigors experienced by any of the 15 subjects who were vaccinated, indicating a satisfactory safety profile at this dose. This dose is now being tested in an additional phase I study of subjects aged >50 years.

In the phase I study, the T-cell response was measured by ex vivo IFN- γ ELISpot assay at the peak of response 7 days after vaccination, and at 21 days. Median responses were 2793 and 2088 SFUs per million PBMCs at 7 and 21 days in the high-dose (2.5×10^8 PFU) group when fresh PBMCs were used in the assay. In the phase 2a study reported here, employing an intermediate dose of MVA-NP+M1 and using fresh PBMCs, the median response of the vaccinees 21 days after vaccination was 980, falling to 627 on the day prior to influenza challenge. Although it is not unexpected that the response measured by this assay is reduced when the vaccine dose is reduced, the small numbers of volunteers in both studies do not allow an accurate determination of the magnitude of this reduction.

Following influenza virus challenge, only 5 of 11 control subjects developed laboratory-confirmed influenza, defined as symptoms of influenza disease plus virus shedding. This figure is lower than expected for challenge studies of this type, although it has previously been shown that approximately one-third of individuals undergoing influenza challenge are protected despite not having detectable antibodies against the challenge virus (3)and it is a known feature of this challenge model that not all control subjects will develop influenza. In this study only 2 vaccinated volunteers developed laboratory-confirmed influenza, the total number of symptoms recorded was lower in the vaccinated group at all time points following challenge, the number of grade 2 and 3 symptoms recorded was lower, and virus shedding was significantly reduced, supporting a protective effect of the vaccine against both disease severity and virus shedding.

It was notable that there was no consistent rise in HI titre following influenza challenge, even among volunteers who developed laboratory-confirmed influenza.

Having demonstrated a significant increase in the number of T cells producing IFN-y in response to NP and M1 following vaccination, and with fewer vaccinated volunteers developing influenza than control subjects, we attempted to confirm the association of vaccine-induced T-cell responses with this protective outcome. In a large study of 2172 children in the Philippines and Thailand, it was found that the majority of infants and young children with >100 SFUs per million PBMCs in an IFN-y ELISpot assay utilizing whole influenza virus as antigen were protected against clinical influenza (9). In our own small-scale study of adults, who would have had multiple prior exposures to influenza prior to vaccination resulting in memory populations of influenza-specific T and B cells, we were not able to define a correlate of protection based on responses detected in PBMCs using the IFN-y ELISpot assay prior to challenge. Following influenza challenge, only minor fluctuations in the IFN-y ELISpot were detected for a period of 4 days, increasing by the seventh day in subjects who developed influenza disease, whereas virus shedding was detected on the second and third day. This suggests that changes in responses measured in circulating PBMCs are occurring only after respiratory tract symptoms, and cannot be used to predict protection or susceptibility. However an anamnestic mucosal T-

cell response predictive of protection cannot be excluded. For future studies, a systems biology approach should be taken to understanding multifactorial mechanisms of protection that may be missed when only a small number of measures of immune system status are used.

This study provides evidence that intranasal challenge with influenza virus appears safe in individuals with elevated T-cell responses after MVA-NP+N1 immunization. The absence of any lower respiratory symptoms or signs, together with normal oxygen saturations and spirometry after influenza challenge, makes immunopathology highly unlikely. This supports previous work in several nonhuman species (particularly mice and ferrets (10) and pigs (11), indicating the apparent safety of intranasal influenza virus challenge after immunization with T-cell—inducing vaccines.

This first efficacy study of a vaccine designed to boost T-cell responses to conserved influenza antigens has demonstrated the safety of this vaccination approach. Vaccinees were exposed to influenza virus at a time when anti-influenza T-cell responses had been increased by vaccination with no ill effects and no evidence of lower respiratory tract infection or inflammation. It also elucidated the efficacy of the vaccine in boosting the T-cell response to the vaccine antigens and in reducing laboratory-confirmed influenza in the vaccinees compared with control subjects. This reduction equates to 60% vaccine efficacy, which is a similar level to that shown for inactivated influenza vaccines when the circulating virus and the strain used in the vaccine are well matched (12), although further studies using a larger sample size will be required to reach a more precise and robust estimate of vaccine efficacy.

The majority of studies on T-cell-mediated protection against influenza have been conducted in the mouse model. A small number of studies in other species have indicated that T-cell responses to conserved influenza antigens can protect against disease and virus shedding (13-16) but this is the first clinical efficacy study of a vaccine designed to protect in this way. The results of this first clinical study are encouraging and provide initial evidence that this approach will be successful. Further studies are indicated to characterize safety and efficacy in larger numbers of individuals and to assess vaccine immunogenicity in both older and younger age groups.

SUPPLEMENTARY TEXT

Vaccine Safety. The safety profile was comparable to other MVA vectored vaccines, with the majority of adverse events being mild in severity. No severe systemic adverse events were reported. One volunteer reported severe local pain and swelling that limited arm movement, which resolved within 24 hours. The median duration of systemic adverse events was 1 day (range 1-6) with local events lasting a median of 2 days (range 1-7).

Flow cytometry. Lymphocytes were stained with the following antibodies: anti-CD28-FITC, anti-CD45RA-FITC, anti-CD38-PE-Cy7, anti-CD45RO-PECy7, anti-CD8-PerCP (Biolegend), anti-CD4-QD655 (Invitrogen), anti-CD4-Pacific Blue (eBioscience), anti-CD14-Pacific Blue (Invitrogen), anti-CD19-Pacific Blue (Invitrogen), anti-CD27-APCH7, anti-HLA-DR-APC, anti-CD25-APC, anti-CCR5-APC, anti-CD8-APC-AF750 (eBioscience) and anti-CD3-AlexaFluor700 (eBioscience). Intracellular staining was performed using Perm Buffer II (Becton Dickinson) as per manufacturer's instruction with the following antibodies: anti-Perforin-FITC (D48, Genprobe), anti-Granzyme A-FITC, anti-Granzyme B-FITC or Ki67-FITC. All antibodies were from Becton Dickinson unless stated otherwise. Samples and appropriate controls were collected on a Cyan Cytometer (Dako) and were analysed using FlowJo (Treestar). Absolute numbers of CD4+, CD8+ and CD3+ cells were measured with BD Trucount according to manufacturer's instructions (Becton Dickinson).

Quarantine and challenge. In total, 12 vaccinees and 12 control subjects entered the quarantine facility together (study day 28), for further assessment prior to intranasal influenza challenge. One vaccinee was found to be displaying symptoms of recent mild upper respiratory tract infection, was isolated from the remainder of the volunteers for further assessment and subsequently excluded prior to influenza challenge. One control had an apparent rise in HI titre to the challenge virus, and was also excluded. Vaccinated and control volunteers underwent clinical examination, spirometry, safety blood tests and electrocardiography on entry to the quarantine facility. Two days after entry to quarantine (to allow time for observation of any symptoms of respiratory virus infections) vaccinated and control volunteers were challenged with intranasal administration of H3N2 influenza (A/Wisconsin/67/2005) at a dose of 1ml of $10^{5.25}$ TCID50/ml. All volunteers were

inoculated during the same two hour period. After challenge, volunteers were followed up in the quarantine unit, using Retroscreen protocols as previously described (160). Selfreported symptoms were collected twice daily and a physical examination by a physician blinded to vaccination status was carried out daily. Nasal lavage fluid (standardised volume) for quantification of viral shedding was obtained daily. Symptoms were recorded using a standardised scoring system with a modified Jackson score of ≥ 4 indicating mild influenza disease, and a score of \geq 29 indicating moderate to severe influenza disease. Symptoms directly elicited were headache, muscle/joint pains, nasal symptoms, cough, fever, sore throat, malaise, nausea and any other symptoms. Symptoms were scored individually and then summed together with clinical examination findings to give an overall score. Exploratory immunology samples were obtained on the day prior to challenge and then on days 1 to 4 and day 7 post challenge. Safety blood tests and further spirometry and electrocardiography were performed on all volunteers whilst in quarantine. A five day course of oseltamivir was commenced from day 5 post challenge for all volunteers with medication provided to complete the course after discharge. Volunteers were released from quarantine on the 7th day post challenge after a negative rapid antigen test for influenza on nasal washings was obtained. After discharge, all volunteers were followed up on days 66, 120 and 210 post vaccination for further exploratory immunology and safety blood tests.

 $TCID_{50}$ assay for virus shedding. Nasal wash samples were titrated on MDCK cells and the end point identified by cytopathic changes, by laboratory staff blinded to vaccination status.

Table S1 demographics. Volunteers 5 and 26 (shaded grey) took part in the pilot safety challenge study. The remainder of the volunteers took part in the main challenge study. For these, the mean (and range) age of volunteers was 28.7 (19 - 45) years for vaccinees and 30.0 (21 - 43) years for controls, (difference of medians non-significant Mann-Whitney p= 0.60). Mean Body Mass Index was 22.4 (19.5 - 26.9) and 23.7 (19.6 - 28.9) kg/m² for vaccinees and controls (difference of medians non-significant Mann-Whitney p= 0.26). It is unlikely that any of the volunteers had previously received smallpox vaccination and prior receipt of an MVA-vectored vaccine was an exclusion criterion.

A vaccinees

Volunteer	Age	Gender	BMI
5	42	М	24.0
26	42	М	19.4
19	20	М	23.3
32	35	F	23.6
37	22	F	19.6
39	23	М	19.5
41	32	F	26.8
58	21	М	23.2
64	19	F	18.9
70	45	F	24.3
76	43	М	26.9
79	21	F	20.6
80	35	F	20.0

B controls

Volunteer	Age	Gender	BMI
72	43	F	23.6
81	43	F	28.9
84	35	М	21.9
86	18	F	24.0
87	21	F	19.6
93	24	М	20.8
95	37	М	24.4
96	23	F	24.5
100	32	М	23.1
108	28	М	29.1
109	26	F	21.1

FIGURE LEGENDS

Figure S1 A Study timeline. Large boxes indicate major stages in the study, small boxes indicate blood sampling points.

Figure S1 B Recruitment Flow Chart

Figure S2 Ex vivo IFN-y ELISpot responses to all influenza antigens. Summed CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cell responses to all influenza antigens measured by interferon-*y* ELISpot assay using overlapping peptides to each antigen (20mers overlapping by 10), measured on study day 29, one day prior to influenza challenge, reported as spot forming units per million PBMC. The summed responses to external antigens are not significantly different between vaccinees and controls (Two-sample Wilcoxon rank-sum [Mann-Whitney] test P=0.0818) whereas summed responses to internal antigens are significantly different between the two groups if vaccine antigens are included (P=0.0003) but not when the vaccine antigens are excluded (P=0.818). For external influenza antigens, responses to H1, H3 and swine origin HI pandemic virus were tested.

Figure S3: Increase in T cell response following influenza challenge. A significant correlation between fold increase in ELISpot response (summed response to NP and M1) from day 29 to day 37, and the total symptom score was observed (Spearman r value = 0.6623, p= 0.0008 two-tailed) when vaccinees (circles) and control (squares) subjects were analysed together. Open symbols represent volunteers who subsequently developed laboratory confirmed influenza, closed symbols volunteers who did not.



Figure S2



] H1 HA H3 HA SOHA

> SONA N1

Vaccinated External

300-

200

100

0







Figure S3



REFERENCES

- Osterholm MT, Kelley NS, Sommer A, Belongia EA. Efficacy and effectiveness of influenza vaccines: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Infect Dis 2012; 12:36–44
- Kresse H, Rovini H. Influenza vaccine market dynamics. Nat Rev Drug Discov 2009; 8:841–2.
- McMichael AJ, Gotch F, Cullen P, Askonas B, Webster RG. The human cytotoxic T cell response to influenza A vaccination. Clin Exp Immunol 1981; 43:276–84.
- Epstein SL. Prior H1N1 influenza infection and susceptibility of Cleveland Family Study participants during the H2N2 pandemic of 1957: an experiment of nature. J Infect Dis 2006; 193:49–53.
- He XS, Holmes TH, Zhang C, et al. Cellular immune responses in children and adults receiving inactivated or live attenuated influenza vaccines. J Virol 2006; 80:11756–66.
- Lee LY, Ha do LA, Simmons C, et al. Memory T cells established by seasonal human influenza A infection cross-react with avian influenza A (H5N1) in healthy individuals. J Clin Invest 2008; 118:3478–90.
- Berthoud TK, Hamill M, Lillie PJ, et al. Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52:1–7.
- Makedonas G, Banerjee PP, Pandey R, et al. Rapid up-regulation and granuleindependent transport of perforin to the immunological synapse define a novel mechanism of antigen-specific CD8+ T cell cytotoxic activity. J Immunol 2009; 182:5560–9.
- Forrest BD, Pride MW, Dunning AJ, et al. Correlation of cellular immune responses with protection against culture-confirmed influenza virus in young children. Clin Vaccine Immunol 2008; 15:1042–53.
- 10. Laddy DJ, Yan J, Kutzler M, et al. Heterosubtypic protection against pathogenic human and avian influenza viruses via in vivo electroporation of synthetic consensus DNA antigens. PLoS One 2008; 3:e2517.
- 11. Wesley RD, Tang M, Lager KM. Protection of weaned pigs by vaccination with human adenovirus 5 recombinant viruses expressing the haemagglutinin and the nucleoprotein of H3N2 swine influenza virus. Vaccine 2004; 22:3427–34.

- CDC. Interim within-season estimate of the effectiveness of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine–Marshfield, Wisconsin, 2007–08 influenza season. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep 2008; 57:393–8.
- Breathnach CC, Clark HJ, Clark RC, Olsen CW, Townsend HG, Lunn DP. Immunization with recombinant modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA) constructs encoding the HA or NP gene protects ponies from equine influenza virus challenge. Vaccine 2005; 24:1180–90.
- Donnelly JJ, Friedman A, Martinez D, et al. Preclinical efficacy of a prototype DNA vaccine: enhanced protection against antigenic drift in influenza virus. Nat Med 1995; 1:583–7.
- Epstein SL, Tumpey TM, Misplon JA, et al. DNA vaccine expressing conserved influenza virus proteins protective against H5N1 challenge infection in mice. Emerg Infect Dis 2002; 8:796–801.
- Laddy DJ, Yan J, Khan AS, et al. Electroporation of synthetic DNA antigens offers protection in nonhuman primates challenged with highly pathogenic avian influenza virus. J Virol 2009; 83:4624–30.

8.4 Paper 4 - Examination of Influenza Specific T- Cell Responses after Influenza Virus Challenge in Individuals Vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1Vaccine

Timothy J. Powell, Yanchun Peng, Tamara K. Berthoud, Marie-Eve Blais, Patrick J. Lillie, Adrian V. S. Hill, Sarah L. Rowland-Jones, Andrew J. McMichael, Sarah C. Gilbert, Tao Dong

ABSTRACT

Current influenza vaccines stimulate neutralising antibody to the haemagglutinin antigen but as there is antigenic drift in HA it is difficult to prepare a vaccine in advance against an emergent strain. A potential strategy is to induce CD8+ and CD4+ T cells that recognize epitopes within internal proteins that are less subject to antigenic drift. Augmenting humoral responses to HA with T cell responses to more conserved antigens may result in a more broadly protective vaccine. In this study, we evaluate the quality of influenza specific T cell responses in a clinical trial using MVA-NP+M1 vaccination followed by influenza virus challenge. In vaccinated volunteers, the expression of Granzyme A, Perforin and CD57 on influenza HLA A*02 M1₅₈₋₆₆ antigen specific cells was higher than non-vaccinated volunteers before and after challenge despite a similar frequency of antigen specific cells. BCL2 expression was lower in vaccinated volunteers. These data indicate that antigen specific T cells are a useful additional measure for use in human vaccination or immunization studies.

INTRODUCTION

Protection against influenza virus requires antibody secretion by B cells and cytotoxic and soluble mechanisms mediated by T cells (1). The antibody response can be stimulated by vaccination and the existence of an influenza specific haemagglutination-inhibition antibody titre of 1:40 or more is associated with protection (2). Influenza virus undergoes antigenic shift and drift, generating novel influenza viruses to which people may not have immunity (3). One way of overcoming this lack of immunity could be to stimulate pre-existing cross-reactive CD4+ and CD8+ T cell responses which have been shown in humans to react with H1N1 2009 virus (4) and H5N1 (5,6). This heterosubtypic immunity is associated with protection during human experimental influenza infection (7). CD8+ T cell responses to one conserved A*02 matrix protein 1 M1₅₈₋₆₆ epitope can be protective in A2
transgenic mouse models (8) and are commonly found in healthy donors with this common HLA type (9). Therefore it is convenient to analyse M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific CD8+ T cells in vaccine studies. The phenotype or activation state of T cells is important for protection against influenza such that na⁻⁻ive cells are less able to protect than activated or memory cells against a lethal influenza infection (10,11). Activated influenza specific T cells have been shown to be associated with protection against influenza in human studies (12,13,14,15) but no study of surface or intracellular phenotype was done.

We sought to characterize the antigen specific immune response to influenza following vaccination with a viral-vectored nucleoprotein + matrix protein 1 (NP+M1) influenza vaccine and subsequent influenza challenge and determine whether there was any change in the phenotype and functional potential of antigen specific CD8+ T cells. We found that following vaccination with modified vaccinia Ankara (MVA)-NP+M1, antigen specific M1₅₈₋₆₆ CD8+ T cells showed a more enhanced activation profile showing higher levels of perforin, granzyme A and CD57. There was also a reduction in BCL2 expression. These antigen specific cells expanded in response to challenge with live influenza virus. The vaccine-stimulated cells were altered in terms of their surface and intracellular phenotype. Examination of the phenotype of antigen specific T cells may be a useful adjunct for human immunization studies.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Ethical Permissions and Human Studies. Volunteers were recruited using an approved Medicines and Healthcare products Regulatory Agency and the Oxfordshire Research Ethics committee protocol, and enrolled only after obtaining written informed consent (www.clinicaltrials.gov identifier: NCT00993083, approved 19 May 2009). Volunteers aged 18–45 were recruited at the Centre for Clinical Vaccinology and Tropical Medicine, Oxford and the Welcome Trust Clinical Research Facility, Southampton beginning on 8th June 2009. Volunteers were initially screened by haemagglutination-inhibition assay against the virus to be used in the influenza challenge phase of the study. Those with a titre \leq 1:10 were eligible for further screening. Volunteers were seronegative for HIV, Hepatitis B virus and Hepatitis C virus and had not received seasonal influenza vaccination for at least one year prior to enrolment. Routine haematological and biochemical tests on enrolled volunteers were all within normal limits (16). Vaccine, Vaccinations and Virus Challenge. The CONSORT flow chart for the trial is shown in Figure 1. Beginning 27 July 2009, an MVA vaccine (17) expressing influenza (H3N2 A/Panama/2007/99) NP+M1 was administered, 1.5×10^8 plaque-forming units (PFUs), to 11 human volunteers 1 month before challenge with influenza (H3N2 A/Wisconsin/67/2005). Control subjects were challenged with H3N2 virus only. The viral challenge study was conducted by Retroscreen Virology Ltd (16). Symptoms and virus shedding were monitored. Differences between IFN- γ ELISPOT analysis pre and post challenge are given in (16). To examine the acute response after virus infection, blood was taken one day before (21) and days 4 and 7 after challenge, transported to Oxford and then flow cytometry performed on whole blood.

Flow Cytometry Analysis of Whole Blood Samples. Whole blood was aliquoted into tubes and then labelled with six different antibody panels all with tetramer-PE: HLA-A*0201 complexed with M1₅₈₋₆₆ peptide GILGFVFTL, produced in house using standard methods [18] and incubated for 15 mins at 37uC. Red blood cells were lysed using RBC lysis media (Becton Dickinson, Oxford UK) for 15 mins at room temperature then washed 26 with FACS buffer PBS (Difco, Poole) with 1% v/v BSA (Sigma, Poole UK) followed by incubation with CD8-PerCP and CD4-Pac Blue (eBiosciences, Hatfield UK) plus different panels of ab: CD28-FITC. HLA-DR-APC, CD38-PE-Cy7 and CD27-APCH7 (eBiosciences) or CD57-FITC and CD25-APC or CD45RA-FITC, CD45RO-PECy7 and CCR5-APC. Cells allocated to the Intracellular panels were permeabilised with Perm2 (BD) for 15 mins and washed 26 in FACS buffer. Cells were then labeled with CD8-PerCP (Biolegend) and CD4-Pac Blue followed by: Perforin-FITC (D48, Genprobe, Manchester, UK) or GranzymeA-FITC or GranzymeB-FITC or Ki67-FITC. Cells were then washed twice and fixed in BD cellfix. All abs were from Becton Dickinson (Oxford, UK) unless otherwise stated. Similar staining protocols were also done using the CMV lower matrix protein pp65495–503 NLVPMVATV tetramer (19). Cell events were collected on a 9 colour Cyan Cytometer (Dako, Ely, UK) and data files analysed using FlowJo (Tree Star Inc, Ashland, OR, USA). Data were analysed using a forward side scatter gate followed by CD8 gating then tetramer gating within the CD8+ population. These cells were then analysed for percentage expression of a particular marker using unstained and CD8+ tet- populations to determine where to place the gates. Single colour samples were run for compensation and fluorescence minus one (FMO) samples were also run to check positive and negative populations as well as channel spillover. To monitor overall changes of white blood cell numbers, whole blood samples

were analysed using the BD Trucount system measuring CD4, CD8 and CD3 positive lymphocytes according to manufacturers instructions.

CONSORT Flow Diagram



Figure 1. CONSORT flow diagram of the clinical trial.

ELISPOT Analysis of PBMC. PBMC were separated on density gradients and incubated with peptide pools from each gene of the H3N2 virus along with peptide pools from other subtypes of haemagglutinin (HA) and neuraminidase (NA) as described previously (16). Peptide pools were similar to those described previously (20). Swine origin (SO) HA and NA were overlapping 18–20 mers from the full sequence of A/Cal/04/2009 H1N1 influenza virus.

Statistical Analyses. Groups of data were analysed by repeated measures ANOVA using pairing of samples using the statistical package R (R Foundation). Changes between vaccinated and control were considered along with time and interaction between both. Any analyses showing p values <0.05 were considered significant. Data from repeated measures ANOVA are shown in Table S1.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Initially we analysed the percentage and absolute numbers of tetramer positive CD8 T cells for each HLA-A*02 volunteer by FACS on the day before and up to day 7 post challenge. Surprisingly we found that the percentage of M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific cells, shown in Figure 2A, was not different between vaccinated and control donors. A representative flow cytometry profile from one vaccinated and one control donor is shown in Figure 2B, which shows cells gated on CD8 and the percentage of tetramer positive cells within that gate. The absolute number of M1₅₈₋₆₆ antigen specific CD8⁺ T cells was also calculated using CD8 counts from the Trucount and these were not significantly different between groups (data not shown). Overall T cell responses to overlapping peptides spanning the entire H3N2 proteome (5) were tested and no significant differences were observed between vaccinated and control groups to most proteins, despite raised responses to NP in the vaccinated group before infection (Figure S1) (16,17). There is an overall trend of elevation of T cell responses in both groups 7 days after the challenge, which could mainly be CD4 dependent responses as described by Wilkinson et al., (21).

Since the number or proportion of antigen specific cells was not different between the groups we then examined the cell surface and intracellular phenotype of the $M1_{58-66}$ CD8⁺ T cells. We examined the expression of CD27, CD28, CD38 and HLA-DR on the surface of the cells that are markers associated with activation and differentiation

(19). We found that the expression of CD27, CD28, CD38 and HLA-DR were not different between vaccinated and control donors by repeated measures ANOVA (Figure 3A). The levels of CD57, which is a marker associated with either senescence or activation were different by repeated measures ANOVA (p = **0.00705) and CD57 was enhanced on cells from vaccinated volunteers. Double CD27⁺ CD28⁺ positive cells were not different between the groups and a representative flow cytometry profile is shown in Figure 3B.

Further to the cell surface molecules we examined the intracellular molecules, granzyme A, granzyme B and perforin on M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific cells; which are all associated with better levels of cytolytic activity. Significant changes in perforin expression were only detected using the more sensitive mab D48 that detects newly synthesized perforin (22) and we found that the perforin levels were higher in vaccinated volunteers by repeated measures ANOVA (p = **0.0027) (Figure 3C). We found that granzyme A was elevated in vaccinated volunteers (repeated measures ANOVA p = **0.0025). Granzyme B was not different (Figure 3C). These data imply that the vaccinated donors possess antigen specific cells that have developed the potential to be more cytolytic and this would then potentially correlate with faster virus clearance. In donors vaccinated followed by influenza challenge, levels of B Cell lymphoma-2 (BCL₂) protein were reduced (repeated measures ANOVA p = ***0.00314) as shown in Figure 3C. These changes may indicate more differentiated cells or cells that are more likely to apoptose. Figure 3D shows a flow cytometry profile from one vaccinated and one control donor showing increased perforin (D48 clone) in tetramer positive cells from a vaccinated donor at day four.

Shown in Figure 4A is the phenotype data that we obtained from the vaccinated/control volunteers and then influenza infected volunteers examining different surface and intracellular markers. Overall there are a number of proteins that show trends of difference that are similar to the statistically different changes shown in earlier figures, illustrating an overall picture that the M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific CD8⁺ T cells are more responsive from the vaccinated volunteers than those from the control volunteers. Analysis of total CD4⁺ or CD8⁺ T cell populations could be useful but because of the unknown specificity of these cells we considered that it was better to measure either influenza or CMV antigen specific cells.

% of CD8 Tetramer+



Figure 2. Frequency of tetramer positive cells is similar between vaccinated and control volunteers. Data shows percentage of CD8 cells within a CD8 gate with vaccinated as closed squares and control open circles. B) Representative FACS profile of one vaccinated and one control donor at day 21, one day before challenge with influenza virus.

We also examined the phenotype of CMV specific cells in two vaccinated volunteers that were positive for the CMV tetramer and found that these did not change during the influenza infection (Figure 4B). This indicated that there was no bystander activation of CMV specific T cells during the challenge and that it is unlikely that the adjuvant effects of MVA are causing these changes in phenotype of M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific cells.



Figure 3. Surface and intracellular activation markers are enhanced on tetramer labeled cells from vaccinated donors compared to control. A) Time course between day 21 and 7 and expression of noted markers on $M1_{58-66}$ tetramer labeled cells. B) Representative flow cytometry plot of $M1_{58-66}$ tetramer positive cells labeled for CD27 and CD28 on day 21 showing similar profiles. C) Graphs plot the percentage of tetramer+ cells or MFI of tetramer+ cells with the noted markers. D) Representative flow cytometry plot of two donors showing control (open plot) and vaccinated volunteer (filled histogram) labeled with anti-D48 Pfp on day 4. Groups were compared using repeated measures ANOVA.

This phase IIa study of a novel influenza vaccine was designed to test whether stimulating NP+M1 T cell responses were able to protect vaccinees against influenza (16), but here we particularly concentrate on changes in surface phenotype of the antigen specific cells after vaccination and influenza challenge. The phenotype of the influenza specific T cells was altered and these changes or enhancements of T cell phenotype have been found in other studies to be associated with protection against influenza (11). Miller et al., found that antigen specific T cells were stimulated in a study of yellow fever and vaccinia vaccination and that vaccinated donors had enhanced activation profiles (23). In other studies enhancement of perforin expression has been demonstrated on IFN-c secreting cells after influenza vaccination (24). We also find that perforin level is increased on antigen specific cells identified using tetramers after vaccination, which gives more insight into the response of antigen specific T cells after vaccination and challenge in humans.



Figure 4. Analysis of markers that are not different between vaccinated and control volunteers and analysis of CMV specific T cells after influenza challenge. A) Cells were labeled for flow cytometry and percentage positive calculated using FlowJo. All donors are shown in the figures and indicate positivity for various markers after vaccination and or challenge with influenza virus. All groups were compared using repeated measures ANOVA. B) Analysis of phenotypic markers on CMV tetramer positive CD8T cells showing different marker expression on these antigen specific cells.

....

The M1 specific CD8⁺ T cells have been shown to be protective in A2 transgenic mice (8), and HLA A2 positive donors commonly have detectable $M1_{58-66}$ specific CD8 T cells (9). Terajima et al., and Tu et al., (25,26) show the presence of influenza specific T cells in human samples that have the potential to protect against novel strains of influenza. McMichael has shown association between cytotoxic activity of T cells and reduced virus shedding in humans (7). Hikono et al., have shown that certain activated memory T cells can protect against subsequent influenza challenge (11) and that activation phenotypes may be more important than absolute numbers of memory cells. Murine antigen specific CD8⁺T cells of a single specificity can be protective against influenza challenge after adoptive transfer (10) or by priming with a known peptide (8). In humans, protection against influenza is likely to involve different specificities of CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells since it is likely that most adults will have previously been exposed to influenza. These studies could be extended in future to examine different specificities and HLA alleles. Another observation is that there are differences in T cell phenotype when the ELISPOT responses are similar. Despite the usefulness of the ELISPOT assay and its widespread use in trials of this type, it only gives one view of the T cell response and we recommend a more detailed T cell phenotype analysis to provide a more complete description of the effects of vaccination.

In conclusion, we have found that vaccination with an MVA construct containing NP+M1 in healthy volunteers led to more activated antigen specific CD8⁺T cells and these cells have the potential to be more active in clearing virus because of higher levels of perforin and granzyme proteins. The approach of using tetramers in combination with phenotypic markers may also be a useful method to assess the immunogenicity of different vaccines.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION - Figure S1 ELISPOT responses using peptides from individual genes indicate rise in NP response after vaccination & infection and rise of H3 HA response after challenge. IFN-γ ELISPOT assays were done using standard methods using overlapping peptides from H3N2 and other strains of influenza viruses.



Table S1 Summary of repeated measures ANOVA p values of marker analysis on M1₅₈₋₆₆ specific CD8 T cells after vaccination and/or challenge

Marker ^a	Vaccine ^b	Time ^c	Interaction ^d
CD57	0.00704	0.085	0.333
CD28	0.166	1.33e-05	0.0947
CD38	0.252	0.00015	0.632
Pfp D48	0.00275	0.00870	0.126
GrzA	0.00250	0.000201	0.00879
GrzB	0.0971	5.13e-05	0.0343
BCL2	0.00313	1.34e-05	0.113
Ki67	0.230	0.0039	0.265
CD27/28	0.618	0.0001	0.592
CD27	0.942	0.0249	0.0868
HLA-DR	0.833	0.106	0.824
Pfp dG9	0.254	0.0143	0.233
CCR5	0.970	5.88e-5	0.918
CD45RA	0.0943	0.0122	0.228
CD45RO	0.389	0.00176	0.0288

^aAnalysis of markers examined on antigen specific T cells after vaccination with an NP+M1 vaccine or control donors followed by challenge with intranasal influenza vaccine.

^bp value with respect to variation caused by vaccine.

^cP values with respect to variation attributable to time.

^dp of both time and vaccine together.

REFERENCES

- Doherty PC, Topham DJ, Tripp RA, Cardin RD, Brooks JW, et al. (1997) Effector CD4+ and CD8+ T-cell mechanisms in the control of respiratory virus infections. Immunol Rev 159: 105–117.
- Hobson D, Curry RL, Beare AS, Ward-Gardner A (1972) The role of serum haemagglutination-inhibiting antibody in protection against challenge infection with influenza A2 and B viruses. J Hyg (Lond) 70: 767–777.
- 3. Nicholson KG, Wood JM, Zambon M (2003) Influenza. Lancet 362: 1733-1745.
- 4. Greenbaum JA, Kotturi MF, Kim Y, Oseroff C, Vaughan K, et al. (2009) Preexisting immunity against swine-origin H1N1 influenza viruses in the general human population. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 106: 20365–20370.
- Lee LY, Ha DL, Simmons C, de Jong MD, Chau NV, et al. (2008) Memory T cells established by seasonal human influenza A infection cross-react with avian influenza A (H5N1) in healthy individuals. J Clin Invest 118: 3478–3490.
- Kreijtz JH, de Mutsert G, van Baalen CA, Fouchier RA, Osterhaus AD, et al. (2008) Cross-recognition of avian H5N1 influenza virus by human cytotoxic T- lymphocyte populations directed to human influenza A virus. J Virol 82: 5161– 5166.
- McMichael AJ, Gotch FM, Noble GR, Beare PA (1983) Cytotoxic T-cell immunity to influenza. N Engl J Med 309: 13–17.
- Plotnicky H, Cyblat-Chanal D, Aubry JP, Derouet F, Klinguer-Hamour C, et al. (2003) The immunodominant influenza matrix T cell epitope recognized in human induces influenza protection in HLA-A2/K(b) transgenic mice. Virology 309: 320– 329.
- Lehner PJ, Wang EC, Moss PA, Williams S, Platt K, et al. (1995) Human HLA- A0201restricted cytotoxic T lymphocyte recognition of influenza A is dominated by T cells bearing the V beta 17 gene segment. J Exp Med 181: 79–91.
- 10. Cerwenka A, Morgan TM, Dutton RW (1999) Naive, effector, and memory CD8 T cells in protection against pulmonary influenza virus infection: homing properties rather than initial frequencies are crucial. J Immunol 163: 5535–5543.
- Hikono H, Kohlmeier JE, Takamura S, Wittmer ST, Roberts AD, et al. (2007) Activation phenotype, rather than central- or effector-memory phenotype, predicts the recall efficacy of memory CD8+ T cells. J Exp Med 204: 1625– 1636.

- Co MD, Orphin L, Cruz J, Pazoles P, Rothman AL, et al. (2008) Discordance between antibody and T cell responses in recipients of trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine. Vaccine 26: 1990–1998.
- Forrest BD, Pride MW, Dunning AJ, Capeding MR, Chotpitayasunondh T, et al. (2008) Correlation of cellular immune responses with protection against culture-confirmed influenza virus in young children. Clin Vaccine Immunol 15: 1042–1053.
- 14. Heidema J, Rossen JW, Lukens MV, Ketel MS, Scheltens E, et al. (2008) Dynamics of human respiratory virus-specific CD8+ T cell responses in blood and airways during episodes of common cold. J Immunol 181: 5551–5559.
- 15. McElhaney JE, Xie D, Hager WD, Barry MB, Wang Y, et al. (2006) T cell responses are better correlates of vaccine protection in the elderly. J Immunol 176: 6333–6339.
- Lillie PJ, Berthoud TK, Powell TJ, Lambe T, Mullarkey C, et al. (2012) A preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 55: 19–25.
- Berthoud TK, Hamill M, Lillie PJ, Hwenda L, Collins KA, et al. (2011) Potent CD8+ Tcell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 52: 1–7.
- Altman JD, Moss PA, Goulder PJ, Barouch DH, McHeyzer-Williams MG, et al. (1996)
 Phenotypic analysis of antigen-specific T lymphocytes. Science 274: 94– 96.
- Appay V, Dunbar PR, Callan M, Klenerman P, Gillespie GM, et al. (2002) Memory CD8+ T cells vary in differentiation phenotype in different persistent virus infections. Nat Med 8: 379–385.
- Powell TJ, Fox A, Peng Y, Quynh Mai LT, Lien VT, et al. (2012) Identification of H5N1-Specific T-Cell Responses in a High-risk Cohort in Vietnam Indicates the Existence of Potential Asymptomatic Infections. J Infect Dis 205: 20–27.
- 21. Wilkinson TM, Li CK, Chui CS, Huang AK, Perkins M, et al. (2012) Pre-existing influenza-specific CD4+ T cells correlate with disease protection against influenza challenge in humans. Nat Med 18: 274–280.
- 22. Makedonas G, Banerjee PP, Pandey R, Hersperger AR, Sanborn KB, et al. (2009) Rapid up-regulation and granule-independent transport of perforin to the immunological synapse define a novel mechanism of antigen-specific CD8+ T cell cytotoxic activity. J Immunol 182: 5560–5569.

- Miller JD, van der Most RG, Akondy RS, Glidewell JT, Albott S, et al. (2008) Human effector and memory CD8+ T cell responses to smallpox and yellow fever vaccines. Immunity 28: 710–722.
- 24. He XS, Holmes TH, Mahmood K, Kemble GW, Dekker CL, et al. (2008) Phenotypic changes in influenza-specific CD8+ T cells after immunization of children and adults with influenza vaccines. J Infect Dis 197: 803–811.
- 25. Terajima M, Cruz J, Leporati AM, Orphin L, Babon JA, et al. (2008) Influenza A virus matrix protein 1-specific human CD8+ T-cell response induced in trivalent inactivated vaccine recipients. J Virol 82: 9283–9287.
- Tu W, Mao H, Zheng J, Liu Y, Chiu SS, et al. (2010) Cytotoxic T lymphocytes established by seasonal human influenza cross-react against 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza virus. J Virol 84: 6527–6535.

8.5 Paper 5 - Severity Assessment of Influenza Virus Infection in Secondary Care

Patrick J Lillie, Rohit Bazaz, Laura Dexter, Charles Biju, Lucy Peart, Leon Lewis, Mohammad Raza, Paul Whiting, Anne Tunbridge

We read the comprehensive review on pH1N1 severity assessment by Singanayagam and colleagues with interest (1). They highlight the limitations of severity assessment tools and factors associated with severe disease with pH1N1 infection, as had previously been shown for influenza prior to pH1N1 (2). The majority of evidence recently has concentrated on pH1N1 infection only, most of which was collected during the first wave of cases in 2009/2010 in both the UK (3) and elsewhere (4-8). It is not clear how applicable this is in the setting of pH1N1 becoming the predominate seasonal influenza virus, particularly with co-circulation of influenza B virus, as was the case in the UK in the winter of 2010-2011 (9). Here we describe factors associated with admission to critical care in adult patients attending our hospitals with confirmed influenza, of any type, during the winter of 2010-2011. We also propose an admission and severity assessment pro forma which we intend to use prospectively in the forthcoming influenza season.

Cases of influenza infection in adults were retrospectively identified from the virology laboratory records; demographic details and requirement for critical care were available for all adult patients admitted into our hospital trust. More in-depth assessment was made of a smaller cohort from retrieved notes. Data were analysed using Graphpad Prism and SPSS version 19.

Over the winter season of 2010-2011 the virology department of Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Foundation NHS Trust identified 418 separate samples as being PCR positive for influenza virus from the 1st November 2010 to the 31st January 2011. Cases peaked over the Christmas period with 217 confirmed influenza infections in the 2 weeks from the 20th December. Of the total isolates, 312 were influenza A (all typed as pH1N1) and 106 were influenza B. Demographic data and requirement for critical care were available on all these cases. There was no significant difference in the median age between the influenza A and B groups (47 years and 50 years respectively p = 0.198) or in the need for critical care (28/312 influenza A and 4/ 106 influenza B, p = 0.093). Case notes for 131 patients were retrieved for further evaluation. The most common presenting features were current fever or history of fever (87.6%) and cough (92.4%). Gastrointestinal symptoms were common, with 28.2% of cases presenting with vomiting and 19.8% with diarrhoea. 38 patients had no risk factors for severe influenza infection. Of the 131 patients, 27 patients required critical care, of whom 9 died. Table 1 shows the variables associated with critical care admission on uni and multi-variate analysis.

	Critical care	Non critical care	P value -	P value –
	case (n=27)	case (n=104)	univariate	multivariate
Age	49 (37-65)	34.5 (25-53)	0.0033	>0.05
Oxygen	4 (16%)	84 (80.8%)	<0.0001	<0.0001
saturations >92%				
on air				
Respiratory rate	28 (22-38)	20 (17-24)	<0.0001	0.035
Existing	14 (51.9%)	26 (25%)	0.0099	>0.05
respiratory illness				
Smoker	14 (51.9%)	26 (35.6%)	0.0185	>0.05
Obesity	6 (22.2%)	6 (5.8%)	0.0171	>0.05
Pulse	112 (98.5-	100 (88-114)	0.006	0.036
	131.5)			
Confusion	12 (44.4%)	7 (6.7%)	<0.0001	>0.05
CXR abnormal	24 (92.3%)	24 (24.7%)	<0.0001	>0.05
Urea (mmol/L)	8.6 (3.6-17.1)	3.5 (2.4-4.6)	<0.0001	>0.05
Albumin (g/L)	30 (26-33)	37 (34-41)	<0.0001	0.001
CRP (mg/L)	167.3 (59-	51.3 (22.7-	0.0123	>0.05
	247.5)	120.3)		

Table 1: Features predicting need for critical care. Values are medians (interquartile range), or absolute numbers (%). CXR – chest x-ray, CRP – C Reactive Protein. Fishers exact test or Mann-Whtiney U test as applicable.

A total of 802 bed days were used, with a median length of stay of 3 days (range 1-70). Empiric treatment with neuraminidase inhibitors, as compared to no treatment or treatment initiated after receipt of a positive PCR result, was associated with a reduction in median length of stay from 3 to two days (p = 0.0107).

Thirty-two of the 131 patients were discharged within 24 hours, and potentially may have been suitable for management in the community with antivirals. Compared to those admitted for over 24 hours none of these 32 patients were aged over 65 (median age 28.5 years in 24 h group, 45 years in>24 h group, p = 0.0033), none were confused (19/99 in the >24 h group, p = 0.0038), all had oxygen saturations on room air of >92% (40/97 in the >24 h group, p < 0.0001) and they had lower respiratory rates (median respiratory rate 18 in the 24 h group, 20 in the >24 h group p = 0.0014). Using the data from both the critical care and short stay groups, we have drafted an assessment pro forma for use in the coming influenza season, to assist our admission units in deciding on appropriate disposal of patients. The pro forma when applied retrospectively to this cohort of 131 patients had good predictive ability for need for admission, with very good predictive ability of the need for critical care (Figure 1).

As the northern hemisphere prepares for the next influenza season, variations in the type of influenza circulating and the proportion of people susceptible differ between areas. Use of assessment tools such as ours may improve use of critical care services, which can come under great pressure in times of influenza activity (5). Conversely, early identification of patients who could be managed in the community, with appropriate antiviral treatment (10) may release resources in secondary care to manage more severe cases.

In summary, simple clinical variables and investigations allow patients with influenza infection to be assessed rapidly and appropriately, and empiric treatment may shorten duration of admission.

Does the patient need to be admitted?

•	Confused?	Y/N
•	O ₂ Saturations<93%?	Y/N
•	Aged ≥65?	Y/N
•	Respiratory rate >24	Y / N

• Any co-morbidity? Y / N

- If no to all the above, then may be suitable for management in the community with antiviral medication.
- If yes, then refer for assessment including CXR and blood tests

For predicting admission of ≤24 hours, Sensitivity 53.1%, Specificity 86.9%, Positive predictive value 56.7%, Negative predictive value 85.2%

Does the patient require critical care?

•	Respiratory rate >30	Y / N
•	Abnormal Chest x-ray	Y / N
•	O ₂ Saturations<90%	Y / N
•	Albumin <33g/l	Y / N
•	Urea >8mmol/l	Y / N
•	CRP >150 mg/l	Y / N

- If Yes to 2 consider critical care review.
- If yes to 3 or more, critical care review strongly advised.

For predicting need for critical care admission , using 2 or more as a cut off, Sensitivity 88.9%, Specificity 81.7%, Positive predictive value 55.8%, Negative predictive value 96.6%

Figure 1 Assessment pro forma with performance characteristics.

REFERENCES

- Singanayagam A, Wood V, Chalmers JD. Factors associated with severe illness in pandemic 2009 influenza a (H1N1) infection: implications for triage in primary and secondary care. *The Journal of Infection* 2011;63(4):243e51. Epub 16.08.11.
- Muller MP, McGeer AJ, Hassan K, Marshall J, Christian M. Evaluation of pneumonia severity and acute physiology scores to predict ICU admission and mortality in patients hospitalized for influenza. *PloS One* 2010;5(3):e9563. Epub 12.03.10.
- Nguyen-Van-Tam JS, Openshaw PJ, Hashim A, Gadd EM, Lim WS, Semple MG, et al. Risk factors for hospitalisation and poor outcome with pandemic A/H1N1 influenza: United Kingdom first wave (May-September 2009). *Thorax* 2010; 65(7):645e51. Epub 16.07.10.
- Brandsaeter BJ, Pillgram M, Berild D, Kjekshus H, Kran AM, Bergersen BM. Hospitalised patients with suspected 2009 H1N1 influenza A in a hospital in Norway, July - December 2009. *BMC Infectious Diseases* 2011;11:75. Epub 26.03.11.
- Webb SA, Pettila V, Seppelt I, Bellomo R, Bailey M, Cooper DJ, et al. Critical care services and 2009 H1N1 influenza in Australia and New Zealand. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2009;361(20):1925e34. Epub 10.10.09.
- Jain S, Kamimoto L, Bramley AM, Schmitz AM, Benoit SR, Louie J, et al. Hospitalized patients with 2009 H1N1 influenza in the United States, April-June 2009. *The New England Journal of Medicine* 2009;361(20):1935e44. Epub 10.10.09.
- Echevarria-Zuno S, Meji-Arangure JM, MarObeso AJ, Grajales-Muniz C, Robles-Perez E, Gonzalez-Leon M, et al. Infection and death from influenza A H1N1 virus in Mexico: a retrospective analysis. *Lancet* 2009;374(9707):2072e9. Epub 11.17.09.
- Riquelme R, Jimenez P, Videla AJ, Lopez H, Chalmers J, Singanayagam A, et al. Predicting mortality in hospitalized patients with 2009 H1N1 influenza pneumonia. *The International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease: The Official Journal of the International Union Against Tuberculosis and Lung Disease* 2011;15(4):542e6. Epub 15.03.11.
- 9. Surveillance of influenza and other respiratory viruses in the UK: 2010-2011 report. Health Protection Agency; 2011.
- 10. Yu H, Liao Q, Yuan Y, Zhou L, Xiang N, Huai Y, et al. Effectiveness of oseltamivir on disease progression and viral RNA shedding in patients with mild pandemic 2009

influenza A H1N1: opportunistic retrospective study of medical charts in China. *BMJ* 2010;341:c4779. Epub 30.09.11.

8.6 Paper 6 - Distinguishing Malaria and Influenza: Early Clinical Features in Controlled Human Experimental Infection Studies

Patrick J. Lillie¹, Christopher J.A. Duncan¹, Susanne H. Sheehy, Joel Meyer, Geraldine A. O'Hara, Sarah C. Gilbert, Adrian V.S. Hill

1 – Joint first authors

SUMMARY

During the H1N1 influenza pandemic (pH1N1/09) diagnostic algorithms were developed to guide antiviral provision. However febrile illnesses are notoriously difficult to distinguish clinically. Recent evidence highlights the importance of incorporating travel history into diagnostic algorithms to prevent the catastrophic misdiagnosis of lifethreatening infections such as malaria.

We applied retrospectively the UK pH1N1/09 case definition to a unique cohort of healthy adult volunteers exposed to *Plasmodium falciparum* malaria or influenza to assess the predictive value of this case definition, and to explore the distinguishing clinical features of early phase infection with these pathogens under experimental conditions.

For influenza exposure the positive predictive value of the pH1N1/09 case definition was only 0.38 (95% CI: 0.06-0.60), with a negative predictive value of 0.27 (95% CI: 0.02-0.51). Interestingly, 8/11 symptomatic malaria-infected adults would have been inappropriately classified with influenza by the pH1N1/09 case definition, while 5/8 symptomatic influenza-exposed volunteers would have been classified without influenza (P = 0.18Fisher's exact). Cough (P = 0.005) and nasal symptoms (P = 0.001) were the only clinical features that distinguished influenza-exposed from malaria-exposed volunteers. An open mind regarding the clinical cause of undifferentiated febrile illness, particularly in the absence of upper respiratory tract symptoms, remains important even during influenza pandemic settings. These data support incorporating travel history into pandemic algorithms.

INTRODUCTION

With the advent of the first pandemic of influenza of the 21st century, there was significant concern about the potential impact on healthcare infrastructure of managing pandemic H1N1 (pH1N1) infections in traditional settings. In July 2009, due to sustained community transmission of pH1N1 (with 80,000-100,000 symptomatic cases/week in England (1), control efforts shifted to mass treatment strategies, and the UK National Pandemic Flu Service began to offer treatment of symptomatic individuals identified by telephone or internet-based triage in England (2). However the initial pandemic area (3). As a result, at least 3 cases of malaria infection in travellers that were misdiagnosed with influenza were reported (4,5). While in a pandemic setting such triage may be essential for efficient recognition and management of cases, the UK case definition has been subsequently shown to be poorly predictive (2).

In the course of separate candidate vaccine efficacy trials carried out by our unit (www.clinicaltrials.gov NCT00890760/NCT00993083), we independently exposed cohorts of unimmunised healthy control volunteers to pathogenic strains of either *Plasmodium falciparum* (*P. falciparum*) malaria or influenza A under controlled experimental conditions, and followed them closely in the early phases of infection until clinical diagnosis. These control volunteers were enrolled to ensure the reliability of the respective experimental infections and therefore did not receive any immunisations. Although these studies were conducted separately, assessment of clinical symptoms was conducted according to uniform criteria. These data afford us a unique opportunity to perform a retrospective comparison of the early clinical features that may be of use in differentiating clinically between an often uncomplicated illness in influenza and a potentially lifethreatening infection in malaria, and to assess whether the clinical features included in the UK pandemic case definition alone were sufficiently discriminatory.

METHODS

Controlled human malaria infection (CHMI). Recruitment occurred at the Centre for Clinical Vaccinology and Tropical Medicine, Oxford, with the challenge procedure performed, using five infectious bites from P. falciparum 3D7-strain infected mosquitoes, at Imperial College, London. We recruited healthy malaria naïve adults aged 18-50 years old from the Oxford area. Enrolled control volunteers (n = 12) were seronegative for HIV, Hepatitis B virus and Hepatitis C virus and were used to assess the infectibility of the challenge inoculum. Routine haematological and biochemical tests on enrolled control volunteers were all within normal limits. These control volunteers underwent full clinical examination and safety blood tests the day prior to sporozoite challenge. All volunteers remained outpatients throughout the challenge procedure. Volunteers attended twice daily for clinical assessment as previously described (6). Self-reported solicited and unsolicited symptoms and routine observations (BP, pulse, temperature) were collected twice daily from day 6.5 post-challenge and guided physical examination carried out as indicated by symptoms. Thick blood films were examined twice daily for malaria parasites by blinded microscopists together with a concurrent highly sensitive quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) assay for P. falciparum. Treatment with a standard oral dose of artemether/lumefantrine for 3 days was administered on the detection of a single parasite by microscopy, or on the occurrence of significant symptoms + sequential positive qPCR (if blood films were negative). Volunteers were followed up daily until two consecutive negative malaria films were observed, and returned for full clinical assessment including safety blood tests on days 35, 90 and 140 post-challenge.

Controlled human influenza infection. Recruitment occurred at the Centre for Clinical Vaccinology and Tropical Medicine, Oxford and the Welcome Trust Clinical Research Facility, Southampton. Volunteers aged 18-45 years were initially screened by haemagglutination inhibition (HI) assay against the virus to be used in the challenge phase of the study to ensure susceptibility to challenge. Those with a titre $\leq 1:10$ were eligible for further detailed screening. Enrolled volunteers (n = 12) were seronegative for HIV, Hepatitis B virus and Hepatitis C virus and had not received seasonal influenza vaccination for at least one year prior to enrolment. Routine haematological and biochemical tests on enrolled control volunteers were all within normal limits. Control volunteers underwent clinical examination, spirometry, safety blood tests and

electrocardiography on entry to the quarantine facility. Two days after entry to quarantine (to allow time for observation of any symptoms of respiratory virus infections) control volunteers were challenged with intra-nasal administration of H3N2 influenza (A/Wisconsin/67/ 2005) at a dose of 1 ml of 10^{5.25} TCID50/ml. All volunteers were inoculated during the same 2- h period. After challenge, volunteers were followed up in the quarantine facility as previously described (7). Self-reported symptoms were collected twice daily and a physical examination by a blinded physician was carried out daily. Nasal lavage fluid for quantification of viral shedding was obtained daily. Symptoms and physician elicited clinical signs were recorded using a standardised modified Jackson scoring system (8) (which assigns severity of symptoms such as cough, rhinorrhoea etc., on a scale of 0-3, where no symptoms = 0; just noticeable = 1; bothersome but can still do activities = 2; and bothersome and cannot do daily activities = 3) with a score of >4 indicating influenza disease. Safety blood tests and further spirometry and electrocardiography were performed on all volunteers whilst in quarantine. A five-day course of oseltamivir was commenced from day 5 post-challenge for all volunteers with medication provided to complete the course after discharge. Volunteers were released from quarantine on the 7th day post-challenge after a negative rapid antigen test for influenza on nasal washings was obtained. After discharge all volunteers were followed up on days 35, 91 and 181 post-challenge for safety blood tests.

Ethics. Clinical trial protocols (www.clinicaltrials.gov identifiers: NCT00890760 and NCT00993083) were approved by the UK Medicines and Healthcare Products Regulatory Agency and the Oxfordshire NHS Research Ethics Committee. All volunteers provided signed informed consent prior to any study procedure, and all studies were conducted according to the principles of Good Clinical Practice and the Declaration of Helsinki.

Case definition. We examined the UK 2009 pandemic H1N1 influenza A case definition (pH1N1/09) which was used from 2nd July 2009 to determine provision of antiviral therapy in the absence of assessment by health professional.

• Fever >38 ^OC or history of fever,

and two or more of the following:

• Cough, sore throat, headache, rhinorrhoea, limb or joint pain (2,9).

Statistical analysis. We calculated the ability of the UK pH1N1/09 case definition to distinguish influenza-exposed unvaccinated volunteers from malaria-exposed unvaccinated volunteers by calculating positive and negative predictive values. We also analysed the significance of differences between proportions of early symptoms in the group of malaria-exposed and influenza-exposed volunteers, and repeated this analysis for those individuals with laboratory-confirmed influenza. Continuous variables were assessed for normality and significance of differences between central tendencies (mean or median) assessed by appropriate parametric or non-parametric tests (Student's *t* test or Manne Whitney *U* test respectively). All statistical analysis was performed using Prism 5.0 (GraphPad), with two-tailed tests and an alpha value of <0.05 considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Participants. 1 out of 12 influenza unvaccinated control volunteers developed an asymptomatic rise in HI titre and this volunteer was excluded prior to challenge; therefore 11 unvaccinated controls were exposed to influenza infection. 11/12 malaria unvaccinated control volunteers were included in the analysis. No serious adverse events occurred in volunteers in either challenge. Demographic details of these participants are summarised in Table 1. All malaria volunteers were diagnosed on the basis of positive blood film microscopy (geometric mean parasitaemia 4030p/ml by qPCR) for *P. falciparum* a mean of 11.8 days post-challenge (Ewer K. *et al.*, manuscript submitted). 5/8 symptomatic influenza volunteers developed laboratory-confirmed influenza infection, defined as positive viral culture for challenge virus on nasal lavage fluid a mean of 2.3 days post-challenge (Lillie P.J. *et al.*, Clinical Infectious Disease *in press*).

Demographics	Malaria	Influenza	P value
Number of	11	8	-
volunteers			
Median age (IQR)	28.6 (22.5-35.4)	28 (23-37)	0.51
Male / Female	6 / 5	3 / 5	0.65

Table 1 - Demographic details of symptomatic controlled experimental infection volunteers.

Clinical features. Clinical features of the exposed volunteers in the influenza and malaria cohorts are summarised in Table 2. Only the incidence of cough (P = 0.005 Fisher's exact) and rhinorrhoea (P = 0.001 Fisher's exact) were significantly different between the groups. In line with this increase in upper respiratory tract symptoms in influenza-exposed volunteers, there was also a trend towards an increased frequency of sore throat (P = 0.06 Fisher's exact). Restricting analysis to the 5/8 symptomatic influenza-exposed volunteers with viral culture-confirmed infection, the significant increase in cough (P = 0.003 Fisher's exact) and rhinorrhoea (P = 0.001 Fisher's exact) remained, whilst the trend for sore throat became significant (P = 0.02 Fisher's exact). Physiological parameters did not distinguish the malaria and influenza cohorts. There were no significant differences in the peak mean heart rate (malaria 92.2 beats per minute [95% CI: 82.6-101.8], influenza 82.7 [95% CI: 69.5-96.0], P = 0.19 t test) or temperature (malaria 37.2 °C [95% CI: 36.6-37.7], influenza 37.3 [95% CI: 36.9-37.7], P = 0.72, t test) between the groups, and there were no volunteers with clinically significant hypotension in either group.

Laboratory features. Laboratory analysis was performed at different time-points postchallenge for influenza and malaria-infected volunteers, prohibiting direct comparisons. However, grade 1 thrombocytopaenia and leucopaenia occurred with greater frequency in malaria-exposed volunteers. The diagnosis of malaria was confirmed by thick film microscopy in 12/12 volunteers, all of whom were also positive for *P*. *falciparum* by qPCR. The diagnosis of influenza was confirmed by viral culture in 5/8 symptomatic volunteers following challenge. There were no significant abnormalities in ECG, laboratory or spirometry parameters post-challenge in the influenza cohort.

Symptom	Malaria infected (n= 11)	Influenza exposed ^a (n = 8)	P value	Influenza infected ^ª (<i>n</i> = 5)	P value ^b
Cough	0	5	0.005	4	0.003
Diarrhoea	2	0	0.49	0	1.0
Headache	10	6	0.55	4	1.0
Fever	8	2	0.18	2	0.55
Malaise	3	3	1.0	2	1.0
Myalgia/	10	5	0.72	3	0.21
Arthralgia					
Nasal	1	7	0.001	5	0.001
Symptoms					
Nausea/	3	2	1.0	1	1.0
Vomiting					
Sore throat	0	3	0.058	3	0.018
Met case	8	3	0.18	3	1.0
definition					

Table 2 - Clinical features of symptomatic individuals following pathogen exposure. ^a 8/11 influenza-exposed volunteers became symptomatic, 5/8 of whom developed viral culture-confirmed influenza infection.^b Analysis by two-tailed Fisher's exact test versus malaria-infected volunteers.

DISCUSSION

The pH1N1/09 case definition was poorly predictive of influenza infection in this cohort of unimmunised healthy volunteers challenged with *P. falciparum* malaria or influenza A, in keeping with recent data on its performance in clinical practice (2) as well as similar case definitions in other settings (10). In our studies volunteers were treated as soon as significant symptoms or positive blood film developed, therefore only clinical features in the early phase of illness were addressed, and it remains possible that the power to distinguish between these infections clinically might be improved with a longer duration of illness. In addition the use of a non-pandemic challenge strain of influenza in this study may reduce generalisability of findings to pH1N1, which has higher pathogenicity in

younger individuals (11) presumably related to reduced pre-existing immunity (12); yet all volunteers in our study had no detectable pre-existing immunity to the challenge strain, so in this context they might be considered more representative of a pandemic exposed population. Moreover, the pre-assessment probability of infection has a major impact on the PPV and NPV, so during a pandemic setting (where the prevalence of influenza would be significantly greater than malaria) the case definition would be expected to perform significantly better. However in agreement with our data several instances of misclassification of *P. falciparum* (4,5) and other serious illnesses (9) have been reported in the context of protocol-based case-definitions during the peak of community transmission during the pandemic, highlighting the limitations of such protocol or algorithm-based diagnosis (5). Telephone consultation is an important component of infectious disease practice (13), and telephone or internet-based triage has considerable practical advantages in pandemic settings, however the poor predictive capacity of the pandemic case- definition demonstrated here supports the revisions to the case definition to incorporate travel history (3).

Only upper respiratory tract symptoms reliably distinguished malaria from influenza in our study. Whilst the nasal route of inoculation may have theoretically influenced the incidence of rhinorrhoea by delivering a higher multiplicity infection to the nasal mucosa, a recent influenza clinical case series identified cough as a presenting symptom in 92% of individuals with naturally-acquired proven influenza infection (14), suggesting that in the absence of upper respiratory symptoms, particularly cough (15), a presumptive diagnosis of influenza should be reconsidered.

Phase IIa controlled experimental infection studies play an important role in improving our understanding of the clinical features of infectious diseases (16,17). However for ethical reasons sample sizes for such studies are relatively small, thus our statistical power to assess differences in clinical features between malaria and influenza in the analysis presented here may have been reduced. In addition, influenza challenge protocols rarely result in 100% attack rates, (7) as reflected in the 8/11 volunteers developing symptoms and the 5/8 symptomatic volunteers with laboratory-confirmed influenza following nasal challenge, which further impacted sample size. Nevertheless, several lines of evidence support the conclusion based on these data that clinical features alone poorly distinguish between these infections. Firstly there are no reliable clinical diagnostic criteria for influenza (15). Secondly both infections are frequently confused in febrile returning travellers, where influenza is a frequent diagnosis in travellers to malaria-endemic regions (18-21), as well as in individuals in malariaendemic regions where a significant burden of undiagnosed influenza appears to exist in holoendemic transmission settings (22). Therefore keeping an open mind regarding the clinical cause of undifferentiated febrile illness, particularly in the absence of upper respiratory tract symptoms, remains important even during influenza pandemic settings.

REFERENCES

- HPA. Pandemic (H1N1) 2009 in England: an overview of initial epidemiological findings and implications for the second wave [cited 2012 5th March]; Available from: http://www.hpa.org. uk/webc/HPAwebFile/HPAweb_C/1258560552857; 2009.
- Bicanic T, Solomon AW, Karunaharan N, Chua F, Pope C, Pond M, et al. Positive predictive value of the UK clinical case definition for H1N1/09 ('swine') influenza. *The Journal of Infection* 2010;60(5):405e7.
- 3. DoH. The national pandemic flu service an evaluation. 22nd
- March 2011 5th March 2012]; Available from: http://www.dh.gov.uk/prod_consum_dh/groups/dh_digitalassets/documents/ digitalasset/dh_125338.pdf; 2011.
- Houlihan CF, Patel S, Price DA, Valappil M, Schwab U. A/H1N1 flu pandemic. Life threatening infections labelled swine flu. *BMJ* 2010;340:c137.
- Payne R, Darton TC, Greig JM. Systematic telephone triage of possible 'swine' influenza leads to potentially serious misdiagnosis of infectious diseases. *The Journal of Infection* 2009; 59(5):371e2.
- Duncan CJ, Sheehy SH, Ewer KJ, Douglas AD, Collins KA, Halstead FD, et al. Impact on malaria parasite multiplication rates in infected volunteers of the protein-in-adjuvant vaccine AMA1-C1/Alhydrogel+CPG 7909. *PLoS One* 2011;6(7):e22271
- 8. Jones S, Evans K, McElwaine-Johnn H, Sharpe M, Oxford J, Lambkin-Williams R, et al. DNA vaccination protects against an influenza challenge in a double-blind randomised placebo-controlled phase 1b clinical trial. *Vaccine* 2009;27(18):2506e12.
- Zaas AK, Chen M, Varkey J, Veldman T, Hero 3rd AO, Lucas J, et al. Gene expression signatures diagnose influenza and other symptomatic respiratory viral infections in humans. *Cell Host Microbe* 2009;6(3):207e17.
- Ho A, Fox R, Seaton RA, MacConnachie A, Peters E, Mackintosh CL, et al. Hospitalised adult patients with suspected 2009 H1N1 Infection at Regional Infectious Diseases Units in Scotland - most had alternative final diagnoses. *The Journal of Infection* 2010;60(1):83e5.
- Choi SH, Cho SY, Chung JW. Poor performance of a national clinical case definition of influenza infection during an outbreak of 2009 pandemic H1N1. *The Journal of Infection* 2011;62(4):325e7.

- van den Wijngaard CC, van Asten L, Koopmans MP, van Pelt W, Nagelkerke NJ, Wielders CC, et al. Comparing pandemic to seasonal influenza mortality: moderate impact overall but high mortality in young children. *PLoS One* 2012;7(2):e31197.
- 13. Couch RB, Atmar RL, Franco LM, Quarles JM, Nino D, Wells JM, et al. Prior infections with seasonal influenza A/H1N1 virus reduced the illness severity and epidemic intensity of pandemic H1N1 influenza in healthy adults. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2012;54(3):311e7.
- Duncan CJ, Gallacher K, Kennedy DH, Fox R, Seaton RA, MacConnachie AA. Infectious disease telephone consultations: Numerous, varied and an important educational resource. *The Journal of Infection* 2007;54(5):515e6.
- 15. Lillie PJ, Bazaz R, Dexter L, Biju C, Peart L, Lewis L, et al. Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. *The Journal of Infection* 2012;64(2):239e41.
- 16. Ebell MH, Afonso A. A systematic review of clinical decision rules for the diagnosis of influenza. *Annals of family medicine* 2011;9(1):69e77.
- 17. Epstein JE, Rao S, Williams F, Freilich D, Luke T, Sedegah M, et al. Safety and clinical outcome of experimental challenge of human volunteers with Plasmodium falciparum-infected mosquitoes: an update. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases* 2007;196(1):145e54.
- Kotloff KL. Human challenge studies with infectious agents. Journal of Investigative medicine: the Official Publication of the American Federation for Clinical Research 2003;51(Suppl. 1):S6e11.
- 19. O'Brien D, Tobin S, Brown GV, Torresi J. Fever in returned travelers: review of hospital admissions for a 3-year period. *Clinical Infectious Diseases* 2001;33(5):603e9.
- 20. O'Brien DP, Leder K, Matchett E, Brown GV, Torresi J. Illness in returned travelers and immigrants/refugees: the 6-year experience of two Australian infectious diseases units. *Journal of Travel Medicine* 2006;13(3):145e52.
- 21. Sandhu G, Ranade A, Ramsinghani P, Noel C. Influenza-like illness as an atypical presentation of falciparum malaria in a traveler from Africa. *The Journal of Emergency Medicine* 2011;41(1):35e8.
- Siikamaki HM, Kivela PS, Sipila PN, Kettunen A, Kainulainen MK, Ollgren JP, et al. Fever in travelers returning from malaria-endemic areas: don't look for malaria only. *Journal of Travel Medicine* 2011;18(4):239e44.

23. Waitumbi JN, Kuypers J, Anyona SB, Koros JN, Polhemus ME, Gerlach J, et al. Outpatient upper respiratory tract viral infections in children with malaria symptoms in Western Kenya. *The American Journal of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene* 2010;83(5):1010e3.

Appendix 1 – Journal Permissions

Both papers published in PLoS One (papers 2 and 4) the authors have retained copyright as a creative commons attribution license -

http://www.plosone.org/static/license;jsessionid=D1AF1AF03A13BE4B98BFAB9705D66D6 D and permissions from co-authors are listed in appendix 2.

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 13, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Patrick Lillie ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3244971455766
License date	Oct 09, 2013
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Clinical Infectious Diseases
Licensed content title	Potent CD8+ T-Cell Immunogenicity in Humans of a Novel Heterosubtypic Influenza A Vaccine, MVA-NP+M1:
Licensed content author	Tamara K. Berthoud, Matthew Hamill, Patrick J. Lillie, Lenias Hwenda, Katharine A. Collins, Katie J. Ewer, Anita Milicic, Hazel C. Poyntz, Teresa Lambe, Helen A. Fletcher, Adrian V. S. Hill, Sarah C. Gilbert
Licensed content date	01/01/2011
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	None
Title of your work	Influenza vaccinology and clinical assessment
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	Jan 2014
Permissions cost	0.00 USD
Value added tax	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD
Total	0.00 USD

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REPRODUCTION OF MATERIAL FROM AN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS JOURNAL

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details.

2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent. Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint.

5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its

copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

v1.4

OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This is a License Agreement between Patrick Lillie ("You") and Oxford University Press ("Oxford University Press") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Oxford University Press, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3244971165110
License date	Oct 09, 2013
Licensed content publisher	Oxford University Press
Licensed content publication	Clinical Infectious Diseases
Licensed content title	Preliminary Assessment of the Efficacy of a T-Cell-Based Influenza Vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in Humans:
Licensed content author	Patrick J. Lillie, Tamara K. Berthoud, Timothy J. Powell, Teresa Lambe, Caitlin Mullarkey, Alexandra J. Spencer, Matthew Hamill, Yanchun Peng, Marie-Eve Blais, Christopher J. A. Duncan, Susanne H. Sheehy, Tom Havelock, Saul N. Faust, Rob Lambkin Williams, Anthony Gilbert, John Oxford, Tao Dong, Adrian V. S. Hill, Sarah C. Gilbert
Licensed content date	07/01/2012
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Institution name	None
Title of your work	Influenza vaccinology and clinical assessment
Publisher of your work	n/a
Expected publication date	Jan 2014
Permissions cost	0.00 GBP
Value added tax	0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 GBP
Terms and Conditions	

STANDARD TERMS AND CONDITIONS FOR REPRODUCTION OF MATERIAL
FROM AN OXFORD UNIVERSITY PRESS JOURNAL

1. Use of the material is restricted to the type of use specified in your order details.

2. This permission covers the use of the material in the English language in the following territory: world. If you have requested additional permission to translate this material, the terms and conditions of this reuse will be set out in clause 12.

3. This permission is limited to the particular use authorized in (1) above and does not allow you to sanction its use elsewhere in any other format other than specified above, nor does it apply to quotations, images, artistic works etc that have been reproduced from other sources which may be part of the material to be used.

4. No alteration, omission or addition is made to the material without our written consent. Permission must be re-cleared with Oxford University Press if/when you decide to reprint.

5. The following credit line appears wherever the material is used: author, title, journal, year, volume, issue number, pagination, by permission of Oxford University Press or the sponsoring society if the journal is a society journal. Where a journal is being published on behalf of a learned society, the details of that society must be included in the credit line.

6. For the reproduction of a full article from an Oxford University Press journal for whatever purpose, the corresponding author of the material concerned should be informed of the proposed use. Contact details for the corresponding authors of all Oxford University Press journal contact can be found alongside either the abstract or full text of the article concerned, accessible from www.oxfordjournals.org Should there be a problem clearing these rights, please contact journals.permissions@oup.com

7. If the credit line or acknowledgement in our publication indicates that any of the figures, images or photos was reproduced, drawn or modified from an earlier source it will be necessary for you to clear this permission with the original publisher as well. If this permission has not been obtained, please note that this material cannot be included in your publication/photocopies.

8. While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by Oxford University Press or by Copyright Clearance Center (CCC)) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and Oxford University Press reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned or transferred by you

to any other person without Oxford University Press's written permission.

10. Oxford University Press reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

11. You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless Oxford University Press and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employs and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

12. Other Terms and Conditions:

V1.4

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This is a License Agreement between Patrick Lillie ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Patrick Lillie
Customer address	Cliff Cottage
	Eyam, S32 5QF
License number	3245220290025
License date	Oct 10, 2013
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Journal of Infection
Licensed content title	Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care
Licensed content author	Patrick J. Lillie,Rohit Bazaz,Laura Dexter,Charles Biju,Lucy Peart,Leon Lewis,Mohammad Raza,Paul Whiting,Anne Tunbridge
Licensed content date	February 2012
Licensed content volume number	64
Licensed content issue number	2
Number of pages	3
Start Page	239
End Page	241
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic

Are you the author of this Elsevier article? Yes

Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Influenza vaccinology and clinical assessment
Expected completion date	Jan 2014
Estimated size (number of pages)	
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 GBP
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 GBP
Terms and Conditions	

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions,

deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions, these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions

described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world <u>English</u> rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

16. **Website**: The following terms and conditions apply to electronic reserve and author websites:

Electronic reserve: If licensed material is to be posted to website, the web site is to be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course if:

This license was made in connection with a course,

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at<u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u> or the Elsevier homepage for books athttp://www.elsevier.com , and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

17. Author website for journals with the following additional clauses:

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and the permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing

at<u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u>. As part of our normal production process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect (www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

18. Author website for books with the following additional clauses:

Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. A hyper-text must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

19. **Website** (regular and for author): A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u>. or for books to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

20. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

21. **Other Conditions**: Permission is granted to submit your article in print and electronic format. This license permits you to post this Elsevier article online if it is embedded within your thesis. You are also permitted to post your Author Accepted Manuscript online however posting of the final published article is prohibited. Please refer to Elsevier's Posting Policy for further information:

http://www.elsevier.com/wps/find/authors.authors/postingpolicy

V1.6

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

May 13, 2014

This is a License Agreement between Patrick Lillie ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Patrick Lillie
Customer address	Cliff Cottage
	Eyam, S32 5QF
License number	3245420051351
License date	Oct 10, 2013
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Travel Medicine and Infectious Disease
Licensed content title	Distinguishing malaria and influenza: Early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies
Licensed content author	Patrick J. Lillie, Christopher J.A. Duncan, Susanne H. Sheehy, Joel Meyer, Geraldine A. O'Hara, Sarah C. Gilbert, Adrian V.S. Hill
Licensed content date	July 2012
Licensed content volume number	10
Licensed content issue number	4
Number of pages	5
Start Page	192
End Page	196
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	full article
Format	both print and electronic

Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	Yes
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis/dissertation	Influenza vaccinology and clinical assessment
Expected completion date	Jan 2014
Estimated size (number of pages)	400
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 GBP
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 GBP / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 GBP

Terms and Conditions

INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which

permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.

12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).

13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In

the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article. If this license is to re-use 1 or 2 figures then permission is granted for non-exclusive world rights in all languages.

16. **Website**: The following terms and conditions apply to electronic reserve and author websites:

Electronic reserve: If licensed material is to be posted to website, the web site is to be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course if:

This license was made in connection with a course,

This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a license for future website posting,

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image,

A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at<u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u> or the Elsevier homepage for books athttp://www.elsevier.com , and

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

17. Author website for journals with the following additional clauses:

All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image, and the permission granted is limited to the personal version of your paper. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your article (whether PDF or HTML, proof or final version), nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing

athttp://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx . As part of our normal production

process, you will receive an e-mail notice when your article appears on Elsevier's online service ScienceDirect (www.sciencedirect.com). That e-mail will include the article's Digital Object Identifier (DOI). This number provides the electronic link to the published article and should be included in the posting of your personal version. We ask that you wait until you receive this e-mail and have the DOI to do any posting.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

18. Author website for books with the following additional clauses:

Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. A hyper-text must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <u>http://www.elsevier.com</u>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version.

Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

19. **Website** (regular and for author): A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at <u>http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx</u>. or for books to the Elsevier homepage at http://www.elsevier.com

20. **Thesis/Dissertation**: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis and include permission for UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission.

21. Other Conditions:

V1.6

Appendix 2 – Co-Author permissions

Dear Dr Spencer

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Alexandra Spencer.....



Date.....14/10/2013.....

Dear Prof Hill

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; **8:** e62778

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. *Travel Med Infect Dis* 2012; **10**: 192-196

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55:** 19-25

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **52:** 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name



Signed...



Date..... 6 November 2013

Dear Dr McLaren

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...James McLaren.....

Signed		•	 	

Date...14.10.2013.....

Dear Dr Blais

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**: e62778

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Marie-Eve Blais.....

Signed...

Date.....December 10th 2013.....

Dear Dr Hamill

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **52:** 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Matthew Hamill.....



Date......15th Oct 2013.....

Dear Prof McMichael

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**: e62778

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name......Professor Andrew McMichael

Signed.....

Date.....December 10 2013

Dear Dr Lambkin-Williams

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Rob Lambkin-Williams.....

Signed

Date.....1/11/2013.....

Dear Dr Lambe

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **52:** 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Teresa Lambe.....

Signed......

Date......14.10.13.....

Dear Dr Tunbridge

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Date 10/ 10/ 13

Dear Dr Milicic

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52: 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

NameAnit	a Milicic
Signed	

Date......14 October 2013.....

Dear Dr Bazaz

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

NameROH	T BAZAZ
Signed	
Date 16/10/	2013

Dear Dr Charles

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

Name Bijn Commiler

Dear Dr Duncan

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. *Travel Med Infect Dis* 2012; **10**: 192-196

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

Name CHRIS JUNCON

Dear Dr Dong

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e62778

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name......Tao Dong

Signed

Date......12-10-2013.....

Dear Dr O'Hara

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. *Travel Med Infect Dis* 2012; **10**: 192-196

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name. D'HARA Signed....

Dear Dr Poyntz

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52: 1-7

Name Hale I Payntz Signed: Date 29/10/2011

Dear Dr Fletcher

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **52**: 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name......Helen Fletcher

Signed

Date.....1st November 2013

Dear Dr Meyer

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. *Travel Med Infect Dis* 2012; **10**: 192-196

Name	MENER
Signed	
Date 13 10	13

Dear Dr Collins

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. *Clin Infect Dis* 2011; **52**: 1-7

Name KATHARINE COLLINS Signed.... Date 29 10 2013 Date.....

Dear Dr Ladell

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; **7**: e48322

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name KRISTIN LADELL

Signed

Date 14th October 2013

Dear Dr Dexter

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name LAURA DEKTOR

Dear Prof Gilbert

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e62778

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. PLoS One 2012; 7: e48322

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. Travel Med Infect Dis 2012; 10: 192-196

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52: 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name.....Sarah C Gilbert.....

Signed.....

Date.....10.10.2013.....

Dear Dr Gilbert

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

Name Pr Annay Giller Signed..... Date...... 14 0072013

Dear Dr Ewer

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52: 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name Dr Karle Ewer

Signed..... Date...10/10/2013
Dear Prof Price

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e48322

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name DAVID A PRICE

Signed



Date 14 OCT 2013

Dear Dr Peart

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

Name LUCY PEART
Signed.
Date 10/10/13

Dear Dr Mullarkey

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

Name Signed. Date

Dear Dr Whiting

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Severity assessment of influenza virus infection in secondary care. J Infect 2012; 64: 239-241

Name	TA	N,	h	יוין	nh	<i>.</i>
Signed						
Date	15	11	V	<u>'</u> 3		

Dear Prof Oxford

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

Name	REF	5	OXFOC)		
Signed)	
Date	2.0	NOU	2013		r.

Dear Dr Antrobus

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (patricklillie@doctors.org.uk) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e48322

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name......Richard Antrobus



Dear Prof Rowland-Jones

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e62778

ROWLAND JONES Name with which w Signéo 18/10/13 Date

Dear Dr Faust

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; 55: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name...Saul N Faust



Date......11th Oct 2013

Dear Dr Sheehy

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Distinguishing malaria and influenza: early clinical features in controlled human experimental infection studies. Travel Med Infect Dis 2012; 10: 192-196

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name SUSANNE SHEENT Signed... Date 11/10/13 1

Dear Dr Berthoud

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; 8: e62778

A T cell-inducing influenza vaccine for the elderly: safety and immunogenicity of MVA-NP+M1 in adults aged over 50 years. *PLoS One* 2012; 7: e48322

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

Potent CD8+ T-cell immunogenicity in humans of a novel heterosubtypic influenza A vaccine, MVA-NP+M1. Clin Infect Dis 2011; 52: 1-7

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name DC Berthoud

Signed

Dear Dr Havelock

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (<u>patricklillie@doctors.org.uk</u>) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55:** 19-25

Name Ton Havelock Signed Date. 14/10/2013.

Dear Dr Peng

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (patricklillie@doctors.org.uk) or by post to; Dr Patrick Lillie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. *PLoS One* 2013; **8**: e62778

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. *Clin Infect Dis* 2012; **55**: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name.....Yanchun Peng.....

Signed

Date.....12.Oct.2013.....

Dear Dr Powell

I am currently in the process of applying for a PhD by publication at the University of Sheffield (on influenza virus vaccines and clinical features). As a co-author on the paper(s) listed below I would be very grateful if you would allow me to include the below listed papers in this submission. If you agree to this, could you please sign the bottom of this document and either return to me by email (patricklillie@doctors.org.uk) or by post to; Dr Patrick Ullie, Department of Acute Medicine, Kings Mill Hospital, Mansfield Road, Sutton in Ashfield, Nottinghamshire, NG17 4JL. Thank you for your response, please contact me if there are any questions.

Regards

Patrick Lillie

List of co-authored papers

Examination of influenza specific T cell responses after influenza virus challenge in individuals vaccinated with MVA-NP+M1 vaccine. PLoS One 2013; 8: e62778

Preliminary assessment of the efficacy of a T-cell-based influenza vaccine, MVA-NP+M1, in humans. Clin Infect Dis 2012; 55: 19-25

I agree to the inclusion of the above listed published research articles in Dr Patrick Lillie's PhD by publication thesis, to be submitted to the University of Sheffield.

Name.....Timothy Powell....

Signed

Date.....14 Oct 2013.....